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Report of Independent Auditors 
 
 
To the Regents of the University of California 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying individual financial statements of the University of California, Davis 
Medical Center, the University of California, Irvine Medical Center, the University of California, Los Angeles 
Medical Center, the University of California, San Diego Medical Center, and the University of California, San 
Francisco Medical Center (collectively referred to as the “University of California Medical Centers”), each of 
which is a department of the University of California (the “University”), and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which comprise the individual statements of net position as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the 
related individual statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and of cash flows for the 
years then ended, which comprise the basic financial statements of each of the University of California 
Medical Centers.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Individual Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the individual financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of individual financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.   
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the individual financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
individual financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the University of California Medical Centers' 
preparation and fair presentation of the individual financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the University of California Medical Centers' internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the individual financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
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Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the individual financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the individual financial positions of the University of California, Davis Medical Center, the University of 
California, Irvine Medical Center, the University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center, the University of 
California, San Diego Medical Center, and the University of California, San Francisco Medical Center as of 
June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in their individual financial position and their individual cash 
flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Emphasis of Matters  
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the individual financial statements of the University of 
California Medical Centers are intended to present the financial position, and the changes in financial 
position and cash flows of only that portion of the University of California that is attributable to the 
transactions of the University of California Medical Centers. They do not purport to, and do not, present 
fairly the financial position of the University of California as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and its changes in 
financial position and cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.  
 
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the University of California Medical Centers changed the 
manner in which they account for certain asset retirement obligations as of July 1, 2018.  Our opinion is not 
modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management's 
discussion and analysis on pages 32 through 59, the schedules of the University of California Medical 
Centers’ proportionate share of UCRP’s net pension liability, the schedule of changes in the net pension 
liability for the CHRCO Pension Plan, the schedule of net pension liability for the CHRCO Pension Plan, the 
schedule of employer contributions for the CHRCO Pension Plan and related notes, the schedule of Irvine’s 
proportionate share of OCERS’s net pension liability, and the schedule of the Medical Centers’ proportionate 
share of UCRHBT’s net retiree health benefits liability on pages 116 through 119 be presented to supplement 
the individual basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial 
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential 
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, 
or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information 
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the individual basic financial statements, and 
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the individual basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not 
provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated University of California 
– San Francisco Medical Center basic financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated basic financial statements or to the 
consolidated basic financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the consolidating 
information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the consolidated financial statements taken 
as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated 
basic financial statements rather than to present the financial position, results of operations and cash flows 
of the individual organizations and is not a required part of the consolidated basic financial statements. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of 
the individual organizations. 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the University of California Medical Centers' individual basic financial statements. The 
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards for the year ended June 30, 2019 is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance) and is not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
individual basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the individual basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our 
opinion, the schedule of expenditures of federal awards is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to 
the individual basic financial statements taken as a whole.  
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the University of California Medical Centers’ individual basic financial statements taken as a whole. 
The Schedule of Expenses for County of Alameda Grant is presented for the purposes of additional analysis 
and is not a required part of the basic individual financial statements. Such information has not been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the individual basic financial statements, and 
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 8, 2019 
on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters 
for the year ended June 30, 2019.The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of 
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internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
University’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
San Francisco, California  
October 8, 2019 
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UC Health is committed  
to nothing less than the  
well-being of all Californians.  
As one of the nation’s largest 
academic health systems,  
we combine teaching, research 
and public service to provide 
high quality care to millions  
of patients each year and to 
drive the medical advances  
that save lives.  
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Letter from the  
Executive Vice President

This is my last annual report letter as Executive Vice President  
of UC Health. 

After 50 years in Medicine and 11 years with the University  
of California, it is time for me to turn the reins of leadership for  
UC Health to another. It has been both an honor and pleasure  
to work so many dedicated individuals who are passionate  
about what they do.

I’m delighted to welcome my successor, Dr. Carrie L. Byington, to 
this role. Dr. Byington is an accomplished pediatrician, researcher, 
and academic leader with stellar credentials and reputation.  
I am confident that she, working collaboratively with our health 
campus leadership, will keep our health professional schools, 
academic medical centers and community health system among 
the very best in the nation.

The Medical Centers FY 2018–2019 Annual Report highlights  
the accomplishments of another remarkable year.

• UC Health’s academic medical centers — UC Davis Health,
UCI Health, UCLA Health, UC San Diego Health and 
UCSF Health — are financially self-supported through 
reimbursements for clinical services. This year revenue 
reached $12.7 billion. Of that, $606 million was provided
to the schools of medicine in health system support. 

• Our Leveraging Scale for Value (LSfV) initiative drives 
efficiencies across our system, with supply chain, revenue 
cycle, and information technology improvements yielding 
an estimated $345 million in benefits this fiscal year and 
approximately $1.3 billion lifetime to date. Looking ahead, 
we’ve set an ambitious goal of $500 million in efficiency 
improvements each year, starting in FY 2021. 

• Our move toward ‘systemness’ also continues through more 
than a dozen clinical and research collaborations among our 
medical centers. Similar to how the LSfV initiative achieves 
economic efficiencies, these collaborations facilitate the 
sharing of best clinical practices, leverage vast amounts of 
data and can accelerate the development of new treatments.

• Our payor mix demonstrates our unwavering commitment
to caring for all Californians regardless of ability to pay. 
Despite representing less than six percent of the acute 
care hospital beds in California, we are one of the largest 
providers of inpatient services and hospital-based outpatient 
visits for Medi-Cal enrollees. More than 35 percent of our 
systemwide inpatient days are associated with Medi-Cal.
At UC Davis Health and UCI Health, 41 percent and 45 percent,
respectively, of total inpatient days are for Medi-Cal patients. 
Another 34 percent of systemwide inpatient days are for 
patients with Medicare.

• All of our medical centers are in the top 10 hospitals in 
California, according to the 2019-2020 U.S. News & World 
Report rankings and almost all of our health professional 
schools are nationally ranked.

These successes flow from tens of thousands of dedicated 
employees at every level of the organization. Even with a 
dedicated workforce and a proud history, policy changes  
at state and federal levels will continue to bring new challenges. 
More than anything else during my tenure, I’ve seen the 
boldness and resiliency of the people of UC Health.

And, I leave knowing the future is bright. 

JOHN D. STOBO, EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT 

UC HEALTH, UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA
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The University of California, Davis Medical Center 
Service Area and Market Share
The following table presents certain historical utilization statistics for 
the primary and secondary service areas for the 12-month period ended 
December 31, 2017. Data for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2017,  
is the most current data available from the state of California Office of 
Statewide Health Planning and Development.

MARKET  
AREA COUNTIES

# OF  
ZIP CODES POPULATION

% OF 
DISCHARGES

MARKET 
SHARE

Primary Sacramento,  
Placer, Yolo

84 2,139,421 65.1% 12.3%

Secondary Colusa, El Dorado, 
San Joaquin, 
Solano, Sutter, 
Yuba

87 1,574,635 15.8% 3.9%
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The University of California, Davis Medical Center

UC Davis Medical Center is the principal clinical teaching site 
for the UC Davis School of Medicine and the Betty Irene Moore 
School of Nursing at UC Davis and is the clinical core of the  
UC Davis Health system.

Licensed as a 625-bed general acute care hospital with more 
than 30 operating rooms, the medical center provides a full range 
of inpatient acute and intensive care and a full complement of 
ancillary, support and ambulatory services. These services are 
housed in about 4.9 million gross square feet of facilities, most 
located on approximately 144 acres in the city of Sacramento. 
Ambulatory care is provided at hospital-based and satellite clinics 
in Sacramento and the surrounding communities of Auburn, 
Carmichael, Davis, Elk Grove, Folsom, Natomas, Rancho Cordova, 
Rocklin and Roseville. 

The medical center serves as a major tertiary and quaternary care  
referral hospital for a 33-county, 65,000-square-mile service area  
with a population of more than six million people. Its services range 
from heart and vascular surgery to transplant and neurological 
surgery. It is the only provider of several tertiary/quaternary 
services between San Francisco and Portland, including level I 
adult and pediatric trauma care. It is also home to the region’s only 
nationally ranked comprehensive children’s hospital and a National 
Cancer Institute-designated comprehensive cancer center. 

The UC Davis Medical Center leads multiple cooperative programs 
with regional health care providers to increase access and quality 
in both urban and rural settings. The UC Davis Cancer Care Network 
is comprised of community-based cancer centers in locations 
such as Marysville, Merced, Bakersfield, Truckee/Tahoe and the 
southeastern Sierra. Nationally recognized clinical telemedicine 
and rural affiliation programs partner with community hospitals 
and Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs), the Veterans 
Administration, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory and 
Shriners Hospitals for Children–Northern California. 

Significant events during the year are highlighted below: 

The UC Davis Medical Center continues to 
maintain an outstanding local and national 
reputation 

• The UC Davis Medical Center is the top-ranking hospital in
the Sacramento metropolitan area, according to the annual 
U.S. News & World Report “Best Hospitals” 2019–2020 survey. 

• U.S. News also ranked the UC Davis Medical Center one of 
the nation’s best hospitals for 2019–2020 in 10 adult medical 
specialties, including cancer care; cardiology and heart surgery;
ear, nose and throat; geriatrics; gynecology; nephrology; 
neurology and neurosurgery; orthopedics; pulmonology
and lung surgery; and urology.
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• In U.S. News ratings for common adult care or procedures 
for 2019–2020, the UC Davis Medical Center rated as high-
performing in abdominal aortic aneurysm repair; chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease; colon cancer surgery; heart 
bypass surgery; heart failure condition; knee replacement 
and lung cancer surgery. UC Davis was also high-performing 
in the diabetes and endocrinology specialty, and in the 
gastroenterology and gastrointestinal surgery specialty. 

• U.S. News ranked the UC Davis Children’s Hospital among 
the nation’s best in five specialties for 2019–2020, including 
neonatology, diabetes and endocrinology, and nephrology.
UC Davis Children’s Hospital also ranked in the top 20 nationally
in orthopedics and urology, together with longstanding 
partner Shriners Hospitals for Children–Northern California. 

• UC Davis Children’s Hospital opened a state-of-the-art Children’s
Surgery Center in fall 2018, featuring advanced technology 
and a child-friendly design to complement the center’s existing 
status as the West Coast’s first American College of Surgeons-
designated level I children’s surgery center. 

• In fall 2018 the American Nurses Credentialing Center (ANCC) 
renewed UC Davis Medical Center’s Magnet® designation for 
another four-year term. Less than 10 percent of U.S. hospitals 
achieve the designation — considered the nation’s highest 
recognition for nursing excellence — and UC Davis is the only 
hospital in the Sacramento region to hold it.

• For the fifth consecutive year, Becker’s Hospital Review 
included UC Davis Medical Center on its list of 100 Great 
Hospitals in America for 2019. The publication for U.S. health 
care leaders includes hospitals that are recognized nationally 
for excellence, have achieved advanced certifications and are 
industry innovators.

• For the ninth consecutive year, the educational arm of America’s 
largest civil rights organization working to achieve equality for 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer people recognized
the UC Davis Medical Center as a LGBTQ Healthcare Equality 
Leader in 2019. 

Regional outreach and strategic initiatives 

We continue to enhance our ability to provide the right care, at the 
right time, in the right place to support both our academic mission 
and our operational and financial performance. We continue to 
increase affiliations with regional providers to ensure greater 
access to tertiary and quaternary services at the UC Davis Medical 
Center, as well as providing care through telehealth at hospitals 
closer to patients’ homes. We are also increasing partnerships 
with FQHCs, recognizing these neighborhood clinics are often a 
convenient destination for transportation–challenged populations. 
We envision having an even larger footprint providing care at 
non-UC Davis hospitals through affiliations and contractual 
agreements and providing a larger share of care through virtual 
and telemedicine visits that increase local quality and expertise in 
Northern California’s rural markets. 

Some highlights:
• In October 2018, UC Davis Health and Sacramento County 

created a new partnership to expand primary care services 
for up to thousands of additional Medi-Cal patients at the 
Sacramento County Primary Care Center. UC Davis primary
and specialty care physicians, residents and medical students 
also serve patients at other FQHCs in Sacramento, Yolo and
San Joaquin counties. 

• The UC Davis telehealth program connects 30 specialties
to 70 remote hospitals and clinic sites, enabling patients 
throughout California to receive care without leaving
their communities. 

• In 2018–2019 we launched connected-health video visits
for patients through their mobile devices, including multiple 
primary and specialty care departments. An active e-consult 
program also includes multiple specialties and every UC Davis
primary care provider.

• A major American Medical Association (AMA) grant to UC Davis 
and the Oregon Health & Science University will expand care 
access between Sacramento and Portland, placing hundreds 
of medical students and residents to train at health systems, 
hospitals and FQHCs. A new grant-funded telephysiatry 
program is also serving rural children with physical disabilities.

• Distance-education offerings train and update community 
providers on topics such as pain management, mental health, 
hepatitis, acute care and autism.

• UC Davis Cancer Care Network partners bring advanced care 
and clinical research to patients in their own communities — 
including a new location in Chico for victims of 2018’s Camp Fire.
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The University of California, Irvine Medical Center 
Service Area and Market Share
The following table presents certain historical utilization statistics for 
the primary and secondary service areas for the 12-month period ended 
December 31, 2017. Data for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2017,  
is the most current data available from the state of California Office of 
Statewide Health Planning and Development.

MARKET  
AREA COUNTIES

# OF  
ZIP CODES POPULATION

% OF 
DISCHARGES

MARKET 
SHARE

Primary Orange 91 1,956,091 82.1% 8.4%

Secondary Orange,  
Los Angeles, 
Riverside,  
San Bernardino

80 2,053,127 17.9% 1.9%
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UCI Medical Center in Orange is a major clinical component 
of UCI Health, the primary teaching facility for the UCI School 
of Medicine and the flagship facility of the UCI Health System. 
Established in 1976, the medical center soon expanded with 
the addition of the University Hospital Tower, UCI Health 
Neuropsychiatric Center, Chao Family Comprehensive Cancer 
Center and the H. H. Chao Comprehensive Digestive Disease 
Center. The UCI Health Douglas Hospital opened as the main 
inpatient facility in 2009 and was designed to exceed the  
needs of a world class academic medical center and provide  
an exceptional patient experience. 

Orange County’s only academic medical center, UCI Medical 
Center is licensed to operate 402 beds and offers specialty 
inpatient care and primary/specialty care outpatient services, 
teaching and clinical research.

It serves as the primary tertiary and quaternary care referral center 
for nearly four million people residing in and around Orange 
County, western Riverside County and southeastern Los Angeles 
County. It is also Orange County’s only combined Level I adult and 
Level II pediatric trauma center verified by the American College 
of Surgeons, combined high-risk obstetrics and regional neonatal 
programs and American Burn Association-verified Regional 
Burn Center. The UCI Medical Center campus is home to Orange 
County’s only National Cancer Institute-designated comprehensive 
cancer center, providing access to leading clinical care and trials 
not available anywhere else in the county.

UCI Health provides inpatient and outpatient services through 
a clinical practice group of more than 400 faculty physicians 
and surgeons. Outpatient services are provided at the medical 

center’s pavilion buildings, Chao Family Comprehensive Cancer 
Center, H. H. Chao Comprehensive Digestive Disease Center and 
Gottschalk Medical Plaza on the UCI campus. In addition to these 
locations, UCI Health owns and operates two Federally Qualified 
Health Centers in Santa Ana and Anaheim to meet the needs 
of underserved populations in Orange County. The system also 
operates multiple outpatient primary and specialty care centers 
around the county.

These sites enable the UCI Health System to provide a full scope 
of high-quality patient care services to the community and attract 
a broad and diverse patient population required to support the 
education and research programs of the UCI School of Medicine. 

Significant events during the year are highlighted below:

Notable recognition

For the 19th consecutive year, UCI Medical Center is listed among 
“America’s Best Hospitals,” according to the 2019–2020 U.S. News 
& World Report survey. It is the only Orange County hospital 
consistently rated among the nation’s best. The annual rankings 
recognize hospitals that excel in treating the most challenging 
patients. For 2019–2020, UCI Medical Center is listed among 
California’s top 10 hospitals, and its programs in gynecology, 
gastroenterology and GI surgery, and geriatrics are ranked among 
the country’s top 50. Since 2001, the publication has recognized 
UCI Health programs in urology, gynecology, geriatrics, cancer, 
digestive disorders/gastroenterology and GI surgery, nephrology, 
orthopedics and ear, nose and throat among the top 50 nationwide.

In 2019, UCI Health earned its 10th consecutive “A” grade in The 
Leapfrog Group’s biannual Hospital Safety Grade, which rates how 

The University of California, Irvine Medical Center 
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well hospitals protect patients from errors, injuries and infections. 
UCI Health features more than 100 physicians listed as Best Doctors 
in America by Best Doctors Inc., more than any hospital in  
Orange County. 

UCI Medical Center earned its fourth designation as a Magnet® 
hospital by the American Nurses Credentialing Center, which 
recognizes organizations for quality patient care, nursing 
excellence and innovations in nursing. UCI Medical Center is  
one of the first hospitals to receive a fourth designation since  
the program began in 1993.

UCI Health became the first academic health system to earn the 
Patient Safety Movement Foundation’s Five-Star Hospital ranking 
bestowed for implementing 29 evidence-based Actionable 
Patient Safety Solutions, processes designed to help hospitals 
eliminate the leading causes of preventable patient deaths.

The UCI Health Regional Burn Center earned verification from the 
American Burn Association/American College of Surgeons. It is 
one of only 10 verified burn centers in California and the only one 
in Orange County.

UCI Medical Center earned “Most Wired” designation in  
FY 2018–2019, as one of the nation’s health leaders in information 
technology, according to Hospitals & Health Networks magazine. 

UCI Medical Center received the American Heart Association’s 
2019 Get with the Guidelines–Gold Plus Quality Achievement 
Awards for stroke and heart failure care and was recognized on 
the Association’s Target: Heart Failure Honor Roll and the Target: 
Stroke Elite Plus Honor Roll.  

UCI Health Clinical Network 
Primary Care 

UCI Health continues to expand its community-based primary 
care presence, providing access to family medicine, internal 
medicine, pediatrics and senior health in Placentia, Yorba Linda, 
Orange and Tustin, with additional sites planned for FY 2020.

Specialty Care 

UCI Health continues to expand its specialty care services. In north 
Orange County, the new UCI Health–Yorba Linda Multispecialty 
center features breast health, cardiology, dermatology, imaging, 
integrative health, pain management, physical medicine and 
rehabilitation, and urology services. In the county’s coastal region,  
the UCI Health–Newport Heights specialty center includes urology,  
executive health, behavioral health and sleep medicine services.  

Major initiatives to meet the needs 
of our community
UCI Campus Medical Complex — Hospital

• UCI Health plans to expand its medical enterprise and improve 
access to world-class, academic health care by establishing a 
new medical complex on the main UCI campus in the heart of 
Irvine. The proposed project includes a 95–110 bed hospital, 
a multispecialty ambulatory care center including outpatient 
surgery, and clinic space with special emphasis on oncology, 
neurosurgery, orthopedics, and spine services. The project 
aims to deliver a full continuum of integrated and seamless 
care, and further advance the UCI Health’s tripartite mission
of Discover, Teach, Heal.

UCI Campus Medical Complex — Medical Office Building 
and UCI Center for Child Health

• This proposal aims to strengthen UCI’s ambulatory presence 
in south Orange County and includes a 125,000–square–foot 
medical office building that includes urgent care services, adult 
and pediatric primary care and subspecialties. It will include 
the UCI Center for Child Health, which is proposed to be a full-
service pediatric medical home providing care to the pediatric 
population across Orange County. The Center for Child Health is 
funded through a $29 million Proposition 3 grant for pediatric 
services. The project is proposed on the main campus in Irvine, 
within the UCI Campus Medical Complex.

UCI Medical Center 

• Completed an emergency department (ED) expansion with 
additional space for mental health assessments, an ambulance 
ramp canopy, additional ED beds and expanded triage 
capabilities.

Information Services infrastructure
During 2019, Information Services (IS) had implemented the 
following initiatives:

• Completed a double upgrade to the latest version of the 
electronic medical records system (Epic). 

• Also completed a “double” update to Epic in spring 2019.

• Introduced a new MyUCIHealth mobile platform for assisting 
patients with easy access to UCI Health services.

• Deployed a robust instance of MyChart patient portal and 
mobile app with new features such as e-checkin, appointment 
self-scheduling and questionnaire completion to improve 
patient engagement.

• Expanded the use of Epic across ambulatory centers including 
the new Newport Beach Sleep Center and Yorba Linda 
Multispecialty centers for seamless availability of patient
data for our physicians.
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The University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center  
Service Area and Market Share
The following table presents certain historical utilization statistics for 
the primary and secondary service areas for the 12-month period ended 
December 31, 2017. Data for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2017,  
is the most current data available from the state of California Office of 
Statewide Health Planning and Development. 

MARKET AREA COUNTIES
# OF  

ZIP CODES POPULATION
% OF 

DISCHARGES
MARKET 
SHARE

Primary Los Angeles, 
Kern, Ventura

404 7,544,306 71.9% 4.4%

Secondary Los Angeles, 
Kern, Orange, 
Riverside,  
San Bernardino, 
San Luis Obispo, 
Santa Barbara, 
Ventura

836 13,097,680 18.7% 0.7%
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The UCLA Medical Center (UCLA) is the hospital system of UCLA 
Health — an integrated and comprehensive health system, which 
also includes the UCLA Faculty Practice Group, responsible for the 
clinical care of UCLA Health patients. 

UCLA Health operates licensed-bed facilities at the 445-bed 
Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center (RRUCLA) in Westwood, 
which includes the UCLA Mattel Children’s Hospital (MCH),  
the 281-bed UCLA Medical Center, Santa Monica (SMUCLA) in 
Santa Monica, and the 74-bed Resnick Neuropsychiatric Hospital 
at UCLA (RNPH) in Westwood. The financial statements also 
include the activities of the UCLA Tiverton House, a 100-room 
hotel facility for patients and their families.

UCLA is the principal teaching site for the David Geffen School  
of Medicine at UCLA (DGSOM). The mission is to provide leading-
edge patient care in support of the educational and scientific 
programs of the schools of the UCLA Center for the Health 
Sciences, including the Schools of Medicine, Dentistry, Nursing 
and Public Health.

The Westwood campus opened in 1955 as a 320-bed hospital and 
expanded to 669 beds by 1967. In June 2008, the construction 
of the RRUCLA then 466-bed and RNPH 74-bed hospital opened 
for patient care, meeting the seismic requirements of the state of 
California’s SB 1953 Hospital Facilities Seismic Safety Act.

UCLA offers patients of all ages comprehensive care, from 
routine to highly specialized medical and surgical treatment. 
The Westwood campus is known for its wide range of tertiary 
and quaternary care offerings including Level I trauma care, 

regional neonatal and pediatric intensive care units (ICUs), 
neurosurgery/neurology, comprehensive cancer care, blood 
and marrow transplantation and solid organ transplantation. 
SMUCLA also serves the University’s teaching and research 
missions while meeting the health care needs of Los Angeles’ 
west-side community. RNPH is one of the leading centers for 
comprehensive patient care, research and education in the fields 
of mental and developmental disabilities and offers a full range  
of treatment options.

Together, these sites enable UCLA to provide a full spectrum 
of services and attract the volume and diversity of patients 
necessary to meet its educational, clinical, research and 
community services missions.

Significant events during the year are highlighted below:

UCLA Health Sciences maintains its outstanding 
national reputation
• UCLA Health hospitals placed No. 1 in both Los Angeles and 

California and No. 6 in the nation on the Honor Roll in the 
2019–2020 U.S. News & World Report Best Hospitals rankings. 

• MCH was recognized in the 2019–2020 U.S. News Best Children’s
Hospital rankings with 10 specialties ranking on the list of 
top programs.

• DGSOM ranked No. 5 among best medical schools for primary 
care in the U.S. News annual survey of the best graduate 
schools in the U.S. DGSOM tied for No. 6 in the ranking of 
the nation’s best medical schools for research. 

The University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center 
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• UCLA Health was ranked 25th in the country by Forbes 
magazine on its annual “Best Employers for Diversity” list. 

• UCLA Health was named to the Becker’s Healthcare list of the 
“Top 150 Places to Work in Healthcare for 2019.”

• UCLA Health earned its sixth consecutive “Most Wired” 
designation from the College of Healthcare Information 
Management Executives. 

• RRUCLA and SMUCLA each received an “A,” the highest score 
possible, in The Leapfrog Group’s data-driven hospital safety 
assessment. SMUCLA has earned straight A’s since 2013. 

• RRUCLA’s Comprehensive Stroke Program was recertified by 
The Joint Commission. 

• SMUCLA’s Advanced Primary Stroke Program was recertified by 
The Joint Commission. 

• RRUCLA received the American Heart Association’s (AHA) 
“Get with the Guidelines–Heart Failure Gold Plus Quality 
Achievement Award” for implementing evidence-based quality 
improvement measures that ensure the best care for heart 
failure patients. 

• RRUCLA was one of the first hospitals in California approved 
to offer patients the new FDA-approved chimeric antigen 
receptor (CAR) T-cell therapy for blood cancers.

• SMUCLA received the AHA’s “Get with the Guidelines–Stroke 
Gold Plus Quality Achievement Award” for providing high-
quality, evidence-based care to stroke patients.

• SMUCLA was designated a “core center” by the Cystic Fibrosis 
Foundation, reflecting the hospital’s high level of specialized 
care for adult and pediatric patients with cystic fibrosis.

• SMUCLA was recognized as a five-star facility by the Centers
for Medicare & Medicaid Services. The rating is intended to 
help consumers make informed choices about the quality 
of care at hospitals. SMUCLA was one of only 293 hospitals 
nationwide to earn the five-star designation.

• RNPH earned the American Nurses Credentialing Center’s 
Magnet® Recognition, one of a select few psychiatric facilities 
nationwide. RNPH now joins RRUCLA and SMUCLA as being 
designated as Magnet® facilities.

• MCH was named one of the most innovative children’s 
hospitals in the U.S. by Parents magazine.

• UCLA Medical Group was recognized with an “Elite status” 
designation by American Physician Groups (APG) in its annual 
“Standards of Excellence” survey for the eighth consecutive 
year. This is the highest ranking given and helps health care 
consumers evaluate a medical group’s level of quality,
patient experience and affordability. 

UCLA Health accelerates systemwide integration 
UCLA Health and DGSOM are implementing a unified Strategic 
Plan designed to articulate a clear vision, accelerate systemwide 
integration and position UCLA for continued success among 
competitive pressures. In FY 2018–2019, this included restructuring 
to operate as an integrated health system, including the 180 clinics 
in the community. UCLA’s strategic activities remain focused on 
increasing tertiary and quaternary care delivery in Westwood 
while expanding its primary and secondary care presence to 
create a robust health care delivery platform for managing all 
aspects of high–quality health care delivery with convenient 
access. These activities are related to a carefully orchestrated 
clinical growth strategy that advances UCLA’s depth, scope and 
reach, promotes increased market presence, rationalizes care by 
utilizing lower-cost clinical settings, secures alignments that fuel 
additional clinical growth and provides partners with access to a 
large and vibrant academic community. 

• UCLA Health and the Southern California Orthopedic Institute 
(SCOI) have signed a strategic alliance that brings together two 
mission–driven organizations with longstanding commitments 
to excellence in orthopedic care to benefit patients in our 
community. 

• UCLA Health signed a three–year contract with L.A. Care Health 
Plan, the largest publicly operated health plan in the country, 
which will allow its 2.2 million members to receive advanced 
and highly specialized care, when deemed medically necessary.
Additionally, 3,500 L.A. Care members, primarily Medicaid 
Managed Care, will also be eligible to receive primary care
from the UCLA Medical Group. 

• UCLA Health is the Official Medical Partner of the Los Angeles 
Dodgers as part of a multi–year partnership. UCLA Health and 
the LA Dodgers partner on health related community service 
events and health care professionals from UCLA Health are on 
hand at the Dodger Stadium first aid station as a resource for 
fans. Starting in 2020, UCLA Health physicians also will provide 
care to players during home games and handle the team’s 
annual physicals during spring training. 

• UCLA Health growth and expansion in the community for 
increased access to primary and secondary care continued
in Los Angeles County and Ventura County.

• UCLA Health continued to impact health systems abroad 
through advisory projects such as health system consulting 
with R&F Properties in China and a simulation center 
development initiative with Hallym University Medical 
Center in South Korea.
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The University of California, San Diego Medical Center  
Service Area and Market Share
The following table presents certain historical utilization statistics for 
the primary and secondary service areas for the 12-month period ended 
December 31, 2017. Data for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2017,  
is the most current data available from the state of California Office of 
Statewide Health Planning and Development. 

MARKET 
AREA COUNTY

# OF  
ZIP CODES POPULATION

% OF 
DISCHARGES

MARKET 
SHARE

Primary San Diego 77 1,491,919 46.6% 13.9%

Secondary San Diego 95 1,845,537 31.5% 6.5%
22



UC San Diego Health maintains a two-campus strategy, fulfilling 
its three-part mission of clinical service, teaching and research 
excellence at locations in the urban area of Hillcrest and the 
more suburban La Jolla. Each medical complex supports acute 
inpatient care, emergency services and a spectrum of advanced 
specialty outpatient programs. The two locations operate under 
one license with a capacity of 808 beds. 

UC San Diego Medical Center in Hillcrest (390 beds), established 
in 1966 at the site of the former County Hospital, serves as a 
principal clinical teaching site for the UC San Diego School of 
Medicine and is a focal point for community service missions. It is 
home to the area’s only Regional Burn Center, a Comprehensive 
Stroke Center and one of only two adult Level I trauma centers in 
the county. The campus also includes the Owen Clinic, founded 
in 1982 and among the nation’s top HIV care programs for men, 
women and children, as well as adult inpatient psychiatric care 
and intensive outpatient psychiatric care for older adults. In 2019, 
cancer services in Hillcrest were expanded to meet the region’s 
need for comprehensive cancer care.

The La Jolla campus (418 beds), located on the eastern portion of 
the main university campus, has been the center of substantial 
growth in the last decade. The expansion includes:

• Koman Family Outpatient Pavilion, opened in 2018, a four-story 
building that features eight operating rooms for surgeries 
that once required hospital stays, as well as specialty services 

in orthopedics and sports medicine, breast oncology and 
imaging, and urology, among others.

• Jacobs Medical Center (364 beds), opened in 2016, a 10-story 
building with advanced surgery, oncology and high-risk 
obstetrics and gynecology. It is home to the region’s highest-
volume BMT unit, a level III neonatal intensive care unit and 
an intraoperative imaging suite for complex brain surgeries. 
Jacobs Medical Center includes the former Thornton Hospital, 
now referred to as the Thornton Pavilion, and is adjacent to 
the seven-story Altman Clinical and Translational Research 
Institute, which opened in 2016 and is a regional hub for 
translational medicine and clinical trials.

• The La Jolla campus also includes Moores Cancer Center, 
the region’s only National Cancer Institute-designated 
Comprehensive Cancer Center; Shiley Eye Institute, a multi-
specialty vision center with the region’s only facility dedicated 
to children; and Sulpizio Cardiovascular Center (54 beds), the 
inpatient facility for the newly created Cardiovascular Institute.

A Strong Reputation for Patient Care
Top-Ranked Specialty Care — UC San Diego Health is repeatedly 
ranked among the nation’s best in multiple adult medical and 
surgical specialties by U.S. News & World Report. Specialties 
listed in the top 50 nationally for 2019–2020 include: Cardiology 
and Heart Surgery (No. 44); Geriatrics (No. 29); Neurology & 

The University of California, San Diego Medical Center 
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Neurosurgery (No. 40); and Pulmonology (No. 14). Pulmonology 
has been ranked among the nation’s top 20 programs for more 
than a decade, largely for its role in pioneering pulmonary 
thromboendarterectomy (PTE), an operation to remove blood 
clots from the pulmonary arteries to treat chronic pulmonary 
hypertension.

Nation’s Best Heart Transplant Survival Rates — The heart 
transplant program had the best one-year survival rates in the 
nation among providers with a volume of more than 50 heart 
transplants a year, according to data released in 2019 by the 
Scientific Registry of Transplant Recipients. 

Outstanding Stroke Care — Earned the American Stroke 
Association’s “Get With The Guidelines–Stroke Gold Plus Quality 
Achievement Award” in 2018 and is listed on its “Target: Stroke 
Elite Plus Honor Roll” for the quality of its stroke care.

Excellence in Maternity Care — In 2018, it was the only health 
care system in the county to meet all the maternity care standards 
identified by The Leapfrog Group as indicative of quality  
maternal care.

Top Teaching Hospital — UC San Diego Medical Center in 
Hillcrest was named a 2018 Top Teaching Hospital by The 
Leapfrog Group for achievements in patient safety and quality.

Nursing Excellence — Maintains Magnet® status from the 
American Nurses Credentialing Center, considered among  
the highest recognitions for nursing excellence.

LGBTQ Leader — Scored a perfect 100 on the Human Rights 
Campaign Foundation’s LGBTQ Healthcare Equality rating in 2019. 
It has earned this distinction every year since 2012. In addition, 
nearly 3,500 front-line UC San Diego Health providers recently 
completed training in LGBTQ cultural competency. 

Information Technology to Enhance Patient Care & Comfort —  
UC San Diego Health was listed among “HealthCare’s Most Wired” 
hospital systems by the College of Healthcare Information 
Management Executives (CHIME) in 2018. 

Student Health — UC San Diego Health has long provided care to 
UC San Diego students. In 2019, the University’s Student Health 
Services and Counseling and Psychological Services began 
transitioning to the same electronic medical record system (Epic) 
as the hospital system. The shared EMR system will improve 
continuity of care for UC San Diego students who need specialty 
care and it will enable students to benefit from population health 
data and predictive analytics.

Vision for the Future
UC San Diego’s medical center has always excelled in advanced 
tertiary and quaternary specialty care. It now aims to also provide 
exceptional value-based care to the community.

To this end, it has been expanding its clinical footprint in the 
San Diego area to improve the community’s access to world-
class primary and specialty care. New clinics, in locations such 
as Encinitas and Rancho Bernardo, offer consumer-friendly 
patient-centered care with modern conveniences such as online 
appointment scheduling and a “save your spot” feature. 

The medical center’s vision for the future also includes re-imagining 
the 62-acre Hillcrest campus as a modern, walkable and 
environmentally sustainable health care district.

Plans are underway to build a new hospital in Hillcrest to meet 
the state’s seismic safety standards, as well as a new outpatient 
pavilion and research center. Construction will also include multi-
family housing to meet smart growth objectives with preserved 
canyon habitats and landscaped green spaces. 

The new health care district would continue to serve as a focal 
point for the University’s community service missions, including 
both medical and mental health care services to the community’s 
most vulnerable people.
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The University of California, San Francisco Medical Center 
and Children’s Hospital and Research Center Oakland  
Service Area and Market Share
The following table presents certain historical utilization statistics for 
the primary and secondary service areas for the 12-month period ended 
December 31, 2017. Data for the 12-month period ended December 31, 2017,  
is the most current data available from the state of California Office of 
Statewide Health Planning and Development.

MARKET AREA COUNTIES
# OF 

ZIP CODES POPULATION
% OF 

DISCHARGES
MARKET 
SHARE

Primary San Francisco, 
Alameda,  
Contra Costa, 
San Mateo

143 4,469,818 60.7% 7.6%

Secondary Marin, Napa,  
Santa Clara, 
Solano, Sonoma

132 3,283,205 13.9% 2.5%
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UCSF Health is comprised of the hospitals of UCSF Medical Center, 
the UCSF Faculty Clinical Practices, Langley Porter Psychiatric 
Hospital and Clinics and UCSF Benioff Children’s Hospital Oakland. 
UCSF Health serves as the principal clinical teaching site for 
the University of California, San Francisco, School of Medicine, 
affiliated with the University of California since 1873.  

UCSF Medical Center in San Francisco is licensed to provide 
inpatient care at Moffitt-Long Hospital on the 107-acre Parnassus 
campus and at UCSF Benioff Children’s Hospital and Bakar 
Cancer Hospital in San Francisco’s Mission Bay neighborhood. 
UCSF Medical Center also provides outpatient hospital care at 
the hospital sites, UCSF Mount Zion and physician clinical care 
at those hospitals and other locations primarily in San Francisco. 
It also has a national cancer institute designated as a National 
Comprehensive Cancer Network Member Institution. The UCSF 
Medical Center in San Francisco is licensed to operate 1,019 beds. 

UCSF Health’s financial statements also include the activities 
of the UCSF Faculty Clinical Practices — the faculty practice 
organization for more than 1,100 UCSF faculty physicians. The 
net revenues from clinical practices are recorded in net patient 
service revenue; the direct expenses of non-physician staff and 
non-labor expenses are included in operating expenses. 

Effective January 1, 2014, UCSF Medical Center affiliated with 
Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland and the University 
of California became its sole corporate and voting member. Now 
known and doing business as UCSF Benioff Children’s Hospital 
Oakland (BCHO), the 107-year-old hospital retains its status as a 
private, not-for-profit 501(c)(3) medical center, offering children 
and their families outstanding medical, surgical and mental health 

care. BCHO has 190 licensed beds and more than 500 physicians in 
43 specialties.

The BCHO hospital is one of only five ACS Pediatric Level I trauma 
centers in the state and has one of the largest pediatric intensive 
care units in Northern California. 

UCSF Health continues to maintain an 
outstanding local and national reputation
• UCSF Medical Center is the top ranked hospital in Northern 

California and a destination for patients with complex 
conditions from around the world. 

• U.S. News & World Report ranked UCSF Medical Center seventh 
in the country in its 2019–2020 survey and ranked it among 
the top 10 medical centers nationwide in 10 of the 15 specialties
for which it was assessed.

• UCSF Benioff Children’s Hospitals in Oakland and San Francisco 
are recognized as the best hospitals in Northern California in 
five pediatric specialties and nationally ranked by U.S. News & 
World Report in all 10 specialties.

• The UCSF School of Medicine was ranked third in the nation 
by U.S. News & World Report in its survey for 2019–2020 best 
medical schools for its primary care training and fifth for its 
research training — the only medical school in the country 
ranked in the top five in both categories.

• UCSF Medical Center is designated as a Magnet® hospital 
by the American Nurses Credentialing Center (ANCC) which 
recognizes organizations for quality patient care, nursing 
excellence and innovations in nursing.

The University of California, San Francisco Medical Center 
and Children’s Hospital and Research Center Oakland 
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• In November 2018, UCSF Health was named one of Healthcare’s 
Most Wired Hospitals by the College of Healthcare Information 
Management Executives.

• UCSF Medical Center became the only institution in the country 
to receive a perfect score on the national LGBTQ Healthcare 
Equality Index (HEI) for nine consecutive years. The HEI annually 
invites health care facilities nationwide to complete a survey 
describing how they provide equitable, inclusive care for 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and queer (LGBTQ) patients 
and their families.

UCSF Health continues to focus on strategic 
initiatives and network expansion to meet  
its mission and community needs
• UCSF Health is self-supporting and uses its margins to meet 

important needs in the community, including training 
physicians and other health professionals, supporting medical 
research, providing care to the medically and financially needy 
and building and operating facilities to serve the diverse needs
of its patients.

• In 2018, construction was completed on the UCSF Benioff 
Children’s Hospital Oakland Outpatient Center and was opened 
in May 2018. The new six-story building added 89,000 square 
feet of exam rooms and clinical workspace and features the 
latest technology in a space designed specifically for children.

• UCSF Health continued to implement its Health System Strategic
Plan to foster strategic alignments with other providers in 
order to provide greater access to clinical care regionally. 

• Canopy Health, a Bay Area-wide health care network developed 
by UCSF Health, John Muir Health and three physician groups, 
has grown to include more than 6,000 physicians, dozens of care
centers and 18 hospitals throughout the San Francisco Bay Area. 
The breadth of the Canopy Health network enables patients 
to have in-network access to a full continuum of care, 
through close connections between primary care providers, 
community hospitals, medical groups (facilities and 
practitioners) and academic medical centers. In 2018, 
Canopy Health expanded into the South Bay with 
Good Samaritan Health System and Santa Clara County 
Individual Practice Association (SCCIPA) and in 2019, 
Canopy Health grew to 44,000 members.

• In March 2018, UCSF Health and Sonoma Valley Hospital (SVH) 
signed an agreement to create an integrated health care 
network that will serve the needs of Sonoma Valley residents. 
As a part of the alliance, UCSF Health and SVH have jointly 
appointed a new Chief Medical Officer and implemented a 
UCSF teleneurology program.

• In June 2018, the Berkeley Outpatient Center opened as a 
jointly operated and staffed facility with John Muir Health. 
The 90,000-square-foot center offers adult specialty and 
primary care, urgent care, and lab and imaging services and 
was developed by UCSF Health and John Muir’s Health joint 
venture company, BayHealth.

• In July 2018, UCSF Health opened a new primary care practice 
in San Francisco. Located at China Basin, this office will serve 
the growing Mission Bay demand as well as the surrounding 
community.

• In September 2018, UCSF Health signed an agreement with 
Marin Health (formerly Marin General Hospital) to expand 
clinical collaborations in Marin County, with the goal of 
improving patient care and strengthening physician practices 
for the local community. As a part of this alliance, UCSF Health 
integrated 34 clinics and 190 providers into its network and 
installed its Apex electronic medical record in these locations.

• In September 2018, UCSF Health and John Muir Health signed 
a letter of intent to develop a cancer network designed to 
improve prevention, diagnosis and treatment for patients 
throughout the East Bay. The joint East Bay Cancer Network 
will include development of distinguished disease-specific 
treatment capabilities, expanded clinical trial enrollment and 
precision medicine offerings. 

• In June 2019, UCSF Health opened the first phase of the 
Bakar Precision Cancer Medicine Building, a six-story building 
dedicated to cancer care and research. Additional phases are 
expected to open in the coming year.

UCSF Health: Commitment to the Community
• UCSF Health collaborated with the San Francisco Department 

of Public Health and other health and social services agencies 
to develop a community health needs assessment report in 
2017 to identify key health priorities in its primary service 
area. These priorities are important components in the Health 
System Strategic Plan mentioned above and are included in 
future goals for UCSF Health.

• UCSF Health provided more than $1,050 million in 
uncompensated or undercompensated care in 2019.

• While UCSF Health is known and respected nationally and 
internationally, its primary commitment is providing leading-
edge health care services to the people of the San Francisco 
Bay Area and communities throughout Northern California
and offering the best possible experience for patients and
their families.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

INTRODUCTION
The objective of Management’s Discussion and Analysis is to help readers better understand the UC Medical Centers’ financial position 
and operating activities for the year ended June 30, 2019, with selected comparative information for the years ended June 30, 2018 
and 2017. This discussion has been prepared by management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and 
notes to financial statements. Unless otherwise indicated, years (2017, 2018, 2019 etc.) in this discussion refer to the fiscal years ended 
June 30.

OVERVIEW
The University of California, Medical Centers (the “Medical Centers”) are operating units of the University of California (the “University”), 
a California public corporation under Article IX, Section 9 of the California Constitution. The University is administered by The Regents 
of the University of California (“The Regents”) of which, under the formation documents of the University, administrative authority with 
respect to the Medical Centers is vested in the President of the University. The Medical Centers consist of the University of California, 
Davis Medical Center (“UC Davis Medical Center” or “Davis”), the University of California, Irvine Medical Center (“UC Irvine Medical 
Center” or “Irvine”), the University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center (“UCLA Medical Center” or “Los Angeles”), the University 
of California, San Diego Medical Center (“UC San Diego Medical Center” or “San Diego”) and the University of California, San Francisco 
Medical Center (“UCSF Medical Center” or “San Francisco”), each of which provides educational and clinical opportunities for students 
in the University’s Schools of Medicine (“Schools of Medicine”) and offers a comprehensive array of medical services including tertiary 
and quaternary care services. The San Francisco Medical Center’s financial statements include Children’s Hospital & Research Center 
Oakland (“CHRCO”), combined with its foundation, a blended component unit of the University of California. The Regents are the sole 
corporate and voting member of CHRCO, a private, not-for-profit 501(c)(3) corporation. San Francisco provides certain management 
services for CHRCO. The San Francisco Medical Center’s financial statements also include the activities of the UCSF Faculty  
Clinical Practices.

The Medical Centers’ activities are monitored by The Regents’ Committee on Health Services. Under the formation documents of the 
University of California, administrative authority with respect to the Medical Centers is vested in the President of the University, who, 
in turn, has delegated certain authority to the Chancellor of the applicable campus. At each applicable campus, direct management 
authority has been further delegated by the applicable Chancellor as follows: for the UC Davis Medical Center, to the Vice Chancellor, 
Human Health Sciences; for the UC Irvine Medical Center and the UCSF Medical Center, to the applicable Medical Center Director;  
and for the UCLA Medical Center and the UC San Diego Medical Center, to the Vice Chancellor, Health Sciences.
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OPERATING STATISTICS
The following table presents utilization statistics for the Medical Centers: 

(shown in fiscal year)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

Licensed beds

2019 625 402 800 808 1,276 3,911

2018 625 417 784 808 1,276 3,910

2017 627 417 784 808 1,276 3,912

Admissions

2019 31,782 22,142 40,265 33,605 45,197 172,991

2018 34,763 22,086 40,438 31,715 45,837 174,839

2017 34,564 21,173 40,966 29,264 45,480 171,447

Average daily census

2019 540 348 730 587 789 2,994

2018 535 344 729 552 760 2,920

2017 536 338 741 504 755 2,874

Discharges

2019 31,752 22,139 40,233 33,464 45,230 172,818

2018 34,811 21,982 40,526 31,683 45,800 174,802

2017 34,565 21,270 40,979 29,200 45,549 171,563

Average length of stay

2019 6.1 5.7 6.6 6.4 6.4 6.3

2018 5.6 5.7 6.6 6.4 6.1 6.1

2017 5.6 5.8 6.6 6.3 6.0 6.1

Patient days

2019 197,019 126,864 266,559 214,198 287,882 1,092,522

2018 195,370 125,476 266,020 201,431 277,281 1,065,578

2017 195,678 123,191 270,550 184,135 275,446 1,049,000

Case mix index1

2019 2.00 1.83 2.09 1.98 2.06

2018 1.91 1.83 2.03 2.03 2.06

2017 1.87 1.83 2.00 1.96 1.97

Outpatient visits

2019 946,930 747,187 796,929 399,840 1,985,553 4,876,439

2018 967,695 689,724 775,952 345,276 1,838,829 4,617,476

2017 1,007,187 786,917 776,341 311,659 1,704,965 4,587,069
1Case mix index is calculated at the patient level and is not determinable systemwide.

Licensed Beds
Licensed beds changed as follows:

Increased (decreased)

2019 2018

Davis (2) Decrease resulted from ongoing renovation in hospital.

Irvine (15) License beds decreased due to reduction in neonatal 
intensive care nursery (NICU) beds.

Los Angeles 16 Increase due to opening of a new inpatient unit at the 
Santa Monica Hospital.
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Admissions and Patient Days
Admissions fluctuate based upon the Medical Centers’ market share and overall volumes in the marketplace. Patient days fluctuate 
based on admissions and the overall length of stay, generally as a result of the complexity of care provided.

Patient days for each Medical Center are as follows:

Davis

Irvine

Los Angeles

San Diego

San Francisco

195,678 

197,019   

125,476  

 195,370  

266,020   

201,431 

  277,281  

270,550  

   266,559  

123,191  

  126,864   

  184,135 

   214,198   

275,446  

 287,882 

 51,110  2018 20172019

Admissions and patient days changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased)

ADMISSIONS PATIENT DAYS

Davis (2,981) (8.6%) 1,649 0.8% Patient admissions decreased slightly; however, observation 
cases increased. Patient days and average length of stay 
increased as well as the acuity of the illness.  

Irvine 56 0.3 1,388 1.1 Admissions and patient days remained relatively stable.

Los Angeles (173) (0.4) 539 0.2 Admissions and patient days remained relatively stable.

San Diego 1,890 6.0 12,767 6.3 Increase due to higher Medicare volume and Emergency 
Department admissions.

San Francisco (640) (1.4) 10,601 3.8 Despite a decrease in admissions, a higher average length  
of stay resulted in an increase in patient days.
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Admissions and patient days changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased)

ADMISSIONS PATIENT DAYS

Davis 199 0.6% (308) (0.2%) Admissions and patient days remained relatively stable.

Irvine 913 4.3 2,285 1.9 Admissions and patient days increased primarily due to higher 
volume in Emergency Department admissions.

Los Angeles (528) (1.3) (4,530) (1.7) Admissions and patient days decreased due to lower Contract 
patient days.

San Diego 2,451 8.4 17,296 9.4 Increase primarily due to the first full year of operations at 
Jacobs Medical Center since its opening in November 2016.

San Francisco 357 0.8 1,835 0.7 Adult admissions and patient days increased but were offset by 
declines in children's volumes.

Outpatient Visits
Outpatient services provided by the Medical Centers include clinic visits, primary care network, home health and hospice, and 
emergency visits. The following presents outpatient services volume for the Medical Centers:

(shown in fiscal year)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Hospital clinics 448,623 694,951 715,105 317,959 1,883,586 4,060,224

Primary care network 417,989 417,989

Home health and hospice 22,258 22,258

Emergency visits 58,060 52,236 81,824 81,881 101,967 375,968

Total Medical Center outpatient visits 946,930 747,187 796,929 399,840 1,985,553 4,876,439

School of Medicine and other non-hospital clinic visits1 25,939 149,148 2,020,567 592,166 2,787,820

2018

Hospital clinics 449,590 637,403 693,053 267,049 1,736,684 3,783,779

Primary care network 434,804 434,804

Home health and hospice 24,148 24,148

Emergency visits 59,153 52,321 82,899 78,227 102,145 374,745

Total Medical Center outpatient visits 967,695 689,724 775,952 345,276 1,838,829 4,617,476

School of Medicine and other non-hospital clinic visits1 22,525 153,454 1,867,904 567,792 2,611,675

2017

Hospital clinics 460,417 735,083 695,529 234,056 1,600,025 3,725,110

Primary care network 466,313 466,313

Home health and hospice 23,072 3,072 26,144

Emergency visits 57,385 51,834 80,812 77,603 101,868 369,502

Total Medical Center outpatient visits 1,007,187 786,917 776,341 311,659 1,704,965 4,587,069

School of Medicine and other non-hospital clinic visits1 19,091 74,760 1,742,158 515,501 2,351,510

1Related revenues not reported by the Medical Centers. All San Francisco clinic visits are reported as revenues by the Medical Center.
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The outpatient visits volume for each Medical Center is as follows:

946,930

1,007,187

967,695

776,341

796,929

786,917

747,187

311,659

399,840

1,985,553

2018 20172019

Davis

Irvine

Los Angeles

San Diego

San Francisco

689,724

 775,952 

 345,276  

1,838,829  

1,704,965

Outpatient visits changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased)

Davis (20,765) (2.1%) Reduced physician capacity and changes in contracts contributed to the decrease.

Irvine 57,463 8.3 Increase in hospital-based visits and ambulatory off-site clinic expansion.

Los Angeles 20,977 2.7 Increase due to the growth and expansion of outpatient programs.

San Diego 54,564 15.8 Increase primarily due to the first full year of operations at the  
Koman Family Outpatient Pavilion.

San Francisco 146,724 8.0 Outpatient visits increased due to continued growth in outpatient programs,  
in particular primary care and emergency medicine.

Outpatient visits changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased)

Davis (39,492) (3.9%) Vacancies in positions and termination of contracts contributed to the decrease.

Irvine (97,193) (12.4) Decrease due to planned reduction in ambulatory schedules during the conversion  
of the electronic medical record system, Epic.

Los Angeles (389) (0.1) Decrease due to a reduction in hospital clinic visits.

San Diego 33,617 10.8 Increase due to the first full year of operation at Jacobs Medical Center and clinic 
expansions at other locations.

San Francisco 133,864 7.9 Outpatient visits increased due to growth of outpatient programs, including the 
expansion of physical therapy services at the UCSF Mount Zion facility and clinical 
outreach to grow other targeted areas.
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
The following table summarizes the operating results for the Medical Centers for fiscal years:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Net patient service revenue $2,276,798 $1,167,754 $2,721,912 $1,955,993 $4,530,333 $12,652,790

Other operating revenue 52,492 111,180 137,019 111,455 288,881 701,027

Total operating revenue 2,329,290 1,278,934 2,858,931 2,067,448 4,819,214 13,353,817

Total operating expenses 2,352,198 1,204,352 2,690,901 2,156,970 4,958,400 13,362,821

Income (loss) from operations (22,908) 74,582 168,030 (89,522) (139,186) (9,004)

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 16,360 (9,519) 17,603 (27,678) 44,172 40,938

Income (loss) before other changes in net position (6,548) 65,063 185,633 (117,200) (95,014) 31,934

Other changes in net position (53,131) (39,259) (200,094) (132,633) (33,093) (458,210)

Increase (decrease) in net position (59,679) 25,804 (14,461) (249,833) (128,107) (426,276)

Net position - beginning of year (563,498) (261,050) (338,224) (90,772) (174,767) (1,428,311)

Net position - end of year ($623,177) ($235,246) ($352,685) ($340,605) ($302,874) ($1,854,587)

2018

Net patient service revenue $2,172,804 $1,124,757 $2,395,252 $1,838,912 $4,155,733 $11,687,458

Other operating revenue 48,957 52,747 118,813 99,317 214,673 534,507

Total operating revenue 2,221,761 1,177,504 2,514,065 1,938,229 4,370,406 12,221,965

Total operating expenses 2,045,569 1,042,663 2,394,047 1,813,765 4,242,116 11,538,160

Income from operations 176,192 134,841 120,018 124,464 128,290 683,805

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 15,612 (12,761) 9,872 (24,959) 46,189 33,953

Income before other changes in net position 191,804 122,080 129,890 99,505 174,479 717,758

Other changes in net position (46,757) (30,886) (201,812) (155,601) 18,460 (416,596)

Increase (decrease) in net position 145,047 91,194 (71,922) (56,096) 192,939 301,162

Net position - beginning of year (708,545) (352,244) (266,302) (34,676) (367,706) (1,729,473)

Net position - end of year ($563,498) ($261,050) ($338,224) ($90,772) ($174,767) ($1,428,311)

2017

Net patient service revenue $2,105,499 $1,088,317 $2,388,924 $1,595,867 $3,748,100 $10,926,707

Other operating revenue 41,875 28,010 113,628 92,295 203,654 479,462

Total operating revenue 2,147,374 1,116,327 2,502,552 1,688,162 3,951,754 11,406,169

Total operating expenses 1,983,662 1,050,777 2,384,772 1,668,586 4,003,451 11,091,248

Income (loss) from operations 163,712 65,550 117,780 19,576 (51,697) 314,921

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 9,467 (17,961) (36,579) (10,470) 24,134 (31,409)

Income (loss) before other changes in net position 173,179 47,589 81,201 9,106 (27,563) 283,512

Other changes in net position (29,562) (50,705) (166,007) (88,902) (47,588) (382,764)

Increase (decrease) in net position 143,617 (3,116) (84,806) (79,796) (75,151) (99,252)

Net position - beginning of year: (852,162) (349,128) (181,496) 45,120 (292,555) (1,630,221)

Net position – end of year ($708,545) ($352,244) ($266,302) ($34,676) ($367,706) ($1,729,473)
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Revenues
Patient service revenue depends on inpatient occupancy levels, the volume of outpatient visits, the complexity of care provided and 
the payment rates for services provided. Patient service revenues are net of bad debts and estimated allowances from contractual 
arrangements with Medicare, Medi-Cal and other third-party commercial payors and have been estimated based on the terms of 
reimbursement for contracts currently in effect. Other operating revenue consisted primarily of clinical teaching support funds, 
contracts and grants and other non-patient services such as contributions, pharmacy rebate programs and cafeteria revenues. 

The following chart illustrates trends in the net patient service revenue and other operating revenue:
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Revenues for 2019 as compared to 2018 are as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

TOTAL OPERATING 
REVENUE

NET PATIENT  
SERVICE REVENUE

Davis $107.5 4.8% $104.0 4.8% Increase due to higher Patient Days and Case Mix Index, along with 
changes in Contracts and Medicare payor mix. 

Irvine 101.4 8.6 43.0 3.8 Increase due to growth of patient volume as well as the 340B federal 
drug discount program and specialty pharmacy revenue.

Los Angeles 344.9 13.7 326.7 13.6 Increase due to contract price increases, growth in outpatient volume 
and additional supplemental funding.

San Diego 129.2 6.7 117.1 6.4 Increase due to growth in patient volume and contract price increases.

San Francisco 448.8 10.3 374.6 9.0 Increase due to growth in patient volumes, particularly outpatient, 
improvement in reimbursement rates, Medi-Cal supplemental 
payments and specialty pharmacy revenue.
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Revenues for 2018 as compared to 2017 are as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

TOTAL OPERATING 
REVENUE

NET PATIENT  
SERVICE REVENUE

Davis $74.4 3.5% $67.3 3.2% Increase due to growth of patient volume, as well as a large settlement 
with a third party for prior year services. 

Irvine 61.2 5.5 36.4 3.3 Increase due to growth of patient volume as well as the 340B federal 
drug discount program and specialty pharmacy revenue.

Los Angeles 11.5 0.5 6.3 0.3 Increase due to a slight growth in volume and additional  
supplemental funding.

San Diego 250.1 14.8 243.0 15.2 Increase due to 9.5 percent growth in patient census, increased 
complexity of cases and contract price increases.

San Francisco 418.7 10.6 407.6 10.9 Increase due to growth in patient volumes, primarily outpatient, 
improvements in reimbursement rates and overall patient acuity levels 
and prior year Medicare cost report settlements.

The most common payment arrangement for inpatient services is a prospectively determined per-diem rate or case rate. The most 
common payment arrangement for outpatient care is a prospective payment system that uses ambulatory payment classifications.  
The following chart illustrates the percentage of net patient service revenue by payor:
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Payor mix changed in 2019 as follows:

Davis Payor mix remained consistent year over year.

Irvine Payor mix changed due to increase in contract revenue offset by decrease 
in Medi-Cal.

Los Angeles Payor mix was consistent with prior year.

San Diego Payor mix changed primarily due to an increase in Contract revenue offset 
by a decrease in Medi-Cal.

San Francisco Payor mix stayed consistent year-over-year.

Payor mix changed in 2018 as follows:

Davis Medi-Cal increased due to a large settlement received in the current year. 
Additionally, capitated revenue decreased due to the termination of a  
large contract. 

Irvine Payor mix changed primarily with increased Medicare offset by a decrease 
in contract revenue.

Los Angeles Payor mix changed primarily with a decrease in Medi-Cal and an increase 
in Contracts as a result of a shift from traditional Medi-Cal to Medi-Cal 
managed care plans. All other payors remained relatively consistent with 
prior year.

San Diego Overall payor mix was stable although this year continued the shift away 
from traditional Medi-Cal towards Medi-Cal managed care plans.

San Francisco Payor mix changed primarily with a decrease in Medi-Cal and an increase 
in contracts as a result of a shift from traditional Medi-Cal to Medi-Cal 
managed care plans.
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Operating Expenses
Operating expenses fluctuate based on patient statistics, including inpatient occupancy levels, the volume of outpatient visits and 
the mix of services provided. Expenses are also impacted by inflation and ongoing cost containment efforts by the Medical Centers. 
Additionally, changes in pension expenses due to assumption changes and investment returns have caused significant fluctuations  
in total operating expenses. The following table summarizes the operating expenses for the Medical Centers:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Salaries and wages $937,657 $452,767 $1,052,871 $741,263 $1,718,914 $4,903,472

Pension benefits 300,946 130,154 315,589 238,764 490,465 1,475,918

Retiree health benefits 85,796 33,989 84,132 80,030 171,511 455,458

Other employee benefits 192,312 71,179 214,621 186,947 311,284 976,343

Professional services 139,095 17,919 31,298 71,961 826,532 1,086,805

Medical supplies 353,221 236,457 412,930 490,104 690,118 2,182,830

Other supplies and purchased services 167,610 151,855 377,532 160,971 409,569 1,267,537

Depreciation and amortization 84,354 84,675 152,840 102,640 212,222 636,731

Insurance and other 91,207 25,357 49,088 84,290 127,785 377,727

Total $2,352,198 $1,204,352 $2,690,901 $2,156,970 $4,958,400 $13,362,821

2018

Salaries and wages $898,454 $427,120 $1,011,430 $671,513 $1,589,405 $4,597,922

Pension benefits 107,400 37,541 121,203 86,068 194,567 546,779

Retiree health benefits 89,497 34,908 109,242 77,397 161,755 472,799

Other employee benefits 174,866 89,914 202,184 185,116 269,081 921,161

Professional services 129,586 22,414 35,315 63,125 726,528 976,968

Medical supplies 344,284 183,205 361,874 408,936 609,932 1,908,231

Other supplies and purchased services 139,897 145,814 360,111 150,869 368,743 1,165,434

Depreciation and amortization 76,331 78,723 147,785 93,379 216,292 612,510

Insurance and other 85,254 23,024 44,903 77,362 105,813 336,356

Total $2,045,569 $1,042,663 $2,394,047 $1,813,765 $4,242,116 $11,538,160

2017

Salaries and wages $844,408 $407,671 $972,473 $620,548 $1,496,989 $4,342,089

Pension benefits 138,692 65,965 157,056 102,403 223,821 687,937

Retiree health benefits 104,795 46,113 127,609 79,684 177,865 536,066

Other employee benefits 163,447 118,183 201,544 173,917 272,697 929,788

Professional services 119,988 24,240 40,363 49,322 660,395 894,308

Medical supplies 310,960 155,943 342,389 348,549 543,119 1,700,960

Other supplies and purchased services 141,370 144,902 358,645 147,549 318,791 1,111,257

Depreciation and amortization 78,839 69,271 142,841 76,779 210,913 578,643

Insurance and other 81,163 18,489 41,852 69,835 98,861 310,200

Total $1,983,662 $1,050,777 $2,384,772 $1,668,586 $4,003,451 $11,091,248
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The following graph illustrates the percentage of operating expenses by type: 
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Total operating expenses changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $306.6 15.0% Salaries and wages, as well as pension costs increased. Higher census 
contributed to the overall increase in supplies.

Irvine 161.7 15.5 Increase in salaries and pension benefits. Other employee benefits 
decreased due to a one-time settlement for self-insured workers' 
compensation.

Los Angeles 296.9 12.4 Increase in salaries, pension benefits, other employee benefits, medical 
supplies, and other supplies and purchased services due to volume 
increases and wage rate increases.

San Diego 343.2 18.9 Increase in pension costs as well as for salaries, pharmaceuticals and other 
medical supplies due to higher patient volume.

San Francisco 716.3 16.9 Pension and other employee benefits increased. Higher patient volumes 
and annual cost inflation also resulted in higher operating expenses.

Total operating expenses changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $61.9 3.1% Lower pension and retiree health expenses were offset by hourly wage 
increases. Supply costs are consistent with volume.

Irvine (8.1) (0.8) Lower pension and retiree health benefits were offset by a net increase in 
salaries mainly due to rate changes. Other employee benefits — vacation 
accrual was a one-time charge in fiscal year 2017. Medical supplies costs 
increased consistent with volume.

Los Angeles 9.3 0.4 Increases in salaries, other employee benefits, medical supplies,  
and other supplies and purchased services due to volume increases  
and wage rate increases.

San Diego 145.2 8.7 Overall increase reflects 9.5 percent increase in patient census.

San Francisco 238.7 6.0 Increase due to higher patient volumes and annual cost inflation  
offset by lower pension and retiree health costs.
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Salaries and Benefits
Salary and employee benefits expenses include wages paid to employees, vacation, holiday and sick pay, payroll taxes, workers’ 
compensation insurance premiums, health insurance, pension and retiree health benefits expenses and other employee benefits.  
In 2019, salaries and benefits as a percentage of total operating revenues increased primarily due to higher pension expenses, along 
with higher salaries related to growth in operations. In 2018, salaries and benefits decreased slightly due to lower pension and retiree 
health benefit expenses, partially offset by higher salaries related to growth.

(shown as percentage)

2019 2018 2017

Davis 65.1% 57.2% 58.3% 2019 increased due to headcount, higher salary and wages, 
as well as higher pension costs. 

Irvine 53.8 50.1 57.1 Increase mainly due to higher wages and pension expense 
in 2019. Payroll increase was offset by pension and retiree 
health benefits decrease in 2018. 

Los Angeles 58.3 57.4 58.3 Increase due to higher wages and pension expense partially 
offset by a decrease in retiree health benefits expense.

San Diego 60.3 52.6 57.8 Increase in pension costs as well as growth in full-time 
employees (FTE's) due to higher patient volume.

San Francisco 55.9 50.7 54.9 Increase due to growth in FTE's due to volume and strategic 
initiatives. Increase in pension costs.

Approximately one-half of the Medical Centers’ workforces, including nurses and employees providing ancillary services, expand and 
contract with patient volumes. Salaries and wages, FTE’s and salary and wage rates changed as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

2019 2018

SALARIES AND WAGES FTE'S RATE CHANGES SALARIES AND WAGES FTE'S RATE CHANGES

Davis $39.2 4.4% 209 2.5% $16.6 1.8% $54.0 6.4% 216 2.7% $31.5 3.6%

Irvine 25.6 6.0 136 3.0 10.5 2.7 19.4 4.8 (21) (0.5) 21.4 5.3

Los Angeles 41.4 4.1 142 1.5 25.7 2.5 39.0 4.0 118 1.3 26.2 2.7

San Diego 69.8 10.4 531 7.5 19.3 2.9 51.0 8.2 363 5.4 17.6 2.8

San Francisco 129.5 8.1 770 6.2 30.0 1.8 92.4 6.2 214 1.8 66.0 4.3

Employee benefits changed as follows:  

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

2019 2018

PENSION RETIREE HEALTH OTHER EMPLOYEE 
BENEFITS PENSION RETIREE HEALTH OTHER EMPLOYEE 

BENEFITS

Davis $193.5 180.2% ($3.7) (4.1%) $17.4 10.0% ($31.3) (22.6%) ($15.3) (14.6%) $11.4 7.0%

Irvine 92.6 246.7 (0.9) (2.6) (18.7) (20.8) (28.4) (43.1) (11.2) (24.3) (28.3) (23.9)

Los Angeles 194.4 160.4 (25.1) (23.0) 12.4 6.2 (35.9) (22.8) (18.4) (14.4) 0.6 0.3

San Diego 152.7 177.4 2.6 3.4 1.8 1.0 (16.3) (16.0) (2.3) (2.9) 11.2 6.4

San Francisco 295.9 152.1 9.8 6.0 42.2 15.7 (29.3) (13.1) (16.1) (9.1) (3.6) (1.3)
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Substantially all full-time employees of the Medical Centers participate in the University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP).  
Pension expense and contributions for the Medical Centers related to UCRP are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017

PENSION  
EXPENSE

PENSION  
CONTRIBUTIONS

PENSION  
EXPENSE

PENSION  
CONTRIBUTIONS

PENSION  
EXPENSE

PENSION  
CONTRIBUTIONS

Davis $300,946 $112,545 $107,400 $111,593 $138,692 $102,403

Irvine 130,671 50,761 38,750 48,153 63,997 48,710

Los Angeles 315,589 121,724 121,203 122,001 157,056 111,966

San Diego 238,764 82,496 86,068 79,580 102,403 69,647

San Francisco 463,320 160,627 172,233 153,693 203,864 139,730

Total $1,449,290 $528,153 $525,654 $515,020 $666,012 $472,456

The University has a financial responsibility for pension benefits associated with its defined benefit plans. The Medical Centers are 
required to contribute at a rate set by The Regents. Employer contribution rates were 14.0 percent in 2019, 2018 and 2017, of covered 
compensation. The employer contribution rate will be increased starting July 1, 2020 by 0.5 percent per year, on July 1st, for six years  
to 17.0 percent.

Pension expense is allocated to the Medical Centers based on their proportionate share of covered compensation for the fiscal year. 
Pension expense fluctuates primarily based on expected as compared to actual investment returns and the trend in the Medical 
Centers’ proportionate share of the net pension liability. Pension expenses were higher in 2019 primarily driven by changes in 
assumptions as a result of the most recent experience study, with the reduction in the discount rate and the changes in the mortality 
tables causing the largest increases. Pension expenses were lower in 2018 due to higher than expected investment returns.  
The discount rate used to estimate the net pension liability was 6.75, 7.25 and 7.25 percent in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Retiree health benefits expense and contributions for the Medical Centers are as follows:

(In thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017

RETIREE HEALTH 
EXPENSE

RETIREE HEALTH 
CONTRIBUTIONS

RETIREE HEALTH 
EXPENSE

RETIREE HEALTH 
CONTRIBUTIONS

RETIREE HEALTH 
EXPENSE

RETIREE HEALTH 
CONTRIBUTIONS

Davis $85,796 $22,032 $89,497 $22,535 $104,795 $21,562

Irvine 33,989 9,948 34,908 10,170 46,113 10,089

Los Angeles 84,132 23,606 109,242 26,042 127,609 24,975

San Diego 80,030 16,196 77,397 16,088 79,684 14,677

San Francisco 171,511 33,792 161,755 33,182 177,865 31,217

Total $455,458 $105,574 $472,799 $108,017 $536,066 $102,520

The University administers single-employer health and welfare plans to provide primarily medical, dental and vision benefits to 
eligible retirees (and their eligible family members) of the University of California and its affiliates through the University of California 
Retiree Health Benefit Trust (UCRHBT). The University has a financial responsibility for retiree health benefits associated with UCRHBT. 
The Medical Centers are required to contribute at a rate assessed each year by the University based upon projected pay-as-you-go 
financing requirements. 

Retiree health benefits expense is allocated to the Medical Centers based on their proportionate share of covered compensation for 
the fiscal year. Retiree health expenses decreased slightly in 2019 as a result of the decrease in the discount rate offset by reducing the 
inflation assumption and strong management of health care costs. Retiree health expenses were lower in 2018 due to an increase in 
the discount rate. The discount rates as of June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were 3.50 percent, 3.87 percent and 3.58 percent, respectively. 
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Professional Services
Professional services include payments to the Schools of Medicine for physician services in the hospitals and clinics, payments to other 
health care providers for capitated patients, outside lab fees, organ acquisition fees, transcription fees and legal fees. 

Professional services changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $9.5 7.3% Increase due to expanded hospital-based coverage and  
external physician services. 

Irvine (4.5) (20.1) Consulting fee decreased as Operations Efficiency project was completed.

Los Angeles (4.0) (11.4) Decrease due to lower legal fees.

San Diego 8.8 14.0 Increase primarily due to realignment of fees paid for physician services, 
and to higher legal fees.

San Francisco 100.0 13.8 Increase due to growth of patient volumes. Professional services include the 
UCSF Faculty Clinical Practices, while other UC Health entities only reflect 
hospital performance.

Professional services changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $9.6 8.0% Increases primarily due to professional network costs for physician services. 

Irvine (1.8) (7.5) Decrease due to fewer medical directors and lower consulting costs.

Los Angeles (5.0) (12.5) Decrease due to lower legal fees, lower costs related to consulting  
and management fees due to cessation of information technology  
and revenue cycle projects.  

San Diego 13.8 28.0 Increase primarily due to realignment of call coverage fees paid to several 
physician specialties.

San Francisco 66.1 10.0 Increase due to growth of patient volumes. Professional services include the 
UCSF Faculty Clinical Practices, while other UC Health entities only reflect 
hospital performance.

Medical Supplies
Medical supplies costs fluctuate with patient volumes. Medical supplies are also subject to significant inflationary pressures due to 
escalating pharmaceutical costs and continued innovation in implants, prosthetics and other medical supplies. The Medical Centers 
have ongoing initiatives to control supply utilization and to negotiate competitive pricing. 

Medical supplies expenses, including pharmaceuticals, changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $8.9 2.6% Increase due to continued growth in the 340B federal drug discount 
program and specialty pharmacy business.

Irvine 53.3 29.1 Increase due to continued growth in the 340B federal drug discount 
program and specialty pharmacy business.

Los Angeles 51.1 14.1 Increase due to higher pharmaceutical costs as a result of new pharmacy 
programs, the use of higher priced pharmaceuticals and increased surgical 
volumes and transplant cases.

San Diego 81.2 19.8 Increase in patient volume, new pharmacy programs including high-
cost drugs for new therapies and continued high price increases from 
pharmaceutical suppliers.

San Francisco 80.2 13.1 Increase primarily due to higher pharmaceutical and blood costs for high-
cost treatment therapies as well as a growth of specialty pharmacy activity.
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Medical supplies expenses, including pharmaceuticals, changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $33.3 10.7% Increases in volume and utilization of higher priced pharmaceuticals 
contributed to the change. 

Irvine 27.3 17.5 Increase due to new specialty pharmacy opening in fiscal year 2018 
therefore increasing pharmaceutical supplies cost.

Los Angeles 19.5 5.7 Increase due to higher pharmaceutical costs, increased surgical volumes 
and transplant cases.

San Diego 60.4 17.3 Increase primarily reflected higher patient volume and inflation, particularly 
for pharmaceuticals.

San Francisco 66.8 12.3 Increase primarily due to higher pharmaceutical and blood costs for high 
cost treatment therapies.

Other Supplies and Purchased Services
Other supplies and purchased services include non-medical supplies, medical purchased services and repairs and maintenance.

Other supplies and purchased services changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $27.7 19.8% Seismic renovations and much higher repairs and maintenance costs led  
to the increase.

Irvine 6.0 4.1 Medical purchased services increase due to growth in ambulatory clinics.

Los Angeles 17.4 4.8 Increase in purchased services as a result of more transplant cases and 
increased patient volumes.

San Diego 10.1 6.7 Increase was in line with higher patient volume.

San Francisco 40.8 11.1 Increase due to higher purchased medical services as a result of increased 
patient volumes and repair and maintenance costs.

Other supplies and purchased services changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($1.5) (1.0%) Other supplies and purchased services were consistent with prior year. 

Irvine 0.9 0.6 Slight increase in non-medical supplies offset by decrease  
in purchased services.

Los Angeles 1.5 0.4 Increase in repairs and maintenance costs and an increase  
in genetic testing.

San Diego 3.3 2.3 Increase was below growth in patient census and reflects  
process improvements.

San Francisco 50.0 15.7 Increase due to higher purchased medical services as a result of increased 
patient volumes and repair and maintenance costs.

Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation and amortization expense changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $8.0 10.5% Higher software costs and completion of a hospital administration building 
contributed to the increase.

Irvine 6.0 7.6 Increase due to completed projects and new equipment that were placed 
in service during the year.

Los Angeles 5.1 3.4 Increase due to completed projects and new equipment that were placed 
in service during the year.

San Diego 9.3 9.9 Increase reflects first full year of Koman Family Outpatient Pavilion and 
other projects and equipment.

San Francisco (4.1) (1.9) Decrease due to large assets becoming fully depreciated during the year.
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Depreciation and amortization expense changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($2.5) (3.2%) Deferred capital maintenance resulted in lower depreciation expense. 

Irvine 9.5 13.6 Increase due to the project of the electronic medical record system, 
Epic, and Chao Comprehensive Digestive Disease Center being placed 
into service.

Los Angeles 4.9 3.5 Increase due to completed projects and new equipment that were 
capitalized during the year.

San Diego 16.6 21.6 Increase reflects first full year of Jacobs Medical Center, opening of 
Koman Family Outpatient Pavilion in March 2018, and other projects and 
equipment.

San Francisco 5.4 2.6 Increase due to the completion of the Benioff Children's Hospital Oakland 
Outpatient Center and new equipment placed in service during the year.

Insurance
The Medical Centers are insured through the University’s and its captive insurance company for malpractice, general liability, workers’ 
compensation and health and welfare benefits. All claims and related expenses are paid from the University’s self-insurance funds or its 
captive insurance company. Rates for each Medical Center are established based upon claims experience and insurance costs increase 
or decrease with favorable or unfavorable claims experience. CHRCO has a claims-made policy for malpractice and is self-insured for 
workers’ compensation and health and welfare benefits.

Income (Loss) from Operations
The Medical Centers reported income (loss) from operations and operating margins of: 

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018 2017

INCOME (LOSS) 
FROM OPERATIONS

OPERATING 
MARGIN

INCOME FROM 
OPERATIONS

OPERATING 
MARGIN

INCOME (LOSS) 
FROM OPERATIONS

OPERATING 
MARGIN

Davis ($22.9) (1.0%) $176.2 7.9% $163.7 7.6%

Irvine 74.6 5.8 134.8 11.5 65.6 5.9

Los Angeles 168.0 5.9 120.0 4.8 117.8 4.7

San Diego (89.5) (4.3) 124.5 6.4 19.6 1.2

San Francisco (139.2) (2.9) 128.3 2.9 (51.7) (1.3)

Total ($9.0) $683.8 $315.0

In 2019, while patient days and outpatient visits increased, operating results declined due to a large increase in pension expense 
driven by changes in assumptions for the discount rate and extended mortality. In 2018, operating results improved due to increased 
volumes, higher supplemental revenues and lower pension and retiree health benefits expenses. Operating results also improved in 
San Diego as a result of increased volumes related to opening a new hospital in 2017.

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Nonoperating revenues and expenses include Hospital Fee Program revenue, federal subsidies for bond interest, private gifts, 
investment income, interest expense and changes in fair value expense and losses on disposals of capital assets. Nonoperating 
revenues and expenses for the years that ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses):

2019 $16,360 ($9,519) $17,603 ($27,678) $44,172 $40,938

2018 15,612 (12,761) 9,872 (24,959) 46,189 33,953

2017 9,467 (17,961) (36,579) (10,470) 24,134 (31,409)

47



Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) improved (declined) in 2019 as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Davis $0.7 4.8% Higher interest rates and return on investments was offset by expenses 
related to the future obligation to retire a portion of the hospital.

Irvine 3.2 25.4 Increase in STIP interest income and Hospital Fee Program grant.

Los Angeles 7.7 78.3 Increase primarily due to increased investment income and  
net appreciation of fair value for long-term investments.

San Diego (2.7) (10.9) Decrease due to recognition of asset retirement obligations required 
by GASB 83 which was adopted this year.

San Francisco (2.0) (4.4) Decrease due to costs incurred related to affiliates offset by higher 
investment income.

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) improved (declined) in 2018 as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Davis $6.1 64.9% Capitalization of interest costs resulted in lower expense, while higher 
cash balances and outstanding notes receivables resulted in more 
interest income.

Irvine 5.2 29.0 Net nonoperating expenses decreased due to increase in grant 
and interest income.

Los Angeles 46.5 127.0 Increase primarily due to an increase in revenue from the Hospital Fee 
Program grants, an increase in investment income and a decrease in 
interest expense. In the prior year, there was a significant loss on a 
hedge termination.

San Diego (14.5) (138.4) Decrease due to interest expense for full year of Jacobs Medical Center.

San Francisco 22.1 91.4 Increase due to additional Hospital Fee Program grants, increases 
in investment income and contributions.

Income (Loss) Before Other Changes in Net Position
Income (loss) before other changes in net position fluctuates consistent with operating results. Income (loss) before other changes 
in net position for the Medical Centers is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019 ($6,548) $65,063 $185,633 ($117,200) ($95,014) $31,934

2018 191,804 122,080 129,890 99,505 174,479 717,758

2017 173,179 47,589 81,201 9,106 (27,563) 283,512

Income (loss) before other changes in net position changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($198.4) (103.4%) Expenses slightly outpaced revenue, and pension expense increased.

Irvine (57.0) (46.7) Decrease due to overall increase in salaries, pension benefits, pharmacy 
and medical supplies expenses outpaced revenue growth.

Los Angeles 55.7 42.9 Increase primarily due to the growth in net patient service revenue which 
outpaced expenses.

San Diego (216.7) (217.8) Decrease due to pension and salary costs.

San Francisco (269.5) (154.5) Decrease primarily due to higher pension costs and a reduction of prior 
year Medicare cost report settlements and Medi-Cal supplemental funds 
approved in the year.
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Income before other changes in net position changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $18.6 10.8% Increase due to higher volume which outpaced expenses, along with one-
time third-party settlements.

Irvine 74.5 156.5 Overall increase due to increase in patient revenue offset by decreases in 
pension, retiree health benefits and nonoperating expenses.

Los Angeles 48.7 60.0 Increase primarily due to the reduction in pension and retiree health 
benefits expense.

San Diego 90.4 992.7 Increase primarily due to revenue from higher patient census that 
outpaced expenses.

San Francisco 202.0 733.0 Increase due to higher patient volumes which outpaced expenses including 
a reduction in pension and retiree health expenses and prior year Medicare 
cost report settlements.

Other Changes in Net Position
Health system support includes amounts paid to the Schools of Medicine by the Medical Centers to fund the operating activities, 
clinical research and faculty practice plans, as well as other payments for various programs. Transfers from the respective campuses 
to fund capital projects are reported as contributions for building programs. The following table presents total other changes in net 
position as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019 ($53,131) ($39,259) ($200,094) ($132,633) ($33,093) ($458,210)

2018 (46,757) (30,886) (201,812) (155,601) 18,460 (416,596)

2017 (29,562) (50,705) (166,007) (88,902) (47,588) (382,764)

Other changes in net position changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($6.4) (13.6%) The primary driver behind the change was due to an increase of pension 
allocations. 

Irvine (8.4) (27.1) Change mainly due to increase in health systems support.

Los Angeles 1.7 0.9 Payments for health system support, representing transfers in support of 
the overall strategic plan.

San Diego 23.0 14.8 Change primarily due to completion of the Koman Family Outpatient 
Pavilion, resulting in reduced funding transfers to the University by the 
Medical Center.

San Francisco (51.6) (279.3) Change primarily due to an increase of health system support and an 
increase of pension allocations.

Other changes in net position changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($17.2) (58.2%) Change primarily due to the Medical Center transferring an under-utilized 
building to the University. Additionally, there were initiatives executed by 
the University, but funded by the Medical Center. 

Irvine 19.8 39.1 Change due to reduced allocation for pension payable to the University.

Los Angeles (35.8) (21.6) Payments for health system support, representing transfers in support of 
the overall strategic plan.

San Diego (66.7) (75.0) Decrease primarily due to slow down of gifts and donations now that 
primary fundraising for Jacobs Medical Center is complete and increased 
payments for health system support.

San Francisco 66.0 138.8 Change due to funds donated for the construction of the Precision Cancer 
Medical Building offset by an increase in health system support.
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
The following tables are abbreviated statements of net position at June 30: 

(in thousands of dollars) DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $819,285 $455,229 $1,114,849 $341,255 $946,580 $3,677,198

Net patient accounts receivable 269,446 158,234 398,976 367,003 682,558 1,876,217

Short-term investments and other current assets 267,682 117,663 387,337 86,720 267,474 1,126,876

Current assets 1,356,413 731,126 1,901,162 794,978 1,896,612 6,680,291

Restricted assets 13,718 9,348 10,973 2,843 100,160 137,042

Capital assets, net 1,115,955 766,783 1,671,098 1,609,016 2,427,895 7,590,747

Investments and other noncurrent assets 105,747 129,448 24,348 233,893 493,436

Noncurrent assets 1,235,420 776,131 1,811,519 1,636,207 2,761,948 8,221,225

Total assets 2,591,833 1,507,257 3,712,681 2,431,185 4,658,560 14,901,516

Deferred outflows of resources 746,421 312,113 858,937 701,535 1,352,434 3,971,440

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 457,064 237,264 503,481 295,493 708,871 2,202,173

Long-term debt 320,819 329,673 876,922 771,188 917,096 3,215,698

Net pension liability 1,151,862 536,927 1,245,807 844,319 1,655,695 5,434,610

Net retiree health benefits liability 1,268,189 572,706 1,358,829 932,379 1,945,198 6,077,301

Other liabilities 354,680 151,613 391,900 345,605 469,612 1,713,410

Total liabilities 3,552,614 1,828,183 4,376,939 3,188,984 5,696,472 18,643,192

Deferred inflows of resources 408,817 226,433 547,364 284,341 617,396 2,084,351

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 766,483 431,447 762,330 813,976 1,505,229 4,279,465

Restricted 13,283 9,348 24,776 97,383 144,790

Unrestricted (1,402,943) (676,041) (1,139,791) (1,154,581) (1,905,486) (6,278,842)

Total net position ($623,177) ($235,246) ($352,685) ($340,605) ($302,874) ($1,854,587)
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(in thousands of dollars) DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2018
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $741,159 $331,844 $943,930 $293,548 $823,411 $3,133,892

Net patient accounts receivable 248,467 155,384 330,172 321,636 594,448 1,650,107

Short-term investments and other current assets 149,804 101,758 392,120 139,660 230,295 1,013,637

Total current assets 1,139,430 588,986 1,666,222 754,844 1,648,154 5,797,636

Restricted assets 45,783 41,547 10,928 4,138 78,109 180,505

Capital assets, net 1,080,332 759,413 1,717,689 1,661,760 2,375,485 7,594,679

Investments and other noncurrent assets 105,448 94,761 20,214 215,288 435,711

Noncurrent assets 1,231,563 800,960 1,823,378 1,686,112 2,668,882 8,210,895

Total assets 2,370,993 1,389,946 3,489,600 2,440,956 4,317,036 14,008,531

Deferred outflows of resources 330,997 128,954 454,015 401,567 775,863 2,091,396

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 408,938 230,244 471,304 246,776 655,904 2,013,166

Long-term debt 342,030 335,335 908,811 792,429 922,666 3,301,271

Net pension liability 643,552 292,837 706,286 460,577 910,558 3,013,810

Net retiree health benefits liability 1,215,567 548,548 1,404,685 867,819 1,789,855 5,826,474

Other noncurrent liabilities 266,959 138,408 343,508 290,933 404,824 1,444,632

Total liabilities 2,877,046 1,545,372 3,834,594 2,658,534 4,683,807 15,599,353

Deferred inflows of resources 388,442 234,578 447,245 274,761 583,859 1,928,885

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 698,049 421,341 780,373 847,607 1,447,759 4,195,129

Restricted 45,783 41,547 10,884 77,245 175,459

Unrestricted (1,307,330) (723,938) (1,129,481) (938,379) (1,699,771) (5,798,899)

Total net position ($563,498) ($261,050) ($338,224) ($90,772) ($174,767) ($1,428,311)

(in thousands of dollars) DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2017
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $628,409 $342,862 $1,007,761 $394,822 $626,724 $3,000,578

Net patient accounts receivable 242,561 122,480 317,226 254,358 554,803 1,491,428

Short-term investments and other current assets 128,055 61,809 146,281 91,587 154,000 581,732

Total current assets 999,025 527,151 1,471,268 740,767 1,335,527 5,073,738

Restricted assets 86,748 69,703 13,781 9,954 90,724 270,910

Capital assets, net 1,030,246 734,509 1,749,540 1,620,948 2,349,538 7,484,781

Investments and other noncurrent assets 18,194 308,331 21,426 195,072 543,023

Noncurrent assets 1,135,188 804,212 2,071,652 1,652,328 2,635,334 8,298,714

Total assets 2,134,213 1,331,363 3,542,920 2,393,095 3,970,861 13,372,452

Deferred outflows of resources 362,917 160,399 516,101 345,110 836,506 2,221,033

Liabilities:

Current liabilities 328,609 270,520 404,441 231,802 592,470 1,827,842

Long-term debt 362,743 338,340 934,794 754,170 928,264 3,318,311

Net pension liability 675,141 340,003 741,290 459,781 961,088 3,177,303

Net retiree health benefits liability 1,227,803 574,394 1,422,069 835,720 1,777,540 5,837,526

Other noncurrent liabilities 242,313 115,732 400,951 240,242 368,317 1,367,555

Total liabilities 2,836,609 1,638,989 3,903,545 2,521,715 4,627,679 15,528,537

Deferred inflows of resources 369,066 205,017 421,778 251,166 547,394 1,794,421

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 640,415 393,404 790,467 857,221 1,396,747 4,078,254

Restricted 86,748 69,703 11,138 89,739 257,328

Unrestricted (1,435,708) (815,351) (1,067,907) (891,897) (1,854,192) (6,065,055)

Total net position ($708,545) ($352,244) ($266,302) ($34,676) ($367,706) ($1,729,473)
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $78.1 10.5% Increase in cash due to the operational performance of the hospital.

Irvine 123.4 37.2 Increase due to strong operational performance and higher patient 
accounts receivable cash collections.

Los Angeles 170.9 18.1 Increase in cash due to strong operational performance, higher patient 
accounts receivable cash collections and cash from third-party settlements.

San Diego 47.7 16.3 Increase primarily due to cash received from third party settlements and 
reduced capital expenditures.

San Francisco 123.2 15.0 Increase due to hospital operations excluding non-cash pension costs.

Cash and cash equivalents changed in 2018 as follows:

 Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $112.8 17.9% Increase in cash due to the strong operational performance as well as an 
increase in interest.

Irvine (11.0) (3.2) Decrease due to payments to suppliers, salaries and employee benefits 
outpacing accounts receivable collections.

Los Angeles (63.8) (6.3) Decrease primarily due to the pay-off of the Note Payable to Campus.

San Diego (101.3) (25.7) Decrease due to construction and opening of Koman Family Outpatient 
Pavilion and increased health system support.

San Francisco 196.7 31.4 Increase due to the result of strong financial performance from  
hospital operations.

Patient Accounts Receivable
Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncollectible accounts, changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $21.0 8.4% Increase primarily due to higher patient volumes.

Irvine 2.9 1.8 Increase primarily due to higher patient volumes from growth in outpatient 
revenues, offset by higher collections.

Los Angeles 68.8 20.8 Increase due to net patient revenue growth, timing of payments from 
payors and higher outpatient volume.

San Diego 45.4 14.1 Increase primarily due to higher patient volumes.

San Francisco 88.1 14.8 Increase primarily due to higher patient volumes.

Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncollectible accounts, changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $5.9 2.4% Higher volume was offset by improved collections.

Irvine 32.9 26.9 Increase due to the revenue cycle conversion of the electronic medical 
record system, Epic.

Los Angeles 12.9 4.1 Increase due to timing of payments from Medi-Cal and Contract payors.

San Diego 67.3 26.5 Increase primarily due to the opening of new facilities near the end of  
the fiscal year and payer related issues that temporarily increased days  
in patient receivables at year end.

San Francisco 39.6 7.1 Increase due to higher patient volumes.
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Capital Assets
Net capital assets changed in 2019 as follows:

 Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $35.6 3.3% Ongoing construction resulted in higher capital expenditures.

Irvine 7.4 1.0 Completion of the chiller plant and an upgrade of our electronic medical 
record system, Epic.

Los Angeles (46.6) (2.7) Annual depreciation exceeded capital projects for the year.

San Diego (52.7) (3.2) Annual depreciation exceeded capital expenditures for the year.

San Francisco 52.4 2.2 Increase due to the construction of the Precision Cancer Medical Building.

Net capital assets changed in 2018 as follows:

 Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis $50.1 4.9% Ongoing construction resulted in higher capital expenditures.

Irvine 24.9 3.4 Increase due to the electronic medical record system, Epic, and construction 
of chiller plant and electrical systems.

Los Angeles (31.9) (1.8) Annual depreciation exceeded capital projects for the year.

San Diego 40.8 2.5 Increase primarily due to construction of Koman Family Outpatient Pavilion.

San Francisco 25.9 1.1 Increase due to the construction of the Precision Cancer Medical Building 
and the Benioff Children's Hospital Oakland Outpatient Center.

Long-term Debt
Long-term debt, including the current portion, changed in 2019 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($21.2) (5.8%) Debt service payments were made reducing long term debt. 

Irvine (2.7) (0.8) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt.

Los Angeles (28.5) (3.0) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt.

San Diego (20.4) (2.5) Debt Service payments were made reducing long-term debt.

San Francisco (5.1) (0.5) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt.

Long-term debt, including the current portion, changed in 2018 as follows:

Increased (decreased) in millions of dollars

Davis ($21.4) (5.6%) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt. 

Irvine (3.0) (0.9) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt.

Los Angeles (24.4) (2.5) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt.

San Diego 44.6 5.8 Increase primarily due to equipment financing arrangements related to 
Koman Family Pavilion, net of scheduled debt service payments.

San Francisco (5.4) (0.6) Debt service payments were made reducing long-term debt.
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Net Pension Liability 
The University has a financial responsibility for pension benefits associated with its defined benefit plans. The net pension liability 
related to UCRP is allocated to the Medical Centers based on their proportionate share of covered compensation for the fiscal year.

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017

PROPORTIONATE 
SHARE

NET PENSION  
LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE 
SHARE

NET PENSION  
LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE 
SHARE

NET PENSION  
LIABILITY

Davis 6.7% $1,151,862 6.8% $643,552 6.7% $675,141

Irvine 3.0 519,523 3.0 279,015 3.2 321,946

Los Angeles 7.2 1,245,807 7.5 706,286 7.3 741,290

San Diego 4.9 844,319 4.9 460,577 4.5 459,781

San Francisco 9.6 1,643,970 9.4 886,410 9.1 919,944

Total 31.4% $5,405,481 31.6% $2,975,840 30.8% $3,118,102

The change in net pension liability in 2019 was driven by changes in assumptions as a result of the most recent experience study, with 
the reduction in the discount rate and the changes in the mortality tables causing the largest increases. The change in pension liability 
in 2018 was primarily driven by the investment performance above the expected return for the UCRP investment portfolio. UCRP’s total 
investment rate of return was 6.0 percent in 2019, 7.8 percent in 2018 and 14.5 percent in 2017. The discount rate used to estimate the 
net pension liability was 6.75 percent in 2019, and 7.25 percent in 2018 and 2017.

The Irvine Medical Center’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for the Orange County Employees Retirement System was 
$17.4 million, $13.8 million and $18.1 million as of June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

CHRCO is the sponsor of a single employer defined benefit plan. The net pension liability for CHRCO was $11.7 million, $24.1 million 
and $41.1 million as of June 30, 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and the liability is reported by San Francisco.

Net Retiree Health Benefits Liability 
The University has a financial responsibility for retiree health benefits. The net retiree health benefits liability is allocated to Medical 
Centers based on their proportionate share of covered compensation for the fiscal year.

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017

PROPORTIONATE 
SHARE

NET RETIREE 
HEALTH BENEFITS 

LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE 
SHARE

NET RETIREE 
HEALTH BENEFITS 

LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE 
SHARE

NET RETIREE 
HEALTH BENEFITS 

LIABILITY

Davis 6.6% $1,268,189 6.6% $1,215,567 6.6% $1,227,803

Irvine 3.0 572,706 3.0 548,548 3.1 574,394

Los Angeles 7.1 1,358,829 7.7 1,404,685 7.6 1,422,069

San Diego 4.8 932,379 4.8 867,819 4.5 835,720

San Francisco 10.1 1,945,198 9.8 1,789,855 9.5 1,777,540

Total 31.6% $6,077,301 31.9% $5,826,474 31.3% $5,837,526

The net retiree health benefit liability decreased slightly in 2019 as a result of the decrease in the discount rate offset by reducing the 
inflation assumption and strong management of health care costs. The net retiree health benefit liability was lower in 2018 due to an 
increase in the discount rate. The discount rate used to estimate the net retiree health benefits liability as of June 30, 2019, 2018 and 
2017 was 3.50 percent, 3.87 percent and 3.58 percent, respectively. The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond General 
Obligation index since UCRHBT plan assets are not sufficient to make benefit payments.
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Net Position 
Net position represents the residual interest in the Medical Centers’ assets and deferred outflows after all liabilities and deferred 
inflows are deducted. Net position is reported in the following categories: net investment in capital assets; restricted, nonexpendable; 
restricted, expendable; and unrestricted. 

Under generally accepted accounting principles, net position that is not subject to externally imposed restrictions governing its use 
must be classified as unrestricted for reporting purposes. Unrestricted net position is negative primarily due to obligations for pension 
and retiree health benefits exceeding the Medical Centers’ reserves.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Days Cash on Hand
Days cash on hand measures the average number of days’ expenses the Medical Centers maintain in cash and unrestricted 
investments. The goal, set by the University of California Office of the President, is a minimum of 60 days cash on hand. 

Days cash on hand is as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Davis 149 137 120

Irvine 148 126 128

Los Angeles 195 191 164

San Diego 61 62 91

San Francisco 88 92 77

Days of Revenue in Accounts Receivable
The days of revenue in accounts receivable measures the average number of days it takes to collect patient accounts receivable. 
Generally, days of revenue in accounts receivable increases when Medical Centers have implemented new billing systems and 
decreases as the Medical Centers have streamlined the billing and collection processes. Days of revenue in accounts receivable  
is as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Davis 43 42 42

Irvine 49 50 41

Los Angeles 54 50 48

San Diego 68 64 58

San Francisco 55 52 54

Debt Service Coverage
Debt service coverage ratio measures the amount of funds available to cover the principal and interest on long-term debt. Debt service 
coverage decreases as new debt is issued and increases or decreases based on operating results. 

Debt service coverage ratios are as follows:

2019 2018 2017

Davis 2.8 8.8 6.4

Irvine 9.1 12.7 6.5

Los Angeles 6.1 5.0 4.4

San Diego 0.4 3.8 1.9

San Francisco 2.6 7.4 4.0
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LOOKING FORWARD

Payments from Federal and State Health Care Programs
Entities doing business with governmental payors, including Medicare and Medicaid (Medi-Cal in California), are subject to risks unique 
to the government-contracting environment that are difficult to anticipate and quantify. Revenues are subject to adjustment as a 
result of examination by government agencies as well as auditors, contractors and intermediaries retained by the federal, state or local 
governments (collectively “Government Agents”). Resolution of such audits or reviews often extends (and in some cases does not even 
commence until) several years beyond the year in which services were rendered and/or fees were received.

Moreover, Government Agents frequently interpret government regulations and other requirements differently. For example, 
Government Agents might disagree on a patient’s principal medical diagnosis, the appropriate code for a clinical procedure or 
many other matters. Such disagreements might have a significant effect on the ultimate payout due from the government to fully 
recoup sums already paid. Governmental agencies may make changes in program interpretations, requirements or “conditions of 
participation,” some of which may have implications for amounts previously estimated. In addition to varying interpretation and 
evolving codification of the regulations, standards of supporting documentation and required data are subject to wide variation.

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, to account for the uncertainty around Medicare and Medicaid revenues, 
each Medical Center estimates the amount of revenue that will ultimately be received under the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs. 
Amounts ultimately received or paid may vary significantly from these estimates.

Hospital Facilities Seismic Safety Act
State of California Senate Bill 1953 (SB 1953), the Hospital Facilities Seismic Safety Act, requires hospitals to meet certain standards 
designed to yield predictable seismic performance, whether at the essential life safety level or post-earthquake continued operations 
level. Buildings used for acute care patient services must either be retrofitted by 2030 or the acute care services must be relocated and 
the building must be closed, repurposed or demolished. Three of the Medical Centers, Davis, San Diego and San Francisco, have beds 
in service in facilities that do not meet the requirements of SB 1953, and these facilities will either need to be retrofitted or replaced by 
2030. The Medical Centers are continuing to address these seismic building requirements; however, the cost to construct replacement 
facilities or retrofit existing facilities to comply with the statutory requirements by 2030 cannot be estimated at this time.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
Certain information provided by the Medical Centers, including written as outlined above or oral statements made by its representatives, 
may contain forward-looking statements as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements, other than 
statements of historical facts, which address activities, events or developments that the Medical Centers expect or anticipate will or 
may occur in the future, contain forward-looking information.

In reviewing such information, it should be kept in mind that actual results may differ materially from those projected or suggested 
in such forward-looking information. This forward-looking information is based upon various factors and was derived using various 
assumptions. The Medical Centers do not undertake to update forward-looking information contained in this report or elsewhere to 
reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting such forward-looking information.
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We have audited the accompanying individual  financial statements of the University of California, Davis Medical 
Center, the University of California, Irvine Medical Center, the University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center, 
the University of California, San Diego Medical Center, and the University of California, San Francisco Medical 
Center (collectively referred to as the “University of California Medical Centers”), each of which is a department of 
the University of California (the “University”), which comprise the individual statements of net position as of June 
30, 2019 and 2018, and the related individual statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position and 
of cash flows for the years then ended, which comprise the basic financial statements of each of the University of 
California Medical Centers.

Management’s Responsibility for the Individual Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the individual financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of individual 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the individual financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the individual financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
individual financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the individual financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the University of California Medical Centers’ preparation 
and fair presentation of the individual financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the University of 
California Medical Centers’ internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the individual financial statements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Report of Independent Auditors

TO THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA
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Opinion

In our opinion, the individual financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
individual financial positions of the University of California, Davis Medical Center, the University of California,  
Irvine Medical Center, the University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center, the University of California,  
San Diego Medical Center, and the University of California, San Francisco Medical Center as of June 30, 2019  
and 2018, and the changes in their individual financial position and their individual cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matters

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the individual financial statements of the University of California 
Medical Centers are intended to present the financial position, and the changes in financial position and the cash 
flows of only that portion of the University of California that is attributable to the transactions of the University of 
California Medical Centers. They do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the University 
of California as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our opinion 
is not modified with respect to this matter.

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the University of California Medical Centers changed the manner 
in which they account for certain asset retirement obligations as of July 1, 2018. Our opinion is not modified with 
respect to this matter.

Other Matter

The accompanying management’s discussion and analysis on pages 26 through 50, the individual schedule of the 
University of California Medical Centers’ proportionate share of UCRP’s net pension liability, the schedule of changes 
in the net pension liability for the CHRCO Pension Plan, the schedule of net pension liability for the CHRCO Pension 
Plan, the schedule of employer contributions for the CHRCO Pension Plan, the schedule of Irvine’s proportionate 
share of OCERS’ net pension liability, and the schedule of the Medical Centers’ proportionate share of UCRHBT’s net  
retiree health benefits liability on pages 110 through 113 are required by accounting principles generally accepted  
in the United States of America to supplement the basic financial statements of the corresponding University of 
California Medical Center. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by  
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for  
placing the basic financial statements of the corresponding University of California Medical Center in an appropriate  
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary 
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted 
of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for 
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge 
we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express 
an opinion or provide any assurance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
San Francisco, California 
October 8, 2019
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS 

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
At June 30, 2019 (in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL 
(memorandum only)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $819,285 $455,229 $1,114,849 $341,255 $946,580 $3,677,198

Short-term investments 103,536 241,738 345,274

Net patient accounts receivable 269,446 158,234 398,976 367,003 682,558 1,876,217

Other receivables 21,771 3,280 30,300 18,696 88,392 162,439

Third-party payor settlements, net 52,996 70,128 18,670 14,255 10,432 166,481

Inventory 37,808 19,958 41,514 33,561 56,921 189,762

Prepaid expenses and other assets 51,571 24,297 55,115 20,208 111,729 262,920

Current assets 1,356,413 731,126 1,901,162 794,978 1,896,612 6,680,291

Restricted assets:

Deposits held for hospital construction 13,718 9,348 45 2,843 25,954

Donor funds 10,928 100,160 111,088

Capital assets, net 1,115,955 766,783 1,671,098 1,609,016 2,427,895 7,590,747

Investments in joint ventures 20,771 3,901 23,018 22,807 70,497

Investments 68,557 195,594 264,151

Other assets 84,976 56,990 1,330 15,492 158,788

Noncurrent assets 1,235,420 776,131 1,811,519 1,636,207 2,761,948 8,221,225

Total assets 2,591,833 1,507,257 3,712,681 2,431,185 4,658,560 14,901,516

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 746,421 312,113 858,937 701,535 1,352,434 3,971,440

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 75,234 51,477 211,093 134,960 257,300 730,064

Accrued salaries and benefits 142,157 67,812 177,144 89,762 155,922 632,797

Third-party payor settlements, net 170,565 98,848 74,859 33,172 177,578 555,022

Current portion of long-term debt  
   and financing obligations

21,211 5,663 31,889 26,695 5,570 91,028

Other current liabilities 47,897 13,464 8,496 10,904 112,501 193,262

Current liabilities 457,064 237,264 503,481 295,493 708,871 2,202,173
Long-term debt and financing obligations, 
      net of current portion

320,819 329,673 876,922 771,188 917,096 3,215,698

Net pension liability 1,151,862 536,927 1,245,807 844,319 1,655,695 5,434,610

Net retiree health benefits liability 1,268,189 572,706 1,358,829 932,379 1,945,198 6,077,301

Notes payable to campus 15,474 93,558 109,032

Pension payable to University 304,044 136,139 326,734 222,361 431,107 1,420,385

Interest rate swap agreements 65,166 8,320 73,486

Self-insurance 19,054 19,054

Other noncurrent liabilities 50,636 29,686 11,131 91,453

Noncurrent liabilities 3,095,550 1,590,919 3,873,458 2,893,491 4,987,601 16,441,019

Total liabilities 3,552,614 1,828,183 4,376,939 3,188,984 5,696,472 18,643,192

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 408,817 226,433 547,364 284,341 617,396 2,084,351

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 766,483 431,447 762,330 813,976 1,505,229 4,279,465

Restricted: Nonexpendable endowments and gifts 598 29,150 29,748

Restricted: Nonexpendable for minority interest 13,848 13,848

Restricted: Expendable capital projects and other 13,283 9,348 10,330 68,233 101,194

Unrestricted (1,402,943) (676,041) (1,139,791) (1,154,581) (1,905,486) (6,278,842)

Total net position ($623,177) ($235,246) ($352,685) ($340,605) ($302,874) ($1,854,587)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL 
(memorandum only)

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $741,159 $331,844 $943,930 $293,548 $823,411 $3,133,892

Short-term investments 230,080 230,080

Net patient accounts receivable 248,467 155,384 330,172 321,636 594,448 1,650,107

Other receivables 21,433 597 33,539 18,884 86,924 161,377

Third-party payor settlements, net 42,500 63,803 41,270 67,434 25,862 240,869

Inventory 34,367 21,641 36,695 31,724 55,062 179,489

Prepaid expenses and other assets 51,504 15,717 50,536 21,618 62,447 201,822

Current assets 1,139,430 588,986 1,666,222 754,844 1,648,154 5,797,636

Restricted assets:

Deposits held for hospital construction 45,783 41,547 45 4,138 16 91,529

Donor funds 10,883 78,093 88,976

Capital assets, net 1,080,332 759,413 1,717,689 1,661,760 2,375,485 7,594,679

Investments in joint ventures 16,369 1,460 18,884 13,712 50,425

Investments 63,370 188,099 251,469

Other assets 89,079 29,931 1,330 13,477 133,817

Noncurrent assets 1,231,563 800,960 1,823,378 1,686,112 2,668,882 8,210,895

Total assets 2,370,993 1,389,946 3,489,600 2,440,956 4,317,036 14,008,531

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 330,997 128,954 454,015 401,567 775,863 2,091,396

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 66,944 46,774 201,492 116,215 259,651 691,076

Accrued salaries and benefits 110,751 60,368 166,951 75,816 151,795 565,681

Third-party payor settlements, net 173,380 104,744 67,470 15,930 136,227 497,751

Current portion of long-term debt 
      and financing obligations

21,152 2,737 28,548 25,862 5,060 83,359

Other current liabilities 36,711 15,621 6,843 12,953 103,171 175,299

Current liabilities 408,938 230,244 471,304 246,776 655,904 2,013,166
Long-term debt and financing obligations, 
      net of current portion

342,030 335,335 908,811 792,429 922,666 3,301,271

Net pension liability 643,552 292,837 706,286 460,577 910,558 3,013,810

Net retiree health benefits liability 1,215,567 548,548 1,404,685 867,819 1,789,855 5,826,474

Notes payable to campus 20,632 95,000 115,632

Pension payable to University 266,959 117,776 294,440 192,368 369,031 1,240,574

Interest rate swap agreements 49,068 6,435 55,503

Self-insurance 18,413 18,413

Other noncurrent liabilities 3,565 10,945 14,510

Noncurrent liabilities 2,468,108 1,315,128 3,363,290 2,411,758 4,027,903 13,586,187

Total liabilities 2,877,046 1,545,372 3,834,594 2,658,534 4,683,807 15,599,353

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 388,442 234,578 447,245 274,761 583,859 1,928,885

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 698,049 421,341 780,373 847,607 1,447,759 4,195,129

Restricted: Nonexpendable endowments and gifts 603 27,715 28,318

Restricted: Expendable capital projects and other 45,783 41,547 10,281 49,530 147,141

Unrestricted (1,307,330) (723,938) (1,129,481) (938,379) (1,699,771) (5,798,899)

Total net position ($563,498) ($261,050) ($338,224) ($90,772) ($174,767) ($1,428,311)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS 

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
At June 30, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the year ended June 30, 2019 (in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL
(memorandum only)

Net patient service revenue $2,276,798 $1,167,754 $2,721,912 $1,955,993 $4,530,333 $12,652,790

Other operating revenue:

Clinical teaching support 7,882 13,467 21,349

Grants and contracts 43,134 43,134

Other 52,492 103,298 123,552 111,455 245,747 636,544

Total other operating revenue 52,492 111,180 137,019 111,455 288,881 701,027

Total operating revenue 2,329,290 1,278,934 2,858,931 2,067,448 4,819,214 13,353,817

Operating expenses:

Salaries and wages 937,657 452,767 1,052,871 741,263 1,718,914 4,903,472

Pension benefits 300,946 130,154 315,589 238,764 490,465 1,475,918

Retiree health benefits 85,796 33,989 84,132 80,030 171,511 455,458

Other employee benefits 192,312 71,179 214,621 186,947 311,284 976,343

Professional services 139,095 17,919 31,298 71,961 826,532 1,086,805

Medical supplies 353,221 236,457 412,930 490,104 690,118 2,182,830

Other supplies and purchased services 167,610 151,855 377,532 160,971 409,569 1,267,537

Depreciation and amortization 84,354 84,675 152,840 102,640 212,222 636,731

Insurance and other 91,207 25,357 49,088 84,290 127,785 377,727

Total operating expenses 2,352,198 1,204,352 2,690,901 2,156,970 4,958,400 13,362,821

Income (loss) from operations (22,908) 74,582 168,030 (89,522) (139,186) (9,004)

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Hospital Fee Program grants 8,152 7,409 5,564 3,856 8,628 33,609

Investment income 23,514 9,059 30,459 7,513 26,273 96,818

Build America Bonds federal interest subsidies 3,371 3,092 2,375 15,172 24,010

Private gifts, net 31,735 31,735

Net appreciation in fair value of investments 3,536 10,848 9,414 23,798

Interest expense (7,591) (15,511) (33,562) (39,150) (35,763) (131,577)

Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 950 (407) (1,360) (259) (409) (1,485)

Other (12,201) (13,440) 2,562 (2,013) (10,878) (35,970)

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 16,360 (9,519) 17,603 (27,678) 44,172 40,938

Income (loss) before other changes in net position (6,548) 65,063 185,633 (117,200) (95,014) 31,934

Other changes in net position:

Donated assets 23 181 10,950 127,498 138,652

Contributions (distributions) for building programs 2,141 8,937 239 (1,408) 9,909

Contributions for joint venture 13,848 13,848

Transfers from (to) University, net (22,611) 39,622 (9,005) 8,006

Changes in allocation for pension payable to 
University

(3,651) (2,767) 3,866 (5,486) (14,359) (22,397)

Health system support (29,033) (85,051) (218,228) (127,684) (146,232) (606,228)

Other changes in net position (53,131) (39,259) (200,094) (132,633) (33,093) (458,210)

Increase (decrease) in net position (59,679) 25,804 (14,461) (249,833) (128,107) (426,276)

Net position:

Beginning of year (563,498) (261,050) (338,224) (90,772) (174,767) (1,428,311)

End of year ($623,177) ($235,246) ($352,685) ($340,605) ($302,874) ($1,854,587)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS

STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
For the year ended June 30, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL
(memorandum only)

Net patient service revenue $2,172,804 $1,124,757 $2,395,252 $1,838,912 $4,155,733 $11,687,458

Other operating revenue:

Clinical teaching support 7,882 13,467 21,349

Grants and contracts 43,766 43,766

Other 48,957 44,865 105,346 99,317 170,907 469,392

Total other operating revenue 48,957 52,747 118,813 99,317 214,673 534,507

Total operating revenue 2,221,761 1,177,504 2,514,065 1,938,229 4,370,406 12,221,965

Operating expenses:

Salaries and wages 898,454 427,120 1,011,430 671,513 1,589,405 4,597,922

Pension benefits 107,400 37,541 121,203 86,068 194,567 546,779

Retiree health benefits 89,497 34,908 109,242 77,397 161,755 472,799

Other employee benefits 174,866 89,914 202,184 185,116 269,081 921,161

Professional services 129,586 22,414 35,315 63,125 726,528 976,968

Medical supplies 344,284 183,205 361,874 408,936 609,932 1,908,231

Other supplies and purchased services 139,897 145,814 360,111 150,869 368,743 1,165,434

Depreciation and amortization 76,331 78,723 147,785 93,379 216,292 612,510

Insurance and other 85,254 23,024 44,903 77,362 105,813 336,356

Total operating expenses 2,045,569 1,042,663 2,394,047 1,813,765 4,242,116 11,538,160

Income from operations 176,192 134,841 120,018 124,464 128,290 683,805

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):

Hospital Fee Program grants 4,041 3,685 6,584 5,596 7,238 27,144

Investment income 13,952 5,573 21,720 4,881 17,390 63,516

Build America Bonds federal interest subsidies 3,353 3,074 2,368 15,089 23,884

Private gifts, net 31,034 31,034

Net appreciation in fair value of investments 9,645 19,273 28,918

Interest expense (6,989) (12,927) (34,419) (37,532) (43,844) (135,711)

Gain (loss) on disposal of capital assets 266 (6) (470) (525) (298) (1,033)

Other 4,342 (12,439) 3,738 253 307 (3,799)

Net nonoperating revenues (expenses) 15,612 (12,761) 9,872 (24,959) 46,189 33,953

Income before other changes in net position 191,804 122,080 129,890 99,505 174,479 717,758

Other changes in net position:

Donated assets (466) 5,149 120,820 125,503

Contributions (distributions) for building programs 1,066 1,566 (23,133) 1,251 (19,250)

Transfers from (to) University, net (19,570) 6,198 12,629 (3,034) 15,850 12,073

Changes in allocation for pension payable to 
University

2,032 9,523 (1,148) (10,528) (3,175) (3,296)

Health system support (30,285) (48,173) (212,827) (124,055) (116,286) (531,626)

Other changes in net position (46,757) (30,886) (201,812) (155,601) 18,460 (416,596)

Increase (decrease) in net position 145,047 91,194 (71,922) (56,096) 192,939 301,162

Net position:

Beginning of year (708,545) (352,244) (266,302) (34,676) (367,706) (1,729,473)

End of year ($563,498) ($261,050) ($338,224) ($90,772) ($174,767) ($1,428,311)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended June 30, 2019 (in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL 
(memorandum only)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from patients and third-party payors $2,235,509 $1,159,008 $2,684,363 $1,981,047 $4,499,004 $12,558,931

Payments to employees (913,403) (445,323) (1,050,017) (727,317) (1,732,783) (4,868,843)

Payments to suppliers (735,464) (407,832) (815,415) (816,457) (1,956,756) (4,731,924)

Payments for benefits (339,677) (142,782) (365,836) (301,339) (765,714) (1,915,348)

Other receipts 73,196 74,658 87,931 138,721 388,013 762,519

Net cash provided by operating activities 320,161 237,729 541,026 274,655 431,764 1,805,335

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Health system support (29,033) (85,051) (218,228) (127,684) (146,232) (606,228)

Grants from the Hospital Fee Program 8,921 7,409 5,564 3,856 8,628 34,378

Transfers from (to) University, net (22,611) 39,622 (9,005) 8,006

Gifts received for other than capital purposes 31,735 31,735

Repayment of notes payable to campus (5,158) (5,158)

Net cash used by noncapital financing activities (42,723) (43,178) (212,664) (132,833) (105,869) (537,267)

Cash flows from capital and related  
   financing activities:

Contributions (distributions) for building programs 2,141 8,937 (1,408) 9,670

Proceeds from financing obligations  
   and other borrowings

6,482 6,482

Build America Bonds federal interest subsidies 3,371 3,092 2,376 15,172 24,011

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 4 110 14,136 14,250

Purchases of capital assets (128,593) (93,046) (111,349) (65,001) (261,638) (659,627)

Scheduled principal paid on long-term debt  
   and financing obligations

(17,900) (1,531) (21,779) (22,855) (4,355) (68,420)

Interest paid on long-term debt  
   and financing obligations

(13,017) (16,716) (39,589) (42,442) (53,670) (165,434)

Gifts and donated funds 23 181 10,950 127,498 138,652

Repayment of notes payable to campus (1,442) (1,442)

Other nonoperating receipts (payments) (39) 2,800 416 253 3,430

Net cash used by capital and  
   related financing activities

(157,342) (99,024) (166,534) (98,788) (176,740) (698,428)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment income received 21,890 9,059 30,459 7,512 26,273 95,193

Contributions to investments in joint ventures, net (15,326) (4,134) (21,249) (40,709)

Purchase of investments (100,576) (5,997) (1,709) (108,282)

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 2,406 2,406

Change in restricted assets 32,065 32,200 (45) 1,295 (22,051) 43,464

Other nonoperating receipts (payments) 4,651 (13,401) (9,656) (18,406)

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities (41,970) 27,858 9,091 4,673 (25,986) (26,334)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 78,126 123,385 170,919 47,707 123,169 543,306

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 741,159 331,844 943,930 293,548 823,411 3,133,892

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $819,285 $455,229 $1,114,849 $341,255 $946,580 $3,677,198
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS continued
For the year ended June 30, 2019 (in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL 
(memorandum only)

Reconciliation of income (loss) from operations  
   to net cash provided by operating activities:

Income (loss) from operations ($22,908) $74,582 $168,030 ($89,522) ($139,186) ($9,004)

Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from operations  
   to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 84,354 84,675 152,840 102,640 212,222 636,731

Provision for uncollectible accounts 92,731 79,962 45,706 23,308 45,779 287,486

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Patient accounts receivable (113,710) (82,812) (114,511) (68,675) (133,890) (513,598)

Other receivables (32) (9,008) 3,239 188 (1,469) (7,082)

Inventory (3,441) 1,683 (4,819) (1,837) (1,860) (10,274)

Prepaid expenses and other assets (67) (8,580) (6,075) 1,410 (51,312) (64,624)

Other assets 5,228 12,169 17,397

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 19,243 5,296 13,613 20,865 11,244 70,261

Accrued salaries and benefits 31,406 7,444 10,193 13,946 4,127 67,116

Third-party payor settlements (13,311) (5,896) 29,989 70,421 56,782 137,985

Other liabilities 9,827 (2,157) 1,653 (2,491) 10,189 17,021

Pension benefits 173,615 72,124 187,649 145,375 422,907 1,001,670

Retiree health benefits 57,226 20,416 53,519 59,027 (15,938) 174,250

Net cash provided by operating activities $320,161 $237,729 $541,026 $274,655 $431,764 $1,805,335

SUPPLEMENTAL NONCASH ACTIVITIES INFORMATION

Payables for property and equipment $12,870 $1,881 $5,487 $2,197 $17,520 $39,955

Amortization of bond premium 3,252 1,205 6,769 4,035 705 15,966

Capital asset transfers from (to) the University 97 (921) (13,480) (14,304)

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps 16,098 (1,885) 14,213

Swap fair value amortization (1,046) (1,046)

Beneficial interests in irrevocable split-interest agreements 14,793 14,793

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended June 30, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL 
(memorandum only)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Receipts from patients and third-party payors $2,137,790 $1,075,330 $2,424,797 $1,723,041 $4,119,593 $11,480,551

Payments to employees (891,423) (453,987) (1,004,666) (665,276) (1,634,372) (4,649,724)

Payments to suppliers (717,905) (356,920) (791,467) (727,947) (1,742,457) (4,336,696)

Payments for benefits (334,815) (130,758) (378,375) (292,960) (572,134) (1,709,042)

Other receipts 43,896 (6,722) 103,350 133,658 209,776 483,958

Net cash provided by operating activities 237,543 126,943 353,639 170,516 380,406 1,269,047

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:

Health system support (30,285) (48,173) (200,198) (124,055) (116,286) (518,997)

Grants from the Hospital Fee Program 7,045 3,685 6,584 5,596 7,238 30,148

Transfers from (to) University, net (19,570) (11,270) (30,840)

Gifts received for other than capital purposes 31,038 31,038

Repayment of notes payable to campus (5,158) (75,000) (80,158)

Net cash used by noncapital financing activities (42,810) (49,646) (268,614) (129,729) (78,010) (568,809)

Cash flows from capital and related  
   financing activities:

Contributions (distributions) for building programs 1,066 1,566 (23,133) 1,251 (19,250)

Proceeds from financing obligations 
   and other borrowings

5,340 1,765 24,030 263,123 294,258

Build America Bonds federal interest subsidies 3,353 3,074 2,368 15,089 23,884

Proceeds from sale of capital assets 62 332 394

Purchases of capital assets (110,227) (97,856) (115,657) (115,339) (212,689) (651,768)

Refinancing or prepayment of outstanding debt (4,595) (1,875) (20,680) (225,521) (252,671)

Scheduled principal paid on long-term debt  
   and financing obligations

(18,436) (1,539) (20,231) (19,527) (4,210) (63,943)

Interest paid on long-term debt  
   and financing obligations

(12,895) (15,265) (41,657) (41,715) (54,211) (165,743)

Gifts and donated funds (466) 5,149 120,820 125,503

Other nonoperating receipts (payments) 2,440 247 254 253 (142) 3,052

Net cash used by capital and  
   related financing activities

(137,245) (109,604) (171,333) (154,010) (134,092) (706,284)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Investment income received 11,892 5,573 21,720 4,881 17,390 61,456

Distributions from (contributions to) investments  
   in joint ventures, net

150 3,416 1,252 (4,342) 476

Purchase of investments (5,512) (4,566) (10,078)

Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments 2,284 2,284

Change in restricted assets 40,965 28,155 2,853 5,816 17,173 94,962

Other nonoperating receipts (payments) 2,255 (12,439) 444 (9,740)

Net cash provided by investing activities 55,262 21,289 22,477 11,949 28,383 139,360

Net increase (decrease) in cash and  
   cash equivalents

112,750 (11,018) (63,831) (101,274) 196,687 133,314

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year 628,409 342,862 1,007,761 394,822 626,724 3,000,578

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year $741,159 $331,844 $943,930 $293,548 $823,411 $3,133,892
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UNIVERSIT Y OF CALIFORNIA MEDICAL CENTERS 

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS continued
For the year ended June 30, 2018 (in thousands of dollars)

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL 
(memorandum only)

Reconciliation of income from operations to net cash 
provided by operating activities:

Income from operations $176,192 $134,841 $120,018 $124,464 $128,290 $683,805

Adjustments to reconcile income from operations to net 
cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization expense 76,331 78,723 147,785 93,379 216,292 612,510

Provision for uncollectible accounts 118,743 58,513 33,960 28,622 30,362 270,200

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Patient accounts receivable (124,649) (91,417) (46,906) (95,900) (70,006) (428,878)

Other receivables (3,397) (39,374) (12,157) (2,751) (46,532) (104,211)

Inventory (3,021) (2,204) (2,968) (3,296) (4,442) (15,931)

Prepaid expenses and other assets (11,556) 1,629 (8,590) (6,053) (7,609) (32,179)

Other assets (84,797) (84,797)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (3,841) (4,912) 19,522 8,627 28,953 48,349

Accrued salaries and benefits 12,051 (1,021) 9,395 6,237 (47,878) (21,216)

Third-party payor settlements 47,155 (16,523) 42,762 (48,593) 3,504 28,305

Other liabilities 4,542 2,929 (804) 10,159 41,056 57,882

Pension benefits (26,692) (16,057) (24,093) (1,066) 73,695 5,787

Retiree health benefits 60,482 21,816 75,715 56,687 34,721 249,421

Net cash provided by operating activities $237,543 $126,943 $353,639 $170,516 $380,406 $1,269,047

SUPPLEMENTAL NONCASH ACTIVITIES INFORMATION

Payables for property and equipment $23,823 $2,475 $9,499 $4,317 $31,116 $71,230

Bond retirements (3,480) (3,480)

Amortization of bond premium 3,403 1,384 6,743 2,891 1,197 15,618

Capital asset transfers from (to) the University (10,637) 1,566 (9,071)

Change in fair value of interest rate swaps (12,870) (2,989) (15,859)

Swap fair value amortization (1,046) (1,046)

Advances from University 21,336 21,336

Beneficial interests in irrevocable split-interest agreements 12,798 12,798

Notes receivable for net patient service revenue 95,610 95,610

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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U N I V E R S I T Y  O F  C A L I F O R N I A  M E D I C A L  C E N T E R  P O O L E D  G R O U P 

Notes to Financial Statements 
Years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018

1. ORGANIZATION
The University of California, Medical Centers (the Medical Centers) are operating units of the University of California (the University), 
a California public corporation under Article IX, Section 9 of the California Constitution. Since a majority of the Regents are appointed 
by the governor and approved by the state Senate, the University is a component unit of the state of California. The University is 
administered by The Regents of the University of California (The Regents) of which, under the formation documents of the University, 
administrative authority with respect to the Medical Centers is vested in the President of the University. The Medical Centers consist of 
the University of California, Davis Medical Center (UC Davis Medical Center or Davis), the University of California, Irvine Medical Center 
(UC Irvine Medical Center or Irvine), the University of California, Los Angeles Medical Center (UCLA Medical Center or Los Angeles),  
the University of California, San Diego Medical Center (UC San Diego Medical Center or San Diego) and the University of California,  
San Francisco Medical Center (UCSF Medical Center or San Francisco). The Medical Centers provide educational and clinical opportunities 
for students in the University’s Schools of Medicine (Schools of Medicine) and offer a comprehensive array of medical services including 
tertiary and quaternary care services.

The financial statements of the Medical Centers present the financial position, and the changes in financial position and cash flows,  
of only that portion of the University that is attributable to the transactions of the Medical Centers.

The Regents are the sole corporate and voting member of Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland (CHRCO), a private, not-for-profit  
501(c)(3) corporation. Children’s Hospital & Research Center Foundation, a nonprofit public benefit corporation, is organized and operated 
for the purpose of supporting CHRCO. Since San Francisco provides certain management services for CHRCO, CHRCO combined with its 
foundation is included with UCSF Medical Center in the financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The financial statements of the Medical Centers have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America, including all applicable Statements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The proprietary 
fund method of accounting is followed and uses the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.

GASB Statement No. 83, Certain Asset Retirement Obligations, was adopted by the Medical Centers as of July 1, 2018. The Statement 
establishes guidance for determining the timing and pattern of recognition for liabilities and corresponding deferred outflow of 
resources related to asset retirement obligations. The Statement requires the measurement of an asset retirement obligation to be 
based on the best estimate of the current value of outlays expected to be incurred. The deferred outflow of resources associated with 
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an asset retirement obligation is measured at the amount of the corresponding liability upon initial measurement and is generally 
recognized as an expense during the reporting periods that the asset provides service. The adoption of Statement No. 83 did not result 
in any adjustments to the previously issued financial statements of the Medical Centers.

GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements, was implemented by the 
Medical Centers as of July 1, 2018. This Statement defines debt for purposes of disclosures in notes to financial statements as a liability 
that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash (or other assets that may be used in lieu of cash) in one or more payments to settle 
an amount that is fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established. This Statement requires additional disclosures related 
to debt including providing additional information for direct borrowings and direct placements of debt separately from other debt. 
Implementation of Statement No. 88 had no impact on the financial statements.

Significant accounting policies of the Medical Centers are as follows (total columns are memorandum only):

Cash and cash equivalents. All University operating entities maximize the returns on their cash balances by investing in a Short Term 
Investment Pool (STIP) managed by the Treasurer of The Regents. The Regents are responsible for managing the University’s STIP and 
establishing the investment policy, which is carried out by the Treasurer of The Regents.

Substantially all of the Medical Centers’ cash is deposited into the STIP. The Medical Centers consider demand deposits and STIP balances, 
other than amounts held in for construction, to be cash and cash equivalents. 

The net asset value for the STIP is held at a constant value of $1, not adjusted for unrealized gains and losses associated with the 
fluctuation in the fair value of the investments included in the STIP (which are predominately held to maturity) and are not recorded  
by each operating entity but absorbed by the University as the manager of the pool. None of these amounts are insured by the  
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. To date, the Medical Centers have not experienced any losses on these accounts.

Interest income is reported as nonoperating revenue in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Additional information on cash and investments can be obtained from the University’s 2018-2019 annual report.

UCSF Medical Center includes certain investments in highly liquid debt instruments with original maturities of three months or less as 
cash and cash equivalents. 

Investments. Investments are reported at fair value. The Medical Centers’ investments consist of investments in the UC Regents Total 
Return Investment Pool (TRIP), Blue and Gold Pool (BGP) and General Endowment Pool (GEP). UCSF Medical Center’s investments 
consist of investments in the UCSF Foundation’s (UCSFF’s) Endowed Investment Pool (EIP), the University’s STIP and other investment 
securities. The basis of determining the fair value of pooled funds or mutual funds is determined as the number of units held in the 
pool multiplied by the price per unit share, computed on the last day of the month. Securities are generally valued at the last sale price 
on the last business day of the fiscal year, as quoted on a recognized exchange or by utilizing an industry standard pricing service, 
when available. Securities for which no sale was reported as of the close of the last business day of the fiscal year are valued at the 
quoted bid price of a dealer who regularly trades in the security being valued. Certain securities may be valued on a basis of a price 
provided by a single source. 

Investment transactions are recorded on the date the securities are purchased or sold (trade date). Realized gains or losses are recorded  
as the difference between the proceeds from the sale and the average cost of the investment sold. Dividend income is recorded on the  
ex-dividend date and interest income is accrued as earned. Gifts of securities are recorded at estimated fair value at the date of donation. 

Inventory. The Medical Centers’ inventory consists primarily of pharmaceuticals and medical supplies which are stated on a first-in, 
first-out basis at the lower of cost or market.

Prepaid expenses and other assets. The Medical Centers’ prepaid expenses are primarily prepayments for pharmaceuticals and 
medical supplies, rent, equipment and maintenance contracts. Other assets include beneficial interests in irrevocable split-interest 
agreements administered by third parties.

Restricted assets, deposits held for hospital construction. The University directly finances the construction, renovation and 
acquisition of facilities and equipment as authorized by The Regents through the issuance of debt obligations. Bond proceeds are 
primarily invested in STIP and are released to the Medical Centers when spent on qualifying expenditures for hospital construction. 

Restricted assets, donor funds. The Medical Centers have been designated as the trustees for several charitable remainder trusts.  
The trusts are established by donors to provide income to designated beneficiaries, generally for life. Upon maturity, the principal  
in the trusts will be distributed to the Medical Centers. Trust assets are recorded at fair value. 
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The Medical Centers have been named the irrevocable beneficiaries for several charitable remainder trusts for which the Medical 
Centers are not the trustees. Upon maturity of each trust, the remainder of the trust corpus will be transferred to the Medical Centers. 
These funds cannot be sold, disbursed or consumed until a specified number of years have passed or a specific event has occurred.  
The Medical Centers recognize contribution revenue when all eligibility requirements have been met.

Beneficial interests in irrevocable split-interest agreements. The beneficial interests in irrevocable split-interest agreements represent 
the Medical Centers’ right to the portion of the benefits from the irrevocable split-interest agreements that are administered by third 
parties and are recognized as an asset and deferred inflows of resources. These are measured at fair value and are reported as other 
noncurrent assets in the statements of net position. Changes in the fair value of the beneficial interest asset are recognized as an 
increase or decrease in the related deferred inflows of resources. At the termination of the agreement, net assets received from the 
beneficial interests are recognized as revenues. 

Capital assets, net. The Medical Centers’ capital assets are reported at cost at the date of acquisition. Depreciation is recorded on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The range of the estimated useful lives for the Medical Centers’ buildings 
and land improvements is 5 to 40 years and 2 to 20 years for equipment. University guidelines mandate that land purchased with 
the Medical Centers’ funds is recorded as an asset of the Medical Centers. Land utilized by the Medical Centers but purchased with 
other sources of funds is recorded as an asset of the University. Significant additions, replacements, major repairs and renovations 
to infrastructure and buildings are generally capitalized by the Medical Centers if the cost exceeds $35,000 and if they have a useful 
life of more than one year. Minor renovations are charged to operations. Equipment with a cost in excess of $5,000 and a useful life 
of more than one year is capitalized. Incremental costs, including salaries and employee benefits, directly related to the acquisition, 
development and installation of major software projects are included in the cost of the capital assets. Interest on borrowings to finance 
facilities is capitalized during construction, net of any investment income earned on tax-exempt borrowings during the temporary 
investment of project-related borrowings.

Investments in joint ventures. Certain Medical Centers have entered into joint-venture arrangements with various third-party entities  
that include home health services, cancer center operations and a health maintenance organization. Investments in these joint 
ventures are recorded using the equity method.

Interest rate swap agreements. Certain Medical Centers have entered into interest rate swap agreements to limit the exposure of their 
variable-rate debt to changes in market interest rates. These derivative financial instruments are agreements that involve the exchange 
with a counterparty of fixed- and variable-rate interest payments periodically over the life of the agreement without exchange of 
the underlying notional principal amounts. The difference to be paid or received is recognized over the life of the agreements as an 
adjustment to interest expense. 

Interest rate swaps are recorded at fair value as either assets or liabilities in the statements of net position. The Medical Centers have 
determined that the market interest rate swaps are hedging derivatives that hedge future cash flows. Under hedge accounting, 
changes in the fair value are considered to be deferred inflows (for hedging derivatives with positive fair values) or deferred outflows 
(for hedging derivatives with negative fair values). 

At the time of pricing certain interest rate swaps, the fixed rate of the swaps was off-market such that the Medical Centers received 
an up-front payment. As such, the swaps consist of an at-the-market interest rate swap derivative instrument and a borrowing, 
represented by the up-front payment. The unamortized amount of the borrowing is included in the current and noncurrent portion  
of debt and amortized as interest expense over the term of the bonds.

Bond premium. The premium received in the issuance of long-term debt is amortized as a reduction to interest expense over the term 
of the related long-term debt. 

Self-insurance programs. The University is self-insured or insured through a wholly owned captive insurance company for medical 
malpractice, workers’ compensation, employee health care and general liability claims. These risks are subject to various claim and 
aggregate limits, with excess liability coverage provided by an independent insurer. 

Liabilities are recorded when it is probable a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses 
include an estimate for claims that have been incurred, but not reported. The estimated liabilities are based upon an independent 
actuarial determination of the present value of the anticipated future payments. While the Medical Centers participate in the self-
insurance programs, they are administered by the University of California Office of the President. Accordingly, the self-insurance assets 
and liabilities are not included in the accompanying financial statements. 

70



CHRCO has a claims-made policy for medical malpractice claims. Under this policy, insurance premiums cover only those claims 
actually reported during the policy term. Should the claims-made policy not be renewed, or replaced with equivalent insurance, 
claims related to occurrences during their terms but reported subsequent to their termination may be uninsured. CHRCO has a high-
deductible, per-occurrence policy for workers’ compensation with no limit, and is effectively self-insured due to the high deductible. 
CHRCO has a self-insured preferred provider organization plan for health claims. 

Asset retirement obligations. Upon an obligating event, the Medical Centers record the costs of any expected tangible capital asset 
retirement obligations using the best estimate of the current value of outlays expected to be incurred. The liabilities are reviewed 
annually and may change as a result of additional information that refines the estimates. Actual asset retirement obligation costs may 
vary from these estimates as a result of changes in assumptions such as asset retirement dates, regulatory requirements, technology 
and costs of labor, materials and equipment. 

Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
represent a consumption and acquisition of net position that applies to a future period, respectively. The Medical Centers classify gains 
on refunding of debt, increases in the fair value of the hedging derivatives and changes in irrevocable split-interest agreements as 
deferred inflows of resources. The Medical Centers classify losses on refunding of debt, decreases in the fair value of hedging derivatives 
and certain asset retirement obligations as deferred outflows of resources. Gains or losses on refunding of debt are amortized as a 
component of interest expense over the remaining life of the old debt, or the new debt, whichever is shorter. Asset retirement obligations 
are recognized over the remaining useful life of the related asset. Revenues from split-interest agreements are recognized when the 
resources become available to spend.

Changes in net pension and retiree health liabilities not included in expense, including proportionate shares of collective pension and 
retiree health expenses from the University of California Retirement Plan, are reported as deferred outflows of resources or deferred 
inflows of resources. 

Net position. Net position is required to be classified for accounting and reporting purposes in the following categories:

Net Investment in Capital Assets — Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by outstanding principal balances of 
debt attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.

Restricted — The Medical Centers classify net position resulting from transactions with purpose restrictions as restricted net assets 
until the resources are used for the specific purpose or for as long as the provider requires the resources to remain intact.

Nonexpendable — Net position subject to externally imposed restrictions that must be retained in perpetuity. Also included in 
nonexpendable net position are minority interests, which include the net position of legally separate organizations attributable 
to other participants.

Expendable — Net position whose use is subject to externally imposed restrictions that can be fulfilled by actions pursuant to 
those restrictions or that expire by the passage of time.

Unrestricted — Net positions that are neither restricted nor invested in capital assets, net of related debt. Unrestricted net position 
may be designated for specific purposes by management or The Regents. Substantially all unrestricted net positions are allocated 
for operating initiatives or programs, or for capital programs. 

Expenses are charged to either restricted or unrestricted net position based upon a variety of factors, including consideration of prior 
and future revenue sources, the type of expense incurred, budgetary policies surrounding the various revenue sources or whether the 
expense is a recurring cost. Unrestricted net position is negative due primarily to obligations for pension and retiree health benefits 
exceeding the Medical Centers’ reserves.

Contributions received by CHRCO may be designated by the donor for restricted purposes or may be without restriction as to their 
use. Contributions restricted by donors as to use or time period are reported as restricted until used in a manner designated or 
upon expiration of the time period. Under California law, income and gains on permanently restricted net position are maintained 
in restricted expendable net position until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Board of Directors in a manner 
consistent with the standard of prudence prescribed by the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act. Income and 
gains on permanently restricted net position that are available for expenditure are $9.5 million and $9.8 million as of June 30, 2019  
and 2018, respectively.
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Revenues and expenses. Revenues received through conducting the programs and services of the Medical Centers are presented in 
the financial statements as operating revenue. Revenues include professional fees earned by the faculty physicians practicing as the 
UCSF Faculty Clinical Practices.

Operating revenues include net patient service revenue reported at the estimated net realizable amounts from patients, third-party 
payors including Medicare and Medi-Cal, and others for services rendered, including estimated retroactive audit adjustments under 
reimbursement agreements with third-party payors. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an estimated basis in the period the 
related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as final settlements are determined. Laws and regulations governing 
the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs are extremely complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable 
possibility that recorded estimates could change by a material amount in the near term. The Medical Centers believe that they are in 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations related to the Medicare and Medi-Cal programs.

The Medical Centers estimate and recognize a provision for uncollectible accounts based on historical experience.

CHRCO receives grants from federal agencies and other third parties. Government grants are reimbursed based on actual expenses 
incurred or units of service provided. Revenue from these grants is recognized either when expenses are incurred or when services  
are provided, depending on the grant award agreements. 

Substantially all of the Medical Centers’ operating expenses are directly or indirectly related to patient care activities. 

Nonoperating revenues and expenses include Hospital Fee Program grants, interest income and expense, federal interest subsidies, 
gains on bond retirements, the gain or loss on the disposal of capital assets and other nonoperating revenue and expenses.

Health system support, donated assets, contributions for building programs, transfers to the University and changes in allocation  
for pension payable to the University are classified as other changes in net position.

Net pension liability. The University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP) provides retirement benefits to retired employees of the 
Medical Centers. The Medical Centers are required to contribute to UCRP at a rate set by The Regents. Net pension liability includes 
the Medical Centers’ share of the University’s net pension liability for UCRP. The Medical Centers’ share of net pension liability, deferred 
inflows of resources, deferred outflows of resources and pension expense have been determined based upon their proportionate 
share of covered compensation for the fiscal year. The fiduciary net position and changes in the fiduciary net position of UCRP have 
been measured consistent with the accounting policies used by the Plan. For purposes of measuring UCRP’s fiduciary net position, 
investments are reported at fair value and benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms.

Net pension liability also includes the net pension liability for the Retirement Plan for Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
(CHRCO Plan). The net pension liability is measured as the total pension liability, less the amount of the pension plan’s fiduciary net 
position. The fiduciary net position and changes in net position have been measured consistent with the accounting policies used by 
the CHRCO Plan. The total pension liability is determined based upon discounting projected benefit payments based on the benefit 
terms and legal agreements existing at the pension plan’s fiscal year end. Projected benefit payments are discounted using a single 
rate that reflects the expected rate of return on investments, to the extent that plan assets are available to pay benefits, and a tax-exempt, 
high-quality municipal bond rate when plan assets are not available. Pension expense is recognized for benefits earned during the 
period, interest on the unfunded liability and changes in benefit terms. The differences between expected and actual experience 
and changes in assumptions about future economic or demographic factors are reported as deferred inflows or outflows and are 
recognized over the average expected remaining service period for employees eligible for pension benefits. The differences between 
expected and actual returns are reported as deferred inflows or outflows and are recognized over five years.

Net retiree health benefits liability. The University provides retiree health benefits to retired employees of the Medical Centers.  
The University established the University of California Retiree Health Benefit Trust (UCRHBT) to allow certain University locations and 
affiliates, including the Medical Centers, to share the risks, rewards and costs of providing for retiree health benefits and to accumulate 
funds on a tax-exempt basis under an arrangement segregated from University assets. Contributions from the Medical Centers to 
the UCRHBT are effectively made to a single-employer health plan administered by the University as a cost-sharing plan. The Medical 
Centers are required to contribute at a rate assessed each year by the University. 

Net retiree health benefits liability includes the Medical Centers’ share of the University’s net retiree health benefits liability for UCRHBT. 
The Medical Centers’ share of net retiree health benefits liability, deferred inflows of resources, deferred outflows of resources and 
retiree health benefits expense have been determined based upon their proportionate share of UCRP’s covered compensation for 
the fiscal year. The fiduciary net position and changes in net position of UCRHBT have been measured consistent with the accounting 
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policies used by the trust. For purposes of measuring UCRHBT’s fiduciary net position, investments are reported at fair value and 
benefit payments are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.

Pension payable to University. Additional deposits in UCRP have been made using University resources to make up the gap between 
the approved contribution rates and the required contributions based on The Regents’ funding policy. These deposits, carried as 
internal loans by the University, are being repaid by the Medical Centers, plus accrued interest, through 2042 with a supplemental 
pension assessment. The Medical Centers’ share of the internal loans has been determined based upon their proportionate share of 
covered compensation for the fiscal year. Supplemental pension assessments are reported as pension expense by the Medical Centers. 
Additional deposits in UCRP by the University, and changes in the Medical Centers’ share of the internal loans, are reported as other 
changes in net position. 

Charity care. The Medical Centers provide care to patients who meet certain criteria under their charity care policies without charge 
or at amounts less than its established rates. Amounts determined to qualify as charity care are not reported as net patient service 
revenue. The Medical Centers also provide services to other patients under publicly sponsored programs, which may reimburse at 
amounts less than the cost of the services provided to the recipients. The difference between the cost of services provided to these 
persons and the expected reimbursement is included in the estimated cost of charity care.

Transactions with the University and University affiliates. The Medical Centers have various transactions with the University and 
University affiliates. The University, as the primary reporting entity, has at its discretion the ability to transfer cash from the Medical 
Centers at will (subject to certain restrictive covenants or bond indentures) and to use that cash at its discretion. The Medical Centers 
record expense transactions where direct and incremental economic benefits are received by the Medical Centers. Payments, which 
constitute subsidies or payments for which the Medical Centers do not receive direct and incremental economic benefit, are recorded 
as health system support in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.

Certain revenues and expenses are allocated from the University to the Medical Centers. Allocated expenses reported as operating 
expenses in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position are management’s best estimates of the Medical Centers’ 
arms-length payment of such amounts for its market-specific circumstances. To the extent that payments to the University exceed an 
arms-length estimated amount relative to the benefit received by the Medical Centers, they are recorded as health system support.

Compensated absences. The Medical Centers accrue annual leave, including employer related costs, for employees at rates based 
upon length of service and job classification and compensatory time based upon job classification and hours worked.

Tax exemption. The University of California is recognized as a tax-exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue 
Code (IRC), except for tax on unrelated business income tax under IRC Section 511. The University is also exempt from federal income 
tax under IRC Section 115(a) as a state institution. In addition, the University is exempt from state income taxes imposed under the 
California Revenue and Taxation Code. CHRCO is qualified for exemption under IRC Section 501(c)(3).

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenditures during the reporting period. Although management believes these estimates and assumptions are reasonable, they are 
based upon information available at the time the estimate or judgment is made and actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2018 financial information to conform to the 2019 financial 
statement presentation.

New accounting pronouncements. In January 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, effective for the Medical 
Centers’ fiscal year beginning July 1, 2019. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local 
governments. Governments with activities meeting the criteria should present a statement of fiduciary net position and a statement  
of changes in fiduciary net position. This Statement describes four fiduciary funds that should be reported, if applicable: (1) pension 
(and other employee benefit) trust funds, (2) investment trust funds, (3) private-purpose trust funds and (4) custodial funds. Custodial 
funds generally should report fiduciary activities that are not held in a trust or equivalent arrangement that meets specific criteria.  
The Medical Centers are evaluating the effect that Statement No. 84 will have on their financial statements. 

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases, effective for the Medical Centers’ fiscal year beginning July 1, 2020. This Statement 
establishes a single approach to accounting for and reporting leases based on the principle that leases are financings of the right to 
use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use lease 
asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources. Limited exceptions to the single-
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approach guidance are provided for short-term leases, defined as lasting a maximum of twelve months at inception, including any 
options to extend financed purchases, leases of assets that are investments and certain regulated leases. The Medical Centers are 
evaluating the effect Statement No. 87 will have on their financial statements.

In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period, effective 
prospectively for the Medical Centers’ fiscal year beginning July 1, 2020. The Statement requires that interest cost incurred before the end 
of a construction period to be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred. As a result, interest costs would not be 
capitalized as part of the asset’s historical cost. For construction in progress, interest cost incurred after applying Statement No. 89 will not 
be capitalized. The Medical Centers expect interest expense to increase upon implementation of Statement No. 89.

In August 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests — An amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 61,  
effective for the Medical Centers’ fiscal year beginning July 1, 2019. The Statement defines a majority equity interest in a legally 
separate organization and clarifies the accounting and financial reporting for majority equity interests, classified as either investments 
or component units, in the financial statements. The Medical Centers are evaluating the effect that Statement No. 90 will have on their 
financial statements.

2. INVESTMENTS
The composition of investments, by investment type and fair value level at June 30, is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

FAIR VALUE 
LEVEL

DAVIS LOS ANGELES SAN FRANCISCO

2019 2019 2018 2019 2018

Fixed- or variable-income securities:

U.S. government-guaranteed:

U.S. Treasury bills, notes and bonds 2 $442 $422

U.S. government-guaranteed 442 422

Other U.S. dollar-denominated:

U.S. agencies - asset-backed securities 2 29

Other U.S. dollar-denominated 29

Commingled funds:

U.S. equity funds 1 963 1,096

Non-U.S. equity funds 1 395 404

U.S. bond funds 1 308 326

Non-U.S. bond funds 1 147 159

Money market funds 1 95 95

Balanced funds NAV $103,536 $310,295 $293,450 243,152 234,375

Commingled funds 103,536 310,295 293,450 245,060 236,455

Publicly traded real estate investment trusts 1 270 259

Total investments 103,536 310,295 293,450 245,772 237,165

Less: Current portion (103,536) (241,738) (230,080)

Less: Reported as restricted assets in donor funds (50,178) (49,066)

Noncurrent portion $68,557 $63,370 $195,594 $188,099

The University-managed commingled funds (UC pooled funds) serve as the core investment vehicle for the Medical Centers.  
A description of the funds used is as follows:

TRIP. The Total Return Investment Pool (TRIP) allows participants the opportunity to maximize the return on their long-term working  
capital by taking advantage of the economies of scale of investing in a large pool across a broad range of asset classes. TRIP supplements 
STIP by investing in an intermediate-term, higher-risk portfolio allocated across equities, fixed-income and liquid alternative strategies, 
and allows participants to maximize the return on their long-term capital. The objective of TRIP is to generate a rate of return above 
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the policy benchmark, after all costs and fees, consistent with liquidity, cash flow requirements and the risk. UCLA Medical Center’s 
investment in TRIP is classified as commingled balanced funds. TRIP is considered to be an external investment pool from the Medical 
Center’s perspective. The fair value of the UCLA Medical Center’s investment in TRIP was $241.7 million and $230.1 million at June 30, 2019 
and 2018, respectively. 

Investments in TRIP require at least one calendar quarter notice to the campus for any redemptions or withdrawals. Withdrawals will 
occur on the last business day of the month. Investments into TRIP are subject to certain withdrawal guidelines such as limiting the 
withdrawals to 10 percent of the current value of TRIP in any one quarter. 

BGP. The Blue & Gold Pool (BGP) is an investment pool established by The Regents and is available to the University and its related 
entities. The objective of BGP is to provide a low cost, liquid, diversified investment vehicle to invest long-term excess reserves to earn  
a higher return than would otherwise be expected from the STIP and TRIP. To achieve liquidity, transparency and minimal expense,  
a passive investment strategy in equities and bonds is used. UC Davis Medical Center’s investment in BGP is classified as commingled 
balanced funds. BGP is considered to be an external investment pool from the Medical Center’s perspective. The fair value of the  
UC Davis Medical Center’s investment in BGP was $103.5 million at June 30, 2019. 

GEP. The General Endowment Pool (GEP) is an investment pool in which a large number of individual endowments participate in order 
to benefit from diversification and economies of scale. GEP is a balanced portfolio of equities, fixed-income securities and alternative 
investments. The primary goal is to maximize long-term total return, growth of principal and a growing payout stream to ensure that 
future funding for endowment-supported activities can be maintained. Where donor agreements place constraints on allowable 
investments, assets associated with endowments are invested in accordance with the terms of the agreements. UCLA Medical Center’s 
investment in GEP is classified as commingled funds. GEP is considered to be an external investment pool from the Medical Center’s 
perspective. The fair value of the UCLA Medical Center’s investment in GEP was $68.6 million and $63.4 million at June 30, 2019 and 
2018, respectively. 

EIP. UCSF Medical Center invests primarily in the UCSF Foundation’s Endowed Investment Pool (EIP). EIP is the UCSF Foundation’s primary 
investment vehicle for endowed gifts. The Foundation’s primary investment objective is growth of principal sufficient to preserve 
purchasing power and provide income to support current and future activities. Investments in EIP include high-quality, readily 
marketable equity and fixed-income securities; other types of investments, including derivative instruments such as financial 
futures, may be made at the direction of the UCSF Foundation’s Investment Committee. EIP represents investments in a unitized pool.  
UCSF Medical Center’s investment in EIP is classified as commingled funds. Transactions within each individual endowment in the  
pool are based on the unit market value at the beginning or end of the month during which the transaction takes place for withdrawals 
and additions, respectively. 

Investments in the EIP by the UCSF Foundation require at least twelve months’ prior written notice of intention to terminate as of a date 
specified in the notice. Withdrawals will occur on the last business day of the month and are subject to certain withdrawal guidelines 
such as providing a forecasted schedule of cash withdrawals 90 days prior to the start of each fiscal year.  

Fair Value. Fair value is defined in the accounting standards as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Assets and liabilities reported at fair value are 
organized into a hierarchy based on the levels of inputs observable in the marketplace that are used to measure fair value. Inputs are 
used in applying the various valuation techniques and take into account the assumptions that market participants use to make valuation 
decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit data, liquidity statistics and other factors specific to the financial instrument. 
Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources. In contrast, unobservable inputs reflect the entity’s 
assumptions about how market participants would value the financial instrument. 

A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. The following describes the hierarchy of inputs used to measure fair value and the primary valuation methodologies 
used for financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

Level 1 — Prices based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible for identical assets or liabilities are 
classified as Level 1. Level 1 investments include equity securities commingled funds (exchange traded funds and mutual funds) 
and other publicly traded securities.

Level 2 — Quoted prices in markets that are not considered to be active, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources for similar 
assets or liabilities for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly are classified as Level 2. Level 2 investments 
include fixed- or variable-income securities, commingled funds (institutional funds not listed in active markets) and other assets 
that are valued using market information.
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Level 3 — Investments classified as Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade infrequently or not at all. The inputs 
into the determination of fair value of these investments are based upon the best information in the circumstance and may require 
significant management judgment.

Net Asset Value (NAV) — Investments whose fair value is measured at NAV are excluded from the fair value hierarchy. Investments in 
non-governmental entities that do not have a readily determinable fair value may be valued at NAV. Investments measured at NAV 
include commingled balanced funds.

Not Leveled — Cash and cash equivalents are not measured at fair value and, thus, are not subject to the fair value disclosure requirements. 

Investment Risk Factors
There are many factors that can affect the value of investments. Some, such as custodial credit risk, concentration of credit risk and 
foreign currency risk, may affect both equity and fixed-income securities. Equity securities respond to such factors as economic 
conditions, individual company earnings performance and market liquidity, while fixed-income securities are particularly sensitive 
to credit risks and changes in interest rates. UCLA Medical Center and UCSF Medical Center have established investment policies to 
provide the basis for the management of a prudent investment program appropriate to the particular fund type.

Credit Risk
Fixed-income securities are subject to credit risk, which is the chance that a bond issuer will fail to pay interest or principal in a timely 
manner, or that negative perceptions of the issuer’s ability to make these payments will cause the security price to decline. These 
circumstances may arise due to a variety of factors, such as financial weakness or bankruptcy. 

A bond’s credit quality is an assessment of the issuer’s ability to pay interest on the bond and, ultimately, to pay the principal. Credit 
quality is evaluated by one of the independent rating agencies; for example, Moody’s Investor Service (Moody’s) or Standard & Poor’s 
(S&P). The lower the rating, the greater the chance, in the rating agency’s opinion, that the bond issuer will default, or fail to meet its 
payment obligations. Generally, the lower a bond’s credit rating, the higher its yield should be to compensate for the additional risk. 

Certain fixed-income securities, including obligations of the U.S. government or those explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government, 
are considered to have minimal credit risk. The credit risk profile for investments at June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows: 

(in thousands of dollars)

SAN FRANCISCO

2019 2018

Fixed- or variable-income securities:

U.S. government-guaranteed $442 $422

Other U.S. dollar-denominated:

Not rated 29

Commingled funds:

U.S. bond funds: Not rated 308 326

Non-U.S. bond funds: Not rated 147 159

Money market funds: Not rated 95 95

UC Davis Medical Center’s, UCLA Medical Center’s and UCSF Medical Center’s commingled funds (including GEP, BGP, EIP and TRIP) are 
not rated. 

Custodial Credit Risk
Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the custodian, the investments may not be returned. Substantially 
all of UCSF Medical Center’s investments are registered in the name of the UCSF Foundation. UCLA Medical Center’s investments are 
registered in the name of the University. 

Concentration of Credit Risk 
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a lack of diversification of having too much invested in a few individual issuers,  
thereby exposing the organization to greater risks resulting from adverse economic, political, regulatory, geographic or credit developments. 
Securities issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government, mutual funds, external investment pools and other pooled investments 
are not subject to concentration of credit risk. Investments in the various investment pools managed by the Office of the Chief Investment 
Officer of the Regents and the UCSF Foundation are external investment pools and are not subject to concentration of credit risk. There is 
no concentration of any single individual issuer of investments that comprises more than five percent of total investments. 
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Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of fixed-income securities will decline because of changing interest rates. The prices of 
fixed-income securities with a longer time to maturity, measured by effective duration, tend to be more sensitive to changes in interest 
rates and, therefore, more volatile than those with shorter durations. Effective duration is the approximate change in price of a security 
resulting from a 100-basis-point (1-percentage-point) change in the level of interest rates. It is not a measure of time. 

The effective durations for fixed- or variable-income securities at June 30, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:

SAN FRANCISCO

2019 2018

U.S. government-guaranteed:

U.S. Treasury bills, notes and bonds 5.3 5.5

UCSF Medical Center considers the effective duration for money market funds to be zero, and effective duration information for the EIP 
is unavailable.

Investments include other asset-backed securities, which generate a return based upon either the payment of interest or principal on 
obligations in an underlying pool, generally associated with auto loans or credit cards. The relationship between interest rates and 
prepayments makes the fair value highly sensitive to changes in interest rates. 

Foreign Currency Risk
The University’s strategic asset allocation policy for TRIP, BGP and GEP as well as the UCSF Foundation’s asset allocation strategy 
includes allocations to non-U.S. equities and non-dollar-denominated bonds. Exposure from foreign currency risk results from 
investments in foreign currency-denominated equity, fixed-income and private equity securities. At June 30, 2019 and 2018, UCSF 
Medical Center is subject to foreign currency risk as a result of holding various currency denominations in the following investments: 

(in thousands of dollars)

SAN FRANCISCO

2019 2018

Commingled funds:

Non-U.S. equity funds $395 $404

Non-U.S. bond funds 147 159

Real estate investment trusts 92 97

Total exposure to foreign currency risk $634 $660

3. NET PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE
The Medical Centers have agreements with third-party payors that provide for payments at amounts different from the Medical 
Centers’ established rates. A summary of the payment arrangements with major third-party payors follows:

Medicare. Medicare patient revenues include traditional reimbursement under Title XVIII of the Social Security Act or Medicare 
capitated contract revenue.

Inpatient acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at prospectively determined rates per discharge. 
These rates vary according to a patient classification system that is based on clinical, diagnostic and other factors. Inpatient non-acute 
services, certain outpatient services and medical education costs related to Medicare beneficiaries are paid based, in part, on a cost 
reimbursement methodology. Medicare reimburses hospitals for covered outpatient services rendered to its beneficiaries by way of an 
outpatient prospective payment system based on ambulatory payment classifications. The Medical Centers do not believe that there 
are significant credit risks associated with the Medicare program.

The Medical Centers are reimbursed for cost reimbursable items at a tentative rate with final settlement of such items determined after 
submission of annual cost reports and audits thereof by the Medicare fiscal intermediary. The Medical Centers’ classification of patients 
under the Medicare program and the appropriateness of their admission are subject to an independent review by a peer review 
organization. The Medical Centers have received final notices from the Medicare fiscal intermediary through June 30, 2013, for UC Davis 
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Medical Center, except for 2004 and 2005, which are still under review; through June 30, June 30, 2011 for UC Irvine Medical Center, 
except for 2003 through 2005, which are currently under review; through June 30, 2012 for Ronald Reagan UCLA Medical Center; 
through June 30, 2016 for the Santa Monica Hospital; through June 30, 2017 for the Resnick Neuropsychiatric Hospital; through June 
30, 2011 except for 2008 and 2010, for UC San Diego Medical Center; through 2011 for UCSF Medical Center, except for 2004 and 2005, 
which are currently under review; and through 2014 for CHRCO. The fiscal intermediary is in the process of conducting their audits of 
the subsequent cost reports. The results of these audits have yet to be finalized and any amounts due to or from Medicare have not 
been determined. Estimated receivables and payables related to all open cost reporting periods are included in the statements of net 
position as third-party payor settlements.

Medi-Cal. The Medicaid program is referred to as Medi-Cal in California. Medi-Cal fee-for-service (FFS) inpatient hospital payments 
are made in accordance with the federal Medicaid hospital financing waiver and legislation enacted by the state of California (Waiver 
Program). The Waiver Program has been enacted in three five-year phases, the first covering 2006 through 2010, the second covering 
2011 through 2015 and the third covering 2016 through 2020. The total payments under the Waiver Program made to the Medical 
Centers include a combination of Medi-Cal inpatient FFS payments, Medi-Cal Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments and 
the Safety Net Care Pool. Effective November 2011 through 2015, the Medical Centers are also eligible to receive incentive payments 
designed to encourage delivery system innovation in connection with federal health care reform. Effective July 2017, the Medical 
Centers may be eligible to receive enhanced payments and additional reimbursement for Medi-Cal managed care patients. However, 
since final approval of these payments is still pending with the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services, the Medical Centers have 
not recognized revenues as of June 30, 2019 for such payments. 

The Medical Centers are reimbursed at interim rates with final settlement of such items determined after submission of annual filings and 
audits thereof by the state. Payments under The Waiver Program are based on the allocation of pooled funds amongst all participating 
designated public hospitals in the state and are subject to change based on the audit results of the other participating designated 
public hospitals. The Medical Centers have received final settlements for the Waiver Program through 2007. The state is in the process 
of conducting audits of subsequent years of the Waiver Program. The results of these audits have yet to be finalized and any amounts 
due to or from Medi-Cal have not been determined. Estimated receivables and payables related to all Waiver Program reporting 
periods are included in the statements of net position as third-party payor settlements.

CHRCO has a contractual agreement with the Medi-Cal program, which includes patients that qualify for California Children’s Services. 
CHRCO is an essential Medi-Cal and California Children’s Services provider. Inpatient services are reimbursed by the All Patient Refined 
Diagnosis Related Group, at a per-case rate based upon acuity. Outpatient services are paid via fee schedules. In addition, CHRCO  
is the recipient of Medi-Cal funds under various state of California programs, in particular the Private Hospital Supplemental Fund  
and DSH. The state of California funds eligible hospitals based upon the total pool of funding available and a formula for distribution.  
The legislative funding is subject to retroactive reductions and potential future elimination.

Assembly Bill 1383. State of California Assembly Bill 1383 of 2009, as amended by AB 1653 on September 8, 2010, and extended 
through 2013, established a series of Medicaid supplemental payments funded through a Quality Assurance Fee and a Hospital Fee 
Program, which are imposed on certain California hospitals. The effective date of the Hospital Fee Program was April 1, 2009 through 
December 31, 2013, and was predicated, in part, on the enhanced Federal Medicaid Assistance Percentage contained in the American 
Reinvestment and Recovery Act. The Hospital Fee Program was extended for three years starting on January 1, 2014 with SB 239. 
The Hospital Fee Program makes supplemental payments to hospitals for various health care services and supports the state’s effort 
to maintain health care coverage for children. The Hospital Fee Program is funded by a Quality Assurance Fee paid by participating 
hospitals and matching federal funds. All of the Medical Centers, except CHRCO, are designated as public hospitals, and are exempt 
from paying the Quality Assurance Fee. CHRCO recognized $120.8 million and $85.7 million of patient service revenue under the 
Hospital Fee Program for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. CHRCO paid $22.9 million and $23.4 million in Quality 
Assurance Fees for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Medical Centers, including CHRCO, receive supplemental 
payments under the Hospital Fee Program. 

Assembly Bill 915. State of California Assembly Bill 915, Public Hospital Outpatient Services Supplemental Reimbursement Program, 
provides for supplemental reimbursement equal to the federal share of unreimbursed facility costs incurred by public hospital 
outpatient departments. This supplemental payment covers only Medi-Cal fee-for-service outpatient services. The supplemental 
payment is based on each eligible hospital’s certified public expenditures, which are matched with federal Medicaid funds.
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Senate Bill 1732. State of California Senate Bill 1732 provides for supplemental Medi-Cal reimbursement to DSH for costs (i.e., principal 
and interest) of qualified patient care capital construction. For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, the Medical Centers applied for 
and received additional revenue related to the reimbursement of costs for certain debt-financed construction projects based on the 
Medical Centers’ Medi-Cal utilization rate.

Other. The Medical Centers have entered into agreements with numerous other third-party payors to provide patient care to beneficiaries 
under a variety of payment arrangements. These include arrangements with:

• Commercial insurance companies that reimburse the Medical Centers for reasonable and customary charges. Workers’ compensation 
plans pay negotiated rates and are reported as contract (discounted or per-diem) revenue.

• Managed care contracts such as those with HMOs and PPOs that reimburse the Medical Centers at contracted or per-diem rates, 
which are usually less than full charges. CHRCO contracts with various Medi-Cal managed care plans in the state. These plans 
operate as state-licensed HMOs that provide health care services on a prepaid basis to enrolled Medi-Cal members residing in 
the county. Eligible members select the plan in which they wish to participate.

• Capitated contracts with health plans that reimburse the Medical Centers on a per-member-per-month basis, regardless of whether 
services are actually rendered. The Medical Centers assume a certain financial risk, as the contract requires patient treatment for all 
covered services. Expected losses on capitated agreements are accrued when probable and can be reasonably estimated.

• Certain health plans that have established a shared-risk pool where the Medical Centers share in any surplus associated with health care
utilization as defined in the related contracts. Additionally, the Medical Centers may assume the risk of certain health care utilization 
costs, as determined in the related agreements. Differences between the final contract settlement and the amount estimated as 
receivable or payable relating to the shared-risk arrangements are recorded in the year of final settlement.

• Counties in the state of California that reimburse the Medical Centers for certain indigent patients covered under county contracts.

The most common payment arrangement for inpatient services is a prospectively determined per-diem rate or case rate. The most 
common payment arrangement for outpatient care is a prospective payment system that uses ambulatory payment classifications.

Amounts due from Medicare and Medi-Cal as a percentage of net patient accounts receivable at June 30 are as follows:

(shown as percentage)

MEDICARE MEDI-CAL

2019 2018 2019 2018

Davis 21.3% 20.0% 17.2% 17.7%

Irvine 25.0 22.8 17.5 17.6

Los Angeles 11.8 13.6 5.7 5.1

San Diego 29.3 24.9 15.1 14.6

San Francisco 11.6 11.9 7.9 9.4

CHRCO receives Medi-Cal supplemental payments, which are comprised of both federal and non-federal components. CHRCO received 
$57.2 million and $56.7 million under these programs for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Included in the  
$57.2 million is $9.6 million approved in 2019 for prior periods.

For the years ended June 30, net patient service revenue included amounts due to favorable (or unfavorable) cost report settlements 
with Medicare, Medi-Cal, County Medical Services Program and changes in estimate for settlements related to Medi-Cal as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Davis $92,065 $102,692

Irvine 1,545 10,849

Los Angeles 42,699 17,719

San Diego 1,639 48,394

San Francisco 32,624 52,601

Total $170,572 $232,255
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Net patient accounts receivable and net patient service revenues at June 30 are presented net of uncollectible accounts as follows: 

(in thousands of dollars)

PATIENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
ALLOWANCE AT JUNE 30

PATIENT SERVICE REVENUE  
ALLOWANCE FOR THE  
YEAR ENDING JUNE 30

2019 2018 2019 2018

Davis $75,972 $68,606 $92,731 $118,743

Irvine 83,163 68,633 79,962 58,513

Los Angeles 47,192 37,343 45,706 33,960

San Diego 57,828 48,614 23,308 28,622

San Francisco 62,043 59,599 45,779 30,362

Total $326,198 $282,795 $287,486 $270,200

Net patient service revenue by major payor for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Medicare $574,220 $323,127 $569,021 $509,570 $665,052 $2,640,990

Medi-Cal 519,782 290,393 301,004 402,948 580,995 2,095,122

Contract (discounted or per diem) 1,120,409 535,572 1,793,298 1,038,929 3,158,679 7,646,887

Contract (capitated) 58,076 33,287 60,542 151,905

Non-sponsored/self-pay 4,311 18,662 25,302 4,546 65,065 117,886

Total $2,276,798 $1,167,754 $2,721,912 $1,955,993 $4,530,333 $12,652,790

2018

Medicare $525,856 $307,346 $499,131 $470,418 $611,649 $2,414,400

Medi-Cal 506,292 313,130 283,667 440,892 563,128 2,107,109

Contract (discounted or per diem) 1,040,980 490,985 1,564,609 924,287 2,873,526 6,894,387

Contract (capitated) 97,141 30,004 39,225 166,370

Non-sponsored/self-pay 2,535 13,296 17,841 3,315 68,205 105,192

Total $2,172,804 $1,124,757 $2,395,252 $1,838,912 $4,155,733 $11,687,458

4. CHARITY CARE
Information related to the Medical Centers’ charity care, as defined within the policy footnote, for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Charity care at established rates $21,516 $125,785 $12,592 $83,900 $59,284 $303,077

Estimated cost of charity care 4,502 34,706 4,901 26,655 16,913 87,677

Estimated cost in excess of reimbursement for 
   patients under publicly sponsored programs

170,892 212,175 367,924 506,078 1,033,767 2,290,836

2018

Charity care at established rates $22,859 $77,350 $13,353 $77,270 $67,402 $258,234

Estimated cost of charity care 4,959 19,516 6,111 24,246 21,263 76,095

Estimated cost in excess of reimbursement for 
   patients under publicly sponsored programs

214,403 95,087 365,060 289,175 830,423 1,794,148
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5. RESTRICTED ASSETS, DONOR FUNDS
Restricted assets due to donor restrictions are invested and remitted to the Medical Centers in accordance with the donors’ wishes. 
Securities are held by the trustee in the name of the University. The trust agreements permit trustees to invest in equity and  
fixed-income securities, in addition to real property.

The composition of restricted assets due to donor restrictions at June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

LOS ANGELES SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Cash and STIP $4,296 $49,982 $54,278

General Endowment Pool and Endowed Investment Pool 6,103 47,558 53,661

Mutual funds 30 30

Charitable remainder trusts 499 2,620 3,119

Total $10,928 $100,160 $111,088

2018

Cash and STIP $4,120 $29,027 $33,147

General Endowment Pool and Endowed Investment Pool 6,242 46,276 52,518

Mutual funds 30 30

Charitable remainder trusts 491 2,790 3,281

Total $10,883 $78,093 $88,976

Donor restricted funds at June 30 are available for the following purposes:

(in thousands of dollars)

LOS ANGELES SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Capital projects $1,049 $2,359 $3,408

Endowments 598 50,178 50,776

Operations 9,281 47,623 56,904

Total $10,928 $100,160 $111,088

2018

Capital projects $1,051 $6,132 $7,183

Endowments 603 27,715 28,318

Operations 9,229 44,246 53,475

Total $10,883 $78,093 $88,976

Gifts and pledges are included in the financial statements of the University and transferred to the Medical Centers when used. 
Additional gift funds and pledges received by the related campus or foundation but not used by the Medical Centers are not included 
in the financial statements of the Medical Centers.
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6. CAPITAL ASSETS
The Medical Centers’ capital asset activity for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS 2017 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2018 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2019

ORIGINAL COST

Land $36,675 $36,675 $36,675

Buildings and improvements 1,368,056 $23,402 ($18,929) 1,372,529 $104,970 ($125) 1,477,374

Equipment 419,942 75,721 (25,988) 469,675 56,502 (17,596) 508,581

Construction in progress 88,443 37,457 125,900 (41,017) 84,883

Capital assets, at cost $1,913,116 $136,580 ($44,917) $2,004,779 $120,455 ($17,721) $2,107,513

2017 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2018 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Buildings and improvements $598,558 $39,061 ($9,207) $628,412 $41,179 $669,591

Equipment 284,312 37,270 (25,547) 296,035 43,175 ($17,243) 321,967

Accumulated depreciation 882,870 $76,331 ($34,754) 924,447 $84,354 ($17,243) 991,558

Capital assets, net $1,030,246 $1,080,332 $1,115,955

(in thousands of dollars)

IRVINE 2017 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2018 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2019

ORIGINAL COST

Land $12,859 $12,859 $12,859

Buildings and improvements 880,174 $5,990 ($367) 885,797 $48,228 ($1,214) 932,811

Equipment 421,817 66,285 (11,672) 476,430 43,418 (11,836) 508,012

Construction in progress 18,789 31,605 50,394 806 51,200

Capital assets, at cost $1,333,639 $103,880 ($12,039) $1,425,480 $92,452 ($13,050) $1,504,882

2017 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2018 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Buildings and improvements $340,437 $36,805 ($367) $376,875 $37,437 ($1,023) $413,289

Equipment 258,693 41,918 (11,419) 289,192 47,238 (11,620) 324,810

Accumulated depreciation 599,130 $78,723 ($11,786) 666,067 $84,675 ($12,643) 738,099

Capital assets, net $734,509 $759,413 $766,783

(in thousands of dollars)

LOS ANGELES 2017 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2018 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2019

ORIGINAL COST

Land $46,918 $2,581 $49,499 $49,499

Buildings and improvements 2,010,142 22,484 2,032,626 $32,000 2,064,626

Equipment 723,012 88,531 ($23,024) 788,519 63,956 ($53,811) 798,664

Construction in progress 33,085 2,808 35,893 11,763 47,656

Capital assets, at cost $2,813,157 $116,404 ($23,024) $2,906,537 $107,719 ($53,811) $2,960,445

2017 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2018 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Buildings and improvements $559,642 $56,934 $616,576 $55,870 ($1,568) $670,878

Equipment 503,975 90,851 ($22,554) 572,272 96,970 (50,773) 618,469

Accumulated depreciation 1,063,617 $147,785 ($22,554) 1,188,848 $152,840 ($52,341) 1,289,347

Capital assets, net $1,749,540 $1,717,689 $1,671,098
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(in thousands of dollars)

SAN DIEGO 2017 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2018 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2019

ORIGINAL COST

Land $8,641 $8,641 $8,641

Buildings and improvements 1,670,322 $162,250 1,832,572 $31,251 1,863,823

Equipment 434,290 63,200 ($29,341) 468,149 22,399 ($24,255) 466,293

Construction in progress 119,543 (90,734) 28,809 9,985 38,794

Capital assets, at cost $2,232,796 $134,716 ($29,341) $2,338,171 $63,635 ($24,255) $2,377,551

2017 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2018 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Buildings and improvements $386,343 $53,604 $439,947 $58,341 $498,288

Equipment 225,505 39,775 ($28,816) 236,464 44,299 ($10,516) 270,247

Accumulated depreciation 611,848 $93,379 ($28,816) 676,411 $102,640 ($10,516) 768,535

Capital assets, net $1,620,948 $1,661,760 $1,609,016

(in thousands of dollars)

SAN FRANCISCO 2017 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2018 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2019

ORIGINAL COST

Land $143,268 $143,268 $207 ($2,056) $141,419

Buildings and improvements 2,639,784 $138,125 ($124) 2,777,785 129,194 (166) 2,906,813

Equipment 1,065,809 59,850 (13,448) 1,112,211 58,129 (20,957) 1,149,383

Construction in progress 218,029 44,562 7 262,598 77,764 340,362

Capital assets, at cost $4,066,890 $242,537 ($13,565) $4,295,862 $265,294 ($23,179) $4,537,977

2017 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2018 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Buildings and improvements $1,017,781 $93,070 $1,110,851 $93,187 $1,204,038

Equipment 699,571 123,222 ($13,267) 809,526 119,035 ($22,517) 906,044

Accumulated depreciation 1,717,352 $216,292 ($13,267) 1,920,377 $212,222 ($22,517) 2,110,082

Capital assets, net $2,349,538 $2,375,485 $2,427,895

(in thousands of dollars)

TOTAL 2017 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2018 ADDITIONS DISPOSALS 2019

ORIGINAL COST

Land $248,361 $2,581 $250,942 $207 ($2,056) $249,093

Buildings and improvements 8,568,478 352,251 ($19,420) 8,901,309 345,643 (1,505) 9,245,447

Equipment 3,064,870 353,587 (103,473) 3,314,984 244,404 (128,455) 3,430,933

Construction in progress 477,889 25,698 7 503,594 59,301 562,895

Capital assets, at cost $12,359,598 $734,117 ($122,886) $12,970,829 $649,555 ($132,016) $13,488,368

2017 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2018 DEPRECIATION DISPOSALS 2019

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Buildings and improvements $2,902,761 $279,474 ($9,574) $3,172,661 $286,014 ($2,591) $3,456,084

Equipment 1,972,056 333,036 (101,603) 2,203,489 350,717 (112,669) 2,441,537

Accumulated depreciation 4,874,817 $612,510 ($111,177) 5,376,150 $636,731 ($115,260) 5,897,621

Capital assets, net $7,484,781 $7,594,679 $7,590,747
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Equipment under financing obligations and related accumulated amortization at June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO TOTAL

2019

Equipment under financing obligations $2,220 $102,147 $96,529 $200,896

Accumulated amortization (2,220) (47,887) (27,834) (77,941)

Total $54,260 $68,695 $122,955

2018

Equipment under financing obligations $2,220 $106,660 $75,651 $184,531

Accumulated amortization (1,929) (43,716) (13,866) (59,511)

Total $291 $62,944 $61,785 $125,020

The Medical Centers made seismic improvements in order to be in compliance with Senate Bill 1953 (SB 1953), the Hospital Facilities 
Seismic Safety Act. Certain facilities and equipment were constructed or acquired to make seismic improvements using financing 
obligations of the University. These facilities and equipment were contributed at cost by the University to the Medical Centers to 
support the operations of the Medical Centers. Principal and interest payments required for these obligations are not reflected in  
the financial statements of the Medical Centers. 

Davis, San Diego and San Francisco have beds in service in facilities that do not meet the requirements of SB 1953, and these facilities 
will either need to be retrofitted or replaced by 2030. Asset retirement obligations and related deferred outflows are recognized based 
on the existence of external laws, regulations, contracts, or court judgments, together with the occurrence of an internal event that 
obligates the Medical Centers to perform asset retirement activities. Davis and San Diego plan to demolish certain existing facilities to 
comply with SB 1953. At June 30, 2019, Davis recognized asset retirement obligations of $53.1 million and an expense of $21.2 million. 
At June 30, 2019, San Diego recognized asset retirement obligations of $26.6 million and an expense of $2.0 million. The estimated 
remaining useful lives of these assets range from 2 to 13 years. San Francisco is continuing to determine its plans to address these 
seismic building requirements; therefore, the internal event that obligates the Medical Center to perform asset retirement activities  
has not occurred at June 30, 2019.   

7. NOTES PAYABLE TO CAMPUS
The UC Irvine Medical Center has an outstanding internal payable of $20.6 million and $25.8 million to the Irvine campus as of  
June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The payable bears no interest and is being repaid in annual installments with the final payment 
due in May 2023. 

The UC San Diego Medical Center has an internal loan of up to $95.0 million from the San Diego campus funded from the campus’ 
allocation of proceeds from a series of General Revenue Bonds of The Regents. The loan is to fund a portion of the costs for an 
outpatient pavilion. The loan is due in May 2048 and bears interest at a rate of 5.0 percent. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, balances of 
$93.6 million and $95.0 million, respectively, were outstanding and are reported as a note payable to the campus on the statements 
of net position. Interest payments of $4.7 million and $2.9 million were made on the loan for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively.  
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8. INTEREST RATE SWAP AGREEMENTS
As a means to lower the UCLA and UCSF Medical Centers’ borrowing costs, when compared against fixed-rate bonds at the time 
of issuance, the UCLA and UCSF Medical Centers entered into interest rate swap agreements in connection with their variable-rate 
Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds. Under the swap agreements, the Medical Centers pay the swap counterparty a fixed interest 
rate payment and receive a variable-rate interest payment to effectively change the variable-rate bonds to synthetic fixed-rate bonds. 
For three of the hedging derivatives, the notional amount of the swap matches the principal amount of the variable-rate Medical 
Center Pooled Revenue Bonds, and the swap agreement contains scheduled reductions to outstanding notional amounts that match 
scheduled reductions in the variable-rate bonds. One of the UCLA Medical Center interest rate swaps is a partial hedge, whereby the 
notional amount of the swap of $25.8 million is less than the amount of bonds outstanding of $31.3 million.

The UCLA Medical Center determined that certain of its interest rate swap agreements were hedging derivatives that hedge future 
cash flows for its variable-rate Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds. At the time of pricing the interest rate swaps, the fixed rate on 
each of the swaps was off-market such that the UCLA Medical Center received an up-front payment. As such, the swaps consist of 
an at-the-market interest rate swap derivative instrument and a borrowing, represented by the up-front payment. The unamortized 
amount of the borrowing was $71.4 million and $75.2 million at June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

The notional amounts, fair value of the interest rate swaps outstanding and the change in fair value for June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

NOTIONAL AMOUNT FAIR VALUE – POSITIVE (NEGATIVE) CHANGES IN FAIR VALUE

2019 2018 CLASSIFICATION 2019 2018 CLASSIFICATION 2019 2018

Los Angeles $124,775 $124,775 Other noncurrent 
liabilities

($41,528) ($31,577) Deferred outflows ($9,951) $8,843

24,250 24,250 Other noncurrent 
liabilities

(11,198) (8,307) Deferred outflows (2,891) 1,945

25,750 25,750 Other noncurrent 
liabilities

(12,440) (9,184) Deferred outflows (3,256) 2,082

San Francisco 60,485 64,075 Other noncurrent 
liabilities

(8,320) (6,435) Deferred outflows (1,885) 2,988

Because interest rates have changed since the execution of the swaps, financial institutions have estimated the fair value of the swaps 
using quoted market prices when available or a forecast of expected discounted future net cash flows. The swaps are classified as level 
2 on the fair value hierarchy. The fair value of the interest rate swap is the estimated amount the Medical Centers would have either 
(paid) or received if the swap agreement was terminated on June 30, 2019 or 2018. 

Additional terms with respect to the outstanding interest rate swaps, classified as hedging derivatives, along with the credit rating of 
the counterparty, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

TERMS
NOTIONAL AMOUNT EFFECTIVE 

DATE
MATURITY 

DATE
CASH PAID 

OR RECEIVED
COUNTERPARTY
CREDIT RATING2019 2018

Los Angeles

Pay fixed 4.550 percent; receive 67 percent of 3-Month LIBOR* 
+0.61 percent

$31,610 $31,610 2016 2030 None Aa2/A+

Pay fixed 4.625 percent; receive 67 percent of 3-Month LIBOR* 
+0.67 percent

38,670 38,670 2016 2037 None Aa2/A+

Pay fixed 4.6935 percent; receive 67 percent of 3-Month LIBOR* 
+0.74 percent

54,495 54,495 2016 2043 None Aa2/A+

Pay fixed 4.741 percent; receive 67 percent of 3-Month LIBOR* 
+0.79 percent

24,250 24,250 2016 2045 None Aa2/A+

Pay fixed 4.741 percent; receive 67 percent of 3-Month LIBOR* 
+0.79 percent

25,750 25,750 2016 2047 None Aa2/A+

San Francisco

Pay fixed 3.5897 percent; receive 58 percent of 1-Month LIBOR* 
+0.48 percent

60,485 64,075 2007 2032 None Aa2/A+/AA-

* London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR)

85



Interest Rate Swap Risk Factors
Credit Risk
The Medical Centers could be exposed to credit risk if the counterparties to the swap contracts are unable to meet the terms of the 
contracts. Contracts with positive fair values are exposed to credit risk. The Medical Centers face a maximum possible loss equivalent  
to the amount of the swap contract’s fair value, less any collateral held by the Medical Centers provided by the counterparties.  
Swap contracts with negative fair values are not exposed to credit risk. Although the Medical Centers have entered into the interest 
rate swap contracts with creditworthy financial institutions, there is credit risk for losses in the event of non-performance by 
counterparties or unfavorable interest rate movements.

There are no collateral requirements related to the swaps held by the UCSF Medical Center. Depending on the fair value and the 
counterparty credit rating for the UCLA Medical Center swaps with the counterparty that is currently rated Aa2/A+, the University  
may be entitled to receive collateral to the extent the positive fair value exceeds $20.0 million as of June 30, 2019. At June 30, 2019 
and 2018, there was no collateral required.  

Interest Rate Risk
There is a risk that the value of the interest rate swaps will decline because of changing interest rates. The values of interest rate swaps with 
longer maturity dates tend to be more sensitive to changing interest rates and, therefore, more volatile than those with shorter maturities. 

Basis Risk
There is no basis or tax risk related to two of the swaps classified as hedging derivatives with a total notional amount of $149.0 million 
since the variable rate the UCLA Medical Center pays to the bond holders matches the variable-rate payments received from the  
swap counterparty. 

In connection with one of the UCLA Medical Center swaps and the UCSF Medical Center swap, there is a risk that the basis for the variable 
payment received will not match the variable payment on the bonds that expose the UCLA Medical Center and the UCSF Medical Center 
to basis risk whenever the interest rates on the bonds are reset. Interest rates on the bonds are tax-exempt interest rates, while the basis of 
the variable receipt on the interest rate swap is taxable. Tax-exempt interest rates can change without a corresponding change in the 
LIBOR rate due to factors affecting the tax-exempt market, which do not have a similar effect on the taxable market. For example, the 
swaps expose the UCSF Medical Center to risk if reductions in the federal personal income tax rate cause the relationship between the 
variable interest rate on the bonds to be greater than 58.0 percent of the 30-day LIBOR, plus 0.48 percent. The swaps expose the UCLA 
Medical Center to risk if reductions in the federal personal income tax rate cause the relationship between the variable interest rate on the 
bonds to be greater than 67.0 percent of the three-month LIBOR, plus 0.79 percent.

Termination Risk
There is termination risk for losses on the interest rate swaps classified as hedging derivatives in the event of non-performance by 
the counterparty in an adverse market resulting in cancellation of the synthetic interest rate and returning the interest rate payments 
to the variable interest rates on the bonds. For the interest rate swap held by the UCSF Medical Center, the termination threshold is 
reached when the credit quality rating for either the underlying Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds or swap counterparty falls 
below Baa2 or BBB. For the swaps held by the UCLA Medical Center,  the termination threshold is reached when the credit quality 
rating for the underlying Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds falls below Baa3/BBB-, or the interest rate swap counterparty’s rating 
falls below Baa2 or BBB. Upon termination, the Medical Centers may also owe a termination payment if there is a realized loss based  
on the fair value of each interest rate swap. 
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9. LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING OBLIGATIONS
The Medical Centers’ outstanding debt at June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

University of California Medical Center
     Pooled Revenue Bonds:

2007 Series B* $60,485 $60,485

2007 Series C-2* $149,025 149,025

2009 Series F Build America Bonds $155,855 143,320 $110,355 19,620 429,150

2010 Series G & I 5,810 4,915 10,725

2010 Series H Build America Bonds 700,000 700,000

2013 Series J $8,740 1,960 56,090 299,885 525 367,200

2013 Series K* 31,300 31,300

2016 Series L 234,830 119,725 256,715 86,095 106,705 804,070

2016 Series M 53,690 36,015 42,365 18,910 150,980

University of California  
    General Revenue Bonds:

2017 Series AY 4,525 1,765 20,365 192,785 219,440

Financing obligations 85,622 57,980 143,602

Other borrowings 71,441 71,441

Total outstanding debt and financing obligations 301,785 315,320 862,053 752,015 906,245 3,137,418
Unamortized bond premium 40,245 20,016 46,758 45,868 16,421 169,308

Total debt and financing obligations 342,030 335,336 908,811 797,883 922,666 3,306,726
Less: Current portion (21,211) (5,663) (31,889) (26,695) (5,570) (91,028)

Noncurrent portion of debt and financing obligations $320,819 $329,673 $876,922 $771,188 $917,096 $3,215,698

* Variable-rate bonds

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2018

University of California Medical Center
     Pooled Revenue Bonds:

2007 Series B* $64,075 $64,075

2007 Series C-2* $149,025 149,025

2009 Series F Build America Bonds $155,855 143,320 $110,355 19,620 429,150

2010 Series G & I 7,695 9,620 17,315

2010 Series H Build America Bonds 700,000 700,000

2013 Series J $9,805 2,230 58,935 300,800 525 372,295

2013 Series K* 31,300 31,300

2016 Series L 247,800 120,400 262,020 87,415 107,250 824,885

2016 Series M 57,555 36,310 45,180 19,130 158,175

University of California  
    General Revenue Bonds:

2017 Series AY 4,525 1,765 20,365 192,785 219,440

Financing obligations 291 94,551 67,413 162,255

Other borrowings 75,244 75,244

Total outstanding debt and financing obligations 319,685 316,851 887,635 768,388 910,600 3,203,159
Unamortized bond premium 43,497 21,221 49,724 49,903 17,126 181,471

Total debt and financing obligations 363,182 338,072 937,359 818,291 927,726 3,384,630
Less: Current portion (21,152) (2,737) (28,548) (25,862) (5,060) (83,359)

Noncurrent portion of debt and financing obligations $342,030 $335,335 $908,811 $792,429 $922,666 $3,301,271

* Variable-rate bonds
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Significant terms of the Medical Centers’ outstanding debt are as follows:

INTEREST RATE INTEREST PAYMENT 
FREQUENCY PRINCIPAL PAYMENT TERMS

University of California Medical Center
     Pooled Revenue Bonds:

2007 Series B* 1.4 percent Monthly Through 2032

2007 Series C-2* 2.3 percent to 2.5 percent Quarterly Through 2045

2009 Series F Build America Bonds 4.3 percent, after 35.0 percent 
federal subsidy

Semi-annually Through 2049

2010 Series G & I 3.0 percent to 5.8 percent Semi-annually Through 2025

2010 Series H Build America Bonds 4.2 percent, after 35.0 percent 
federal subsidy

Semi-annually Through 2048

2013 Series J 4.0 percent to 5.3 percent Semi-annually Through 2048

2013 Series K* 1.5 percent Monthly Beginning 2045 through 2047

2016 Series L 2.5 percent to 5.0 percent Semi-annually Through 2047

2016 Series M 1.4 percent to 3.5 percent Semi-annually Through 2047

University of California  
   General Revenue Bonds:

2017 Series AY 3.0 percent to 5.0 percent Semi-annually Beginning 2022 through 2041

Financing obligations (primarily for computer and medical 
   equipment, collateralized by underlying equipment)

Fixed interest rates of  
1.1 percent to 6.0 percent

Monthly, quarterly Through 2042

*Variable-rate bonds

Total interest expense and interest capitalized during the years ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

INTEREST EXPENSE INTEREST CAPITALIZED INTEREST EXPENSE INTEREST CAPITALIZED

Davis $7,591 $2,455 $6,989 $4,104

Irvine 15,511 597 12,927 954

Los Angeles 33,562 382 34,419 832

San Diego 39,150 1,410 37,532 2,459

San Francisco 35,763 17,250 43,844 9,701

Total $131,577 $22,094 $135,711 $18,050
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The activity with respect to current and noncurrent debt is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL

Year ended June 30, 2019

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $363,182 $363,182

Principal payments and debt retirements (17,900) (17,900)

Amortization of bond premium (3,252) (3,252)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 342,030 342,030
Less: Current portion (21,211) (21,211)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 $320,819 $320,819

Year ended June 30, 2018

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2017 $383,956 $621 $384,577

New obligations 4,525 4,525

Bond premium, net 514 514

Principal payments and debt retirements (22,410) (621) (23,031)

Amortization of bond premium (3,403) (3,403)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 363,182 363,182
Less: Current portion (21,152) (21,152)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $342,030 $342,030

(in thousands of dollars)

IRVINE REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL

Year ended June 30, 2019

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $337,781 $291 $338,072

Principal payments and debt retirements (1,240) (291) (1,531)

Amortization of bond premium (1,205) (1,205)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 335,336 335,336
Less: Current portion (5,663) (5,663)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 $329,673 $329,673

Year ended June 30, 2018

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2017 $340,475 $630 $341,105

New obligations 1,765 1,765

Principal payments and debt retirements (3,075) (339) (3,414)

Amortization of bond premium (1,384) (1,384)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 337,781 291 338,072
Less: Current portion (2,446) (291) (2,737)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $335,335 $335,335
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(in thousands of dollars)

LOS ANGELES REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

OTHER 
BORROWINGS

TOTAL

Year ended June 30, 2019

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $767,564 $94,551 $75,244 $937,359

New obligations 0

Bond premium, net 0

Principal payments and debt retirements (12,850) (8,929) (21,779)

Amortization of bond premium (2,966) (3,803) (6,769)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 751,748 85,622 71,441 908,811
Less: Current portion (18,770) (9,316) (3,803) (31,889)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing  
   obligations at June 30, 2019

$732,978 $76,306 $67,638 $876,922

Year ended June 30, 2018

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2017 $779,554 $103,112 $79,048 $961,714

New obligations 20,365 20,365

Bond premium, net 2,934 2,934

Principal payments and debt retirements (32,350) (8,561) (40,911)

Amortization of bond premium (2,939) (3,804) (6,743)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 767,564 94,551 75,244 937,359
Less: Current portion (15,816) (8,929) (3,803) (28,548)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing 
   obligations at June 30, 2018

$751,748 $85,622 $71,441 $908,811

(in thousands of dollars)

SAN DIEGO REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL

Year ended June 30, 2019

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $750,878 $67,413 $818,291

New obligations 6,482 6,482

Principal payments and debt retirements (6,940) (15,915) (22,855)

Amortization of bond premium (4,035) (4,035)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 739,903 57,980 797,883
Less: Current portion (11,171) (15,524) (26,695)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 $728,732 $42,456 $771,188

Year ended June 30, 2018

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2017 $729,215 $44,466 $773,681

New obligations 192,785 35,674 228,459

Bond premium, net 34,664 34,664

Principal payments and debt retirements (202,895) (12,727) (215,622)

Amortization of bond premium (2,891) (2,891)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 750,878 67,413 818,291
Less: Current portion (10,978) (14,884) (25,862)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $739,900 $52,529 $792,429
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(in thousands of dollars)

SAN FRANCISCO REVENUE
BONDS

Year ended June 30, 2019

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $927,726

Principal payments and debt retirements (4,355)

Amortization of bond premium (705)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 922,666
Less: Current portion (5,570)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 $917,096

Year ended June 30, 2018

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2017 $933,133

Principal payments and debt retirements (4,210)

Amortization of bond premium (1,197)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 927,726
Less: Current portion (5,060)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $922,666

(in thousands of dollars)

TOTAL REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

OTHER 
BORROWINGS

TOTAL

Year ended June 30, 2019

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 $3,147,131 $162,255 $75,244 $3,384,630

New obligations 6,482 6,482

Principal payments and debt retirements (43,285) (25,135) (68,420)

Amortization of bond premium (12,163) (3,803) (15,966)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2019 3,091,683 143,602 71,441 3,306,726

Less: Current portion (62,385) (24,840) (3,803) (91,028)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations  
   at June 30, 2019

$3,029,298 $118,762 $67,638 $3,215,698

Year ended June 30, 2018

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2017 $3,166,333 $148,829 $79,048 $3,394,210

New obligations 219,440 35,674 255,114

Bond premium, net 38,112 38,112

Principal payments and debt retirements (264,940) (22,248) (287,188)

Amortization of bond premium (11,814) (3,804) (15,618)

Long-term debt and financing obligations at June 30, 2018 3,147,131 162,255 75,244 3,384,630

Less: Current portion (55,452) (24,104) (3,803) (83,359)

Noncurrent portion of long-term debt and financing obligations  
   at June 30, 2018

$3,091,679 $138,151 $71,441 $3,301,271

In December 2017, General Revenue Bonds totaling $625.5 million of tax-exempt bonds were issued to refinance all or a portion of 
certain projects of the University through the advance refunding of certain bonds, including most of the outstanding Medical Center 
Pooled Revenue Bonds, 2013 Series J of $223.4 million. The bonds mature at various dates through 2041. The tax-exempt bonds have  
a stated weighted average interest rate of 4.7 percent. The refunding of the outstanding Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds 
resulted in a loss of $32.4 million, recorded as a deferred outflow of resources that is amortized as interest expense over the term  
of the refunded bonds. The bond premium of $39.7 million is amortized as a reduction to interest expense over the term of the bonds.  
The refinancing and refunding of previously outstanding Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds resulted in cash flow savings of  
$22.2 million and an economic gain of $17.7 million.
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The Medical Centers’ Pooled Revenue Bonds are issued to finance capital projects and other needs at the University’s Medical Centers 
and are collateralized by joint and several pledges of certain operating and nonoperating revenues, as defined in the indentures, of 
all five of the University’s Medical Centers. The Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bond Indenture requires the Medical Centers to set 
rates, charges and fees each year sufficient for the Medical Centers’ total operating and nonoperating revenues to pay for the annual 
principal and interest on the bonds and sets forth certain other covenants. Pledged revenues for the Medical Centers for the years 
ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 were $13.4 billion and $12.2 billion. 

The Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds 2007 Series B and 2013 Series K totaling $60.5 million and $31.3 million at June 30, 2019, 
respectively, are variable-rate demand obligations subject to daily remarketing. The University has not entered into a standby bond 
purchase agreement for the 2013 Series K bonds. The UCLA and UCSF Medical Centers have access to the hospital working capital 
program from the University described below for any amounts that would be obligated for repayment to the University.

The Medical Centers’ revenues are not pledged for any other purpose than under the indentures for the Medical Center Pooled Revenue 
Bonds. The pledge of the Medical Centers’ revenues under the Medical Center Pooled Revenue Bonds is on parity with interest rate 
swap agreements. 

The University has an internal working capital program that allows each Medical Center to receive internal advances. Advances may 
not exceed 60 percent of a Medical Center’s accounts receivable for any working capital needs. Interest on any such advance is based 
upon the earnings rate on the STIP. Repayment of advances made to the Medical Centers under the working capital program is not 
collateralized by a pledge of revenues. Currently, there are no advances to the Medical Centers. The University may cancel or change 
the terms of the working capital program at its sole discretion. However, the University has historically provided working capital 
advances under formal or informal programs for the Medical Centers.

As of June 30, 2019, CHRCO had no amount outstanding under its revolving credit facility for $25.0 million. The interest rate on the 
credit facility is 3.5 percent as of June 30, 2019 and the facility expires on August 31, 2020.

Future Debt Service and Interest Rate Swaps
Future debt service payments for the Medical Centers’ fixed- and variable-rate debt for each of the five fiscal years subsequent to 
June 30, 2019, and thereafter, are shown below. Although not a prediction by the Medical Centers of the future interest rate cost of 
the variable-rate bonds or the impact of the interest rate swaps, these amounts assume that current interest rates on variable-rate 
bonds and the current reference rates of the interest rate swaps will remain the same. As these rates vary, variable-rate bond interest 
payments and net interest rate swap payments will change. 

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS REVENUE
BONDS

PRINCIPAL INTEREST

Year ending June 30

2020 $30,796 $18,125 $12,671

2021 30,370 18,325 12,045

2022 29,967 18,710 11,257

2023 29,504 19,055 10,449

2024 27,947 18,340 9,607

2025 - 2029 104,992 67,795 37,197

2030 - 2034 60,034 31,310 28,724

2035 - 2039 60,041 38,680 21,361

2040 - 2044 59,493 47,680 11,813

2045 - 2049 25,774 23,765 2,009

Total future debt service 458,918 $301,785 $157,133

Less: Interest component of future payments (157,133)

Principal portion of future payments 301,785

Adjusted by:

Unamortized bond premium 40,245

Total debt $342,030
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(in thousands of dollars)

IRVINE REVENUE
BONDS

PRINCIPAL INTEREST

Year ending June 30

2020 $21,390 $4,465 $16,925

2021 21,402 4,620 16,782

2022 21,374 4,790 16,584

2023 21,376 5,000 16,376

2024 21,349 5,205 16,144

2025 - 2029 112,388 35,590 76,798

2030 - 2034 115,253 47,735 67,518

2035 - 2039 112,844 59,360 53,484

2040 - 2044 109,244 74,010 35,234

2045 - 2049 87,436 74,545 12,891

Total future debt service 644,056 $315,320 $328,736

Less: Interest component of future payments (328,736)

Principal portion of future payments 315,320

Adjusted by:

Unamortized bond premium 20,016

Total debt $335,336

(in thousands of dollars)

LOS ANGELES REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL
PAYMENTS

PRINCIPAL INTEREST

Year ending June 30

2020 $50,076 $13,717 $63,793 $25,176 $38,617

2021 48,767 13,867 62,634 24,805 37,829

2022 48,399 4,052 52,451 15,498 36,953

2023 48,480 4,214 52,694 16,448 36,246

2024 47,531 4,383 51,914 16,450 35,464

2025 - 2029 232,870 24,687 257,557 92,808 164,749

2030 - 2034 229,942 30,036 259,978 121,164 138,814

2035 - 2039 227,465 36,543 264,008 159,905 104,103

2040 - 2044 227,250 22,290 249,540 190,598 58,942

2045 - 2049 143,525 143,525 127,760 15,765

Total future debt service 1,304,305 153,789 1,458,094 $790,612 $667,482

Less: Interest component of future payments (599,315) (68,167) (667,482)

Principal portion of future payments 704,990 85,622 790,612

Adjusted by:

Unamortized bond premium 46,758 46,758

Other borrowings 71,441 71,441

Total debt $823,189 $85,622 $908,811
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(in thousands of dollars)

SAN DIEGO REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL
PAYMENTS

PRINCIPAL INTEREST

Year ending June 30

2020 $42,836 $17,026 $59,862 $22,775 $37,087

2021 40,396 13,141 53,537 17,028 36,509

2022 40,386 7,145 47,531 11,481 36,050

2023 40,384 5,602 45,986 10,350 35,636

2024 49,364 3,876 53,240 18,015 35,225

2025 - 2029 247,945 13,115 261,060 98,795 162,265

2030 - 2034 245,477 5,943 251,420 116,586 134,834

2035 - 2039 244,180 244,180 139,840 104,340

2040 - 2044 243,140 243,140 179,795 63,345

2045 - 2049 154,593 154,593 137,350 17,243

Total future debt service 1,348,701 65,848 1,414,549 $752,015 $662,534

Less: Interest component of future payments (654,666) (7,868) (662,534)

Principal portion of future payments 694,035 57,980 752,015

Adjusted by:

Unamortized bond premium 45,868 45,868

Total debt $739,903 $57,980 $797,883

(in thousands of dollars)

SAN FRANCISCO REVENUE
BONDS

PRINCIPAL INTEREST

Year ending June 30

2020 $58,215 $4,865 $53,350

2021 72,270 19,050 53,220

2022 72,038 19,695 52,343

2023 71,799 20,395 51,404

2024 71,523 21,115 50,408

2025 - 2029 352,060 117,695 234,365

2030 - 2034 339,800 141,385 198,415

2035 - 2039 323,168 169,985 153,183

2040 - 2044 306,199 209,410 96,789

2045 - 2049 211,440 182,650 28,790

Total future debt service 1,878,512 $906,245 $972,267

Less: Interest component of future payments (972,267)

Principal portion of future payments 906,245

Adjusted by:

Unamortized bond premium 16,421

Total debt $922,666

94



(in thousands of dollars)

TOTAL REVENUE
BONDS

FINANCING
OBLIGATIONS

TOTAL
PAYMENTS

PRINCIPAL INTEREST

Year ending June 30

2020 $203,313 $30,743 $234,056 $75,406 $158,650

2021 213,205 27,008 240,213 83,828 156,385

2022 212,164 11,197 223,361 70,174 153,187

2023 211,543 9,816 221,359 71,248 150,111

2024 217,714 8,259 225,973 79,125 146,848

2025 - 2029 1,050,255 37,802 1,088,057 412,683 675,374

2030 - 2034 990,506 35,979 1,026,485 458,180 568,305

2035 - 2039 967,698 36,543 1,004,241 567,770 436,471

2040 - 2044 945,326 22,290 967,616 701,493 266,123

2045 - 2049 622,768 622,768 546,070 76,698

Total future debt service 5,634,492 219,637 5,854,129 $3,065,977 $2,788,152

Less: Interest component of future payments (2,712,117) (76,035) (2,788,152)

Principal portion of future payments 2,922,375 143,602 3,065,977

Adjusted by:

Unamortized bond premium 169,308 169,308

Other borrowings 71,441 71,441

Total debt $3,163,124 $143,602 $3,306,726

Additional information on the revenue bonds can be obtained from the 2018-2019 annual report of the University of California.

For the Medical Centers’ cash flow hedges, future debt service payments for the Medical Centers’ variable-rate debt and net receipts or 
payments on the associated hedging derivative instruments for each of the five fiscal years subsequent to June 30, 2019, and thereafter 
are as presented below. Although not a prediction by the Medical Centers of the future interest cost of the variable-rate bonds or the 
impact of the interest rate swaps, using rates as of June 30, 2019, combined debt service requirements of the variable-rate debt and 
net swap payments are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

LOS ANGELES
VARIABLE-RATE BOND

PRINCIPAL INTEREST INTEREST RATE 
SWAP, NET TOTAL

Year ending June 30

2020 $3,876 $3,949 $7,825

2021 3,881 3,964 7,845

2022 3,860 3,956 7,816

2023 $3,365 3,860 3,956 11,181

2024 3,515 3,802 3,873 11,190

2025 - 2029 20,135 17,667 18,146 55,948

2030 - 2034 25,185 15,125 15,650 55,960

2035 - 2039 31,580 11,873 12,518 55,971

2040 - 2044 61,605 6,665 7,639 75,909

2045 - 2047 29,390 720 1,301 31,411

Total future debt service $174,775 $71,329 $74,952 $321,056
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(in thousands of dollars)

SAN FRANCISCO
VARIABLE-RATE BOND

PRINCIPAL INTEREST INTEREST RATE 
SWAP, NET TOTAL

Year ending June 30

2020 $3,725 $801 $998 $5,524

2021 3,860 754 945 5,559

2022 3,995 704 879 5,578

2023 4,145 650 813 5,608

2024 4,290 599 745 5,634

2025 - 2029 23,930 2,067 2,584 28,581

2030 - 2032 16,540 437 547 17,524

Total future debt service $60,485 $6,012 $7,511 $74,008

(in thousands of dollars)

TOTAL
VARIABLE-RATE BOND

PRINCIPAL INTEREST INTEREST RATE 
SWAP, NET TOTAL

Year ending June 30

2020 $3,725 $4,677 $4,947 $13,349

2021 3,860 4,635 4,909 13,404

2022 3,995 4,564 4,835 13,394

2023 7,510 4,510 4,769 16,789

2024 7,805 4,401 4,618 16,824

2025 - 2029 44,065 19,734 20,730 84,529

2030 - 2034 41,725 15,562 16,197 73,484

2035 - 2039 31,580 11,873 12,518 55,971

2040 - 2044 61,605 6,665 7,639 75,909

2045 - 2047 29,390 720 1,301 31,411

Total future debt service $235,260 $77,341 $82,463 $395,064

10. OPERATING LEASES
The Medical Centers lease certain buildings and equipment under agreements recorded as operating leases. The terms of the 
operating leases extend through the year 2042. Operating lease expense for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Davis $20,603 $21,396

Irvine 7,919 5,018

Los Angeles 14,604 14,219

San Diego 30,300 17,318

San Francisco 58,857 49,578

Total $132,283 $107,529
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Future minimum payments on operating leases with an initial or non-cancellable term in excess of one year are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

Year ending June 30

2020 $25,690 $8,476 $13,568 $30,403 $46,645 $124,782

2021 22,977 7,188 10,712 25,707 42,198 108,782

2022 20,633 6,452 9,405 20,304 30,257 87,051

2023 16,899 6,337 5,493 16,041 22,559 67,329

2024 11,544 4,091 2,430 11,556 16,711 46,332

2025 – 2042 48,674 4,924 9,286 14,939 91,148 168,971

Total $146,417 $37,468 $50,894 $118,950 $249,518 $603,247

11. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
The composition of deferred outflows and inflows of resources at June 30 is summarized as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Net pension liability $435,934 $196,707 $465,376 $354,038 $695,563 $2,147,618

Net retiree health benefits liability 270,190 115,406 328,395 297,257 647,998 1,659,246

Debt refunding 8,415 26,106 553 35,074

Interest rate swap agreements 65,166 8,320 73,486

Asset retirement obligations 31,882 24,134 56,016

Total $746,421 $312,113 $858,937 $701,535 $1,352,434 $3,971,440

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Net pension liability $17,748 $22,662 $27,002 $5,831 $20,398 $93,641

Net retiree health benefits liability 391,069 203,771 519,022 278,510 581,048 1,973,420

Debt refunding 1,340 1,340

Irrevocable split-interest agreements 15,950 15,950

Total $408,817 $226,433 $547,364 $284,341 $617,396 $2,084,351

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2018

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Net pension liability $72,255 $23,834 $72,974 $98,624 $190,224 $457,911

Net retiree health benefits liability 249,969 105,120 331,973 274,684 578,571 1,540,317

Debt refunding 8,773 28,259 633 37,665

Interest rate swap agreements 49,068 6,435 55,503

Total $330,997 $128,954 $454,015 $401,567 $775,863 $2,091,396

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Net pension liability $22,198 $37,351 $22,632 $13,291 $30,618 $126,090

Net retiree health benefits liability 366,244 197,227 423,225 261,470 539,275 1,787,441

Debt refunding 1,388 1,388

Irrevocable split-interest agreements 13,966 13,966

Total $388,442 $234,578 $447,245 $274,761 $583,859 $1,928,885
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12. RETIREMENT PLANS
University of California Retirement Plan
Substantially all full-time employees of the Medical Centers participate in the University of California Retirement System (UCRS) that is 
administered by the University. UCRS consists of The University of California Retirement Plan (UCRP), a single-employer defined benefit 
pension plan, and the University of California Retirement Savings Program (UCRSP) that includes four defined contribution pension 
plans with several investment portfolios generally funded with employee non-elective and elective contributions. The Regents has the 
authority to establish and amend the UCRS plans. Additional information on the retirement plans can be obtained from the 2018-2019  
annual reports of the University of California Retirement System by writing to the University of California, Office of the President, 
Human Resources and Benefits, Post Office Box 24570, Oakland, California 94623. 

UCRP provides lifetime retirement income, disability protection, death benefits, and post-retirement and pre-retirement survivor 
benefits to eligible employees of the University and its affiliates. Effective July 1, 2016, new employees appointed to work at least  
50 percent time for one year or more or for an indefinite period or for a definite period of a year or more, or those who complete  
1,000 hours within a 12-month period have a choice to participate in UCRP or the University of California Defined Contribution 
Plan. Prior to that date, membership in UCRP is required for all eligible employees. Generally, five years of service are required for 
entitlement to plan benefits. The amount of pension benefit is determined under the basic formula of covered compensation times 
age factor times years of service credit. The maximum monthly benefit cannot exceed 100 percent of the employee’s highest average 
plan compensation over a 36-month period, subject to certain limits imposed under the Internal Revenue Code. Annual cost-of-living 
adjustments (COLA’s) are made to monthly benefits according to a specified formula based on the Consumer Price Index. Ad hoc 
COLA’s may be granted subject to funding availability.

Contributions
Contributions to the UCRP may be made by the Medical Centers and the employees. The rates for contributions as a percentage of 
payroll are determined annually pursuant to The Regents’ funding policy and based upon recommendations of the consulting actuary. 
The Regents determine the portion of the total contribution to be made by the Medical Centers and by the employees. Employee 
contributions by represented employees are subject to collective bargaining agreements. Employee member contributions range 
from 7.0 percent to 9.0 percent. The University pays a uniform contribution rate of 14.0 percent of covered payroll on behalf of all UCRP 
members. The University contribution rate will be increased starting July 1, 2020 by 0.5 percent per year, on July 1st, for six years to  
17.0 percent. 

Employee contributions to UCRP are accounted for separately and currently accrue interest at 6.0 percent annually. Upon termination, 
members may elect a refund of their contributions plus accumulated interest; vested terminated members who are eligible to retire 
may also elect monthly retirement income or, if they are a member of certain tiers, a lump sum equal to the present value of their 
accrued benefits.

Contributions during the years ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

MEDICAL CENTER EMPLOYEE TOTAL MEDICAL CENTER EMPLOYEE TOTAL

Davis $112,545 $63,619 $176,164 $111,593 $63,612 $175,205

Irvine 50,761 28,365 79,126 48,153 27,090 75,243

Los Angeles 121,724 67,351 189,075 122,001 68,520 190,521

San Diego 82,496 46,266 128,762 79,580 45,038 124,618

San Francisco 160,627 91,376 252,003 153,693 88,405 242,098

Total $528,153 $296,977 $825,130 $515,020 $292,665 $807,685
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Additional deposits were made by the University to UCRP of $500.0 million and $391.8 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2019 and 
2018, respectively. The Medical Centers reported pension expense and an increase in the pension payable to the University for its portion 
of these additional deposits based upon their proportionate share of covered compensation for the year ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Davis $33,434 $26,678

Irvine 15,079 11,567

Los Angeles 36,160 29,279

San Diego 24,507 19,093

San Francisco 47,717 36,746

Total $156,897 $123,363

Net Pension Liability 
The Medical Centers’ proportionate share of the net pension liability for UCRP as of June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

PROPORTION OF THE NET 
PENSION LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF 
THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

PROPORTION OF THE NET 
PENSION LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF 
THE NET PENSION LIABILITY

Davis 6.7% $1,151,862 6.8% $643,552

Irvine 3.0 519,523 3.0 279,015

Los Angeles 7.2 1,245,807 7.5 706,286

San Diego 4.9 844,319 4.9 460,577

San Francisco 9.6 1,643,970 9.4 886,410

Total 31.4% $5,405,481 31.6% $2,975,840

The Medical Centers’ net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 and calculated using the plan net position 
valued as of the measurement date and total pension liability determined based upon rolling forward the total pension liability from 
the results of the actuarial valuations as of July 1, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Actuarial valuations represent a long-term perspective 
and involve estimates of the value of reported benefits and assumptions about the probability of certain events occurring far into the 
future. The Medical Centers’ net pension liability was calculated using the following methods and assumptions:

(shown as percentage)

2019 2018

Inflation 2.5% 3.0 %

Investment rate of return 6.75 7.25

Projected salary increases 3.65 - 5.95 3.75 - 6.15

Cost-of-living adjustments 2.0 2.0

Actuarial assumptions are subject to periodic revisions as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are 
made about the future. The actuarial assumptions were changed in 2019 based upon the results of an experience study conducted 
for the period July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2018. In 2019, for preretirement mortality rates, the Pub-2010 Teacher Employee Amount-
Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table was used. For post-retirement, healthy mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Healthy 
Teacher Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table multiplied by 90 percent for male Faculty members, 95 percent for female 
Faculty members, 100 percent for other male members and 110 percent for other female members. For beneficiaries of retired 
members, rates were based on the Pub-2010 Contingent Survivor Amount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table multiplied by  
100 percent for males and 90 percent for females. For disabled members, rates were based on the Pub-2010 Non-Safety Disabled 
Retiree Amount-Weighted Mortality Table. All mortality tables above were projected generationally with the two-dimensional 
mortality improvement scale MP-2018. 

The actuarial assumptions used in 2018 were based upon the results of an experience study conducted for the period July 1, 2010 
through June 30, 2014. In 2018, for preretirement mortality rates, the RP-2014 White Collar Employee Mortality Tables (separate 
tables for males and females) projected with the two-dimensional MP-2014 projection scale to 2029 were used. For post-retirement, 
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healthy mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 White Collar Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table projected with the two-dimensional 
MP-2014 projection scale to 2029, and with ages then set forward one year. For disabled members, rates were based on the RP-2014 
Disabled Retiree Mortality Table projected with the two-dimensional MP-2014 projection scale to 2029, and with ages then set back 
one year for males and set forward five years for females. 

The long-term expected investment rate of return assumption for UCRP was determined in 2019 using a building-block method in 
which expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These returns 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target 
asset allocation percentage, adding expected inflation and subtracting expected expenses and a risk margin. The target allocation and 
projected arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class, after deducting inflation, but before deducting investment expenses, 
used in the derivation of the long-term expected investment rate of return assumption are summarized in the following table: 

 (shown as percentage)

TARGET ALLOCATION LONG-TERM EXPECTED  
REAL RATE OF RETURN

Asset class:

U.S. equity 27.6% 5.6%

Developed international equity 16.8 6.5

Emerging market equity 5.6 8.6

Core bonds 13.0 1.5

High yield bonds 2.5 3.7

Treasury inflation-protected securities (TIPS) 2.0 1.2

Emerging market debt 2.5 3.9

Private equity 10.0 9.2

Real estate 7.0 6.6

Absolute return 10.0 3.3

Real assets 3.0 5.6

Total 100.0% 5.4%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to estimate the net pension liability as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 was 6.75 percent and 7.25 percent, respectively. 
To calculate the discount rate, cash flows into and out of UCRP were projected in order to determine whether UCRP has sufficient cash 
in future periods for projected benefit payments for current members. For this purpose, Medical Center contributions that are intended 
to fund benefits of current plan members and their beneficiaries are included. Projected Medical Center and member contributions 
that are intended to fund the service costs of future plan members and their beneficiaries, as well as projected contributions of 
future plan members, are not included. UCRP was projected to have assets sufficient to make projected benefit payments for current 
members for all future years as of June 30, 2019 and 2018.

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to the Discount Rate Assumption 
The following presents the June 30, 2019 net pension liability of the Medical Center calculated using the June 30, 2019 discount rate 
assumption of 6.75 percent, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate different than 
the current assumption: 

(in thousands of dollars)

1% DECREASE 
(5.75%)

CURRENT DISCOUNT 
(6.75%)

1% INCREASE 
(7.75%)

Davis $1,883,071 $1,151,862 $550,076

Irvine 849,320 519,523 248,100

Los Angeles 2,036,653 1,245,807 594,940

San Diego 1,380,298 844,319 403,208

San Francisco 2,687,573 1,643,970 785,084

Total $8,836,915 $5,405,481 $2,581,408
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Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for pensions are related to the following sources as of the years  
ended June 30:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location’s contributions and proportionate share  
   of contributions

$18,100 $5,236 $13,466 $47,765 $78,965 $163,532

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 387,622 174,829 419,235 284,128 553,224 1,819,038

Difference between expected and actual experience 30,212 13,626 32,675 22,145 43,118 141,776

Total $435,934 $193,691 $465,376 $354,038 $675,307 $2,124,346

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location’s contributions and proportionate share 
   of contributions

$9,793 $17,061 $18,397 $45,251

Net difference between projected and actual 
   earnings on pension plan investments

7,446 3,359 8,054 $5,458 $10,628 34,945

Difference between expected and actual experience 509 230 551 373 727 2,390

Total $17,748 $20,650 $27,002 $5,831 $11,355 $82,586

2018

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location’s contributions and proportionate share  
   of contributions

$24,416 $1,534 $20,474 $64,388 $102,784 $213,596

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 31,212 13,531 34,252 22,336 42,987 144,318

Difference between expected and actual experience 16,627 7,209 18,248 11,900 22,902 76,886

Total $72,255 $22,274 $72,974 $98,624 $168,673 $434,800

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location’s contributions and proportionate share  
   of contributions

$3,697 $24,675 $2,327 $50 $3,159 $33,908

Net difference between projected and actual 
   earnings on pension plan investments

14,727 6,385 16,163 10,540 20,285 68,100

Difference between expected and actual experience 3,774 1,636 4,142 2,701 5,198 17,451

Total $22,198 $32,696 $22,632 $13,291 $28,642 $119,459

Net deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense during 
the years ended June 30 as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2020 $137,843 $56,430 $145,002 $116,574 $225,739 $681,588

2021 71,467 27,245 72,879 65,481 121,864 358,936

2022 112,895 46,780 118,768 92,196 173,190 543,829

2023 95,981 42,586 101,725 73,956 143,159 457,407

Total $418,186 $173,041 $438,374 $348,207 $663,952 $2,041,760
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The University of California Retirement Savings Program (UCRSP) plans (Defined Contribution (DC) Plan, Supplemental DC Plan, 403(b) 
Plan and 457(b) Plan) provide savings incentives and additional retirement security for all eligible employees. The DC Plan accepts both 
pretax and after-tax employee contributions. The Supplemental DC Plan accepts employer contributions on behalf of certain qualifying 
employees. The 403(b) and 457(b) Plans accept pretax employee contributions and the Medical Centers may also make contributions 
on behalf of certain members of management. Benefits from the UCRSP plans are based on participants’ mandatory and voluntary 
contributions, plus earnings, and are immediately vested.

Orange County Employees Retirement System
Orange County Employees Retirement System (OCERS) administers a cost-sharing multi-employer governmental defined benefit 
pension plan for the county of Orange, city of San Juan Capistrano and 13 special districts. Certain employees of the University of 
California, Irvine Medical Center were eligible to continue to participate in OCERS at the time the hospital was acquired.  

OCERS provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement benefits are tiered based upon date of OCERS membership. 
Participation in OCERS for UC Irvine Medical Center employees is closed. UC Irvine Medical Center’s share of net pension liability, 
deferred inflows of resources, deferred outflows of resources and pension expense have been determined based upon its specific 
actuarial accrued liability and a share of assets allocated in accordance with a formula set forth in OCERS’ policy. The fiduciary net 
position and changes in net position have been measured consistent with the accounting policies used by OCERS. Pursuant to an 
agreement between the University and the county of Orange (OC), the University and OC will equally split the contributions and net 
pension liability. The amounts reported in the financial statements reflect the University’s share of the net pension liability, deferred 
inflows and outflows and pension expense.   

Additional information on OCERS can be obtained from the 2018-2019 annual reports of the Orange County Employees Retirement 
System at https://www.ocers.org.

Membership in the OCERS Plan consisted of the following at December 31, 2018: 17,674 retired members and beneficiaries, 
6,026 inactive members and 21,929 active members. 

Contributions
Contribution rates for OCERS are set by the Board of Trustees. 

Net Pension Liability
The Irvine Medical Center’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was $17.4 million and $13.8 million as of June 30, 2019  
and 2018, respectively. Irvine Medical Center’s net pension liability for OCERS was measured as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the  
total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 rolled forward to June 30, 2019  
and 2018, respectively. The actuarial assumptions used in 2019 and 2018 were based on the results of an experience study for the 
period from January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2016. The net pension liability for the Plan was calculated based upon the following 
assumptions as of June 30, 2019 and 2018: 2.8 percent inflation, 7.0 percent investment rate of return, 4.25 to 12.25 percent projected 
salary increases for general members and 2.8 percent cost-of-living adjustments. 

102



The target allocation and projected arithmetic real rates of return, after deducting inflation, but before investment expenses, used in 
the derivation of the long-term expected investment rate of return assumption for each major asset class for OCERS Plan are as follows: 

(shown as percentage)

TARGET ALLOCATION LONG-TERM EXPECTED  
REAL RATE OF RETURN

Asset class:

Global equity 35.0% 6.4%

Core bonds 13.0 1.0

High yield bonds 4.0 3.5

Bank loan 2.0 2.9

Treasury inflation-protected securities (TIPS) 4.0 1.0

Emerging market debt 4.0 3.8

Real estate 10.0 4.3

Core infrastructure 2.0 5.5

Natural resources 10.0 7.9

Risk mitigation 5.0 4.7

Mezzanine/distressed debts 3.0 6.5

Private equity 8.0 9.5

Total 100.0%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.0 percent for June 30, 2019 and 2018. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that 
employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rate. For this purpose, only employer 
contributions will be made at rates equal to the actuarially determined contribution rates. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to the Discount Rate Assumption
The following presents the current-period net pension liability calculated using the June 30, 2019 discount rate assumption of 7.0 percent, 
as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate different than the current assumption:

(in thousands of dollars)

1% DECREASE
(6.0%)

CURRENT DISCOUNT  
(7.0%)

1% INCREASE
(8.0%)

Net pension liability $25,314 $17,404 $10,975

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
As of June 30, deferred outflows of resource and deferred inflows of resources are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Difference between expected and actual experience $542 $374

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 949 1,186

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 1,525

Total $3,016 $1,560

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Difference between expected and actual experience $1,751 $2,286

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 261 482

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 1,887

Total $2,012 $4,655
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The net amount of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions that will be recognized in 
pension expense during the next five years is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ending June 30

2020 $288

2021 (56)

2022 80

2023 641

2024 51

Total $1,004

Children’s Hospital and Research Center Oakland Pension Plan
CHRCO administers the CHRCO Pension Plan as the sponsor and plan assets are held by U.S. Bank (the Trustee). The CHRCO Pension Plan 
is a noncontributory defined benefit plan subject to the single employer defined benefit under ERISA rules that covers active and retired 
employees. The CHRCO Pension Plan was amended effective January 1, 2012 to exclude unrepresented employees hired or rehired on or 
after January 1, 2012. The CHRCO Pension Plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits to plan participants. Benefits are based 
on a participant’s length of service, age at retirement and average compensation as defined by the CHRCO Pension Plan.

The net pension liability for the CHRCO Pension Plan was calculated based upon the following assumptions as of June 30, 2019 and 2018: 
3.0 percent inflation, 7.0 percent investment rate of return, 4.0 percent projected salary increases and no cost-of-living adjustments. 
CHRCO recognized pension expense of $27.1 million and $22.3 million for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an experience review conducted during 
2019. In 2019, mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 mortality (base year 2006) with fully generational projected mortality 
improvements using projection scale MP-2018. 

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2018 valuation were based on the results of an experience review conducted during 
2017. In 2018, mortality rates were based on the RP-2016 mortality with fully generational projected mortality improvements using 
modified scale MP-2016. The MP-2016 projection scale was modified for this valuation to utilize the Social Security Administration’s 
intermediate cost projection scale and a 15-year convergence period.  

Additional information on the CHRCO Pension Plan can be found in the annual reports, which can be obtained by writing to Children’s 
Hospital Oakland, Finance Department, 747 52nd Street, Oakland, California 94609.  
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Condensed financial information for the CHRCO Pension Plan as of and for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL & RESEARCH 
CENTER OAKLAND PENSION PLAN

2019 2018

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Investments at fair value $501,110 $460,061

Total assets 501,110 460,061
Other liabilities 2,500

Total liabilities 2,500

Net position held in trust $498,610 $460,061

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

Contributions $31,200 $33,600

Investment and other income, net 25,203 33,269

Total additions 56,403 66,869

Benefit payment and participant withdrawals 15,143 12,802

Plan expense 2,711 3,014

Total deductions 17,854 15,816

Increase in net position held in trust 38,549 51,053

Net position held in trust

Beginning of year 460,061 409,008

End of year $498,610 $460,061

CHANGES IN TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY

Service cost $11,430 $11,304

Interest 34,165 31,854

Changes of benefit terms 5,214 92

Difference between expected and actual experience 3,609

Changes of assumptions and other inputs (9,540)

Benefits paid, including refunds of employee contributions (15,143) (12,802)

Net change in total pension liability 26,126 34,057

Total pension liability

Beginning of year 484,209 450,152

End of year 510,335 484,209
Net pension liability, end of year $11,725 $24,148

Membership in the CHRCO Pension Plan consisted of the following at June 30, 2019:

Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits 1,031

Inactive members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits 1,152

Active members 1,856

Total membership 4,039

Contributions 
Employer contributions for the CHRCO Pension Plan are determined under IRC Section 430. Employees are not required or permitted  
to contribute to the CHRCO Pension Plan.
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Net Pension Liability
The net pension liability for CHRCO was measured as of June 30 and the total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of January 1, rolled forward to June 30. The target allocation and projected arithmetic real rates of return, after deducting inflation, 
but before investment expenses, used in the derivation of the long-term expected investment rate of return assumption for each  
major asset class for the CHRCO Pension Plan are as follows for June 30, 2019: 

(shown as percentage)

TOTAL ALLOCATION LONG-TERM EXPECTED  
REAL RATE OF RETURN

Asset class:

Domestic equity 49.3% 4.3%

Developed international equity 11.6 5.9

Emerging market equity 1.5 8.4

Core fixed income 37.6 2.2

Total 100.0%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.0 percent for June 30, 2019 and 2018. The projection of cash flows used 
to determine the discount rate assumes that CHRCO will make contributions to the plan under IRC Section 430’s minimum requirements 
for a period of eight years, and that all future assumptions are met. Based on these assumptions, the CHRCO Pension Plan fiduciary net 
position is projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments for current active and inactive employees. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to the Discount Rate Assumption
The following presents the current-period net pension liability calculated using the June 30, 2019 discount rate assumption of 7.0 percent, 
as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate different than the current assumption:

(in thousands of dollars)

1% DECREASE
(6.0%)

CURRENT DISCOUNT
(7.0%)

1% INCREASE
(8.0%)

Net pension liability $84,367 $11,725 ($48,305)

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
As of June 30, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Difference between expected and actual experience $8,106 $5,714

Changes of benefit terms 94 178

Changes of assumptions 9,550 15,659

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 2,506

Total $20,256 $21,551

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Difference between expected and actual experience $1,050 $1,709

Changes of assumptions 7,993

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments 267

Total $9,043 $1,976
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The net amount of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions that will be recognized in 
pension expense during the next five years and thereafter is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Year Ending June 30

2020 $9,044

2021 959

2022 965

2023 1,239

2024 (633)

Thereafter (361)

Total $11,213

13. RETIREE HEALTH PLANS
The University administers single-employer health and welfare plans to provide health and welfare benefits, primarily medical, dental 
and vision, to eligible retirees (and their eligible family members) of the University of California and its affiliates through UCRHBT.  
The Regents has the authority to establish and amend the plan. While retiree health benefits are not a legal obligation of the University 
and can be cancelled or modified at any time, accounting standards require the University to recognize a net retiree health liability 
based on the current practices of providing retiree health benefits. Additional information on the retiree health plans can be obtained 
from the 2018-2019 annual reports of the University of California. 

The contribution requirements of the eligible retirees and the participating University locations, such as the Medical Centers, are 
established and may be amended by the University. Membership in a defined benefit plan to which the University contributes or 
participation in the DC Plan as a result of a Savings Choice election is required to become eligible for retiree health benefits. Contributions 
toward benefits are shared with the retiree. The University determines the employer’s contribution. Retirees are required to pay the 
difference between the employer’s contribution and the full cost of the health insurance. Retirees who are employed by the University 
after July 1, 2013, and retire at the age of 56 or older, become eligible for a percentage of the University’s contribution based on age 
and years of service. Retirees are eligible for the maximum University contribution at age 65 with 20 or more years of service. Retirees 
employed by the University prior to 1990 and not rehired after that date are eligible for the University’s maximum contribution if they 
retire before age 55 and have at least 10 years of service, or if they retire at age 55 or later and have at least five years of service. Retirees 
employed by the University after 1989 and prior to July 2013 become eligible for a percentage of the University’s contribution starting at 
50 percent of the maximum University contribution with 10 years of service, increasing to 100 percent after 20 years of service. 

Contributions
Campus and Medical Center contributions toward retiree health benefits, at rates determined by the University, are made to UCRHBT. 
The University receives retiree health contributions from retirees that are deducted from their UCRP benefit payments or are 
received from the retiree through direct pay. The University also remits these retiree contributions to UCRHBT. The University acts as 
a third-party administrator on behalf of UCRHBT and pays health care insurers and administrators amounts currently due under the 
University’s retiree health benefit plans for retirees who previously worked at a campus or Medical Center. UCRHBT reimburses the 
University for these amounts.

Participating University locations, such as the Medical Centers, are required to contribute at a rate assessed each year by the University. 
The contribution requirements are based upon projected pay-as-you-go financing requirements. The assessment rates were $2.70 and 
$2.80 per $100 of UCRP covered payroll effective July 1, 2018 and 2017, respectively. 
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The Medical Centers’ cash contributions for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Davis $22,032 $22,535

Irvine 9,948 10,170

Los Angeles 23,606 26,042

San Diego 16,196 16,088

San Francisco 33,792 33,182

Total $105,574 $108,017

In addition to the explicit University contribution provided to retirees, there is an “implicit subsidy.”  The gross premiums for members 
that are not currently eligible for Medicare benefits are the same for active employees and retirees, based on a blend of their health 
costs. Retirees, on average, are expected to have higher health care costs than active employees. This is primarily due to the older 
average age of retirees. Since the same gross premiums apply to both groups, the premiums paid for active employees by the 
University are subsidizing the premiums for retirees. The effect is the implicit subsidy. The implicit subsidy associated with retiree 
health costs paid during the past year is also considered to be a contribution from the University.

The Medical Centers’ implicit subsidy contributions for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Davis $6,539 $6,479

Irvine 2,954 2,923

Los Angeles 7,007 7,485

San Diego 4,807 4,622

San Francisco 10,032 9,535

Total $31,339 $31,044

Net Retiree Health Benefits Liability
The Medical Centers’ proportionate share of the net retiree health benefits liability as of June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

PROPORTION OF THE NET 
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS 

LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF 
THE NET RETIREE HEALTH 

BENEFITS LIABILITY

PROPORTION OF THE NET 
RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS 

LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF 
THE NET RETIREE HEALTH 

BENEFITS LIABILITY

Davis 6.6% $1,268,189 6.6% $1,215,567

Irvine 3.0 572,706 3.0 548,548

Los Angeles 7.1 1,358,829 7.7 1,404,685

San Diego 4.8 932,379 4.8 867,819

San Francisco 10.1 1,945,198 9.8 1,789,855

Total 31.6% $6,077,301 31.9% $5,826,474

The Medical Centers’ net retiree health benefits liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 and calculated using the plan 
net position valued as of the measurement date and total retiree health benefits liability based upon rolling forward the results of 
the actuarial valuations as of July 1, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Actuarial valuations represent a long-term perspective and include 
estimates of the value of reported benefits and assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. 
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Significant actuarial methods and assumptions used to calculate the Medical Centers’ net retiree health benefits liability are:  

(shown as percentage)

2019 2018

Discount rate 3.50% 3.87%

Inflation 2.5 3.0

Investment rate of return 2.5 3.0

Health care cost trend rates Initially ranges from 4.4 to 9.4 
decreasing to an ultimate rate  
of 4.0 for 2077 and later years.

Initially ranges from 5.0 to 9.3 
decreasing to an ultimate rate  
of 5.0 for 2033 and later years.

Actuarial assumptions are subject to periodic revisions as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are 
made about the future. The actuarial assumptions were changed in 2019 based upon the results of an experience study conducted 
for the period July 1, 2014 through June 30, 2018. For pre-retirement mortality rates, the Pub-2010 Teacher Employee Headcount-
Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table were used. For post-retirement, healthy mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 Healthy 
Teacher Retiree Headcount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table and multiplied by 90 percent for faculty members or 115 percent 
and 110 percent for other male and female members, respectively. For beneficiaries of retired members, rates were based on the 
Pub-2010 Contingent Survivor Headcount-Weighted Above-Median Mortality Table. For disabled members, rates were based on the 
Pub-2010 Non-Safety Disabled Retiree-Headcount Weighted Mortality Table. All mortality rates are projected generationally with the 
two-dimensional mortality improvement scale MP-2018. 

The actuarial assumptions used in 2018 were based upon the results of an experience study conducted for the period of July 1, 2010 
through June 30, 2014. For pre-retirement mortality rates, the RP-2014 White Collar Employee Mortality Tables (separate table for 
males and females) projected with the two-dimensional MP-2014 projection scale to 2029 were used. For post-retirement, healthy 
mortality rates are based on the RP-2014 White Collar Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table projected with the two-dimensional MP-2014 
projection scale to 2029, and with ages then set forward one year. For disabled members, rates are based on the RP-2014 Disabled 
Retiree Mortality Table projected with the two-dimensional MP-2014 projection scale to 2029, and with ages then set back one year for 
males and set forward five years for females. For disabled members, rates are based on the RP-2014 Disabled Retiree Mortality Table, 
projected with the two-dimensional MP-2014 projection scale to 2029 and with ages then set back one year for males and set forward 
five years for females.

Sensitivity of Net Retiree Health Benefits Liability to the Health Care Cost Trend Rate
The following presents the June 30, 2019 net retiree health benefits liability of the Medical Center calculated using the June 30, 2019 
health care cost trend rate assumption with initial trend ranging from 4.4 percent to 9.4 percent grading down to an ultimate trend of 
4.0 percent over 58 years, as well as what the net retiree health benefits liability would be if it were calculated using a health care cost 
trend rate different than the current assumption:

(in thousands of dollars)

1% DECREASE 
(3.4% to 8.4%) 

DECREASING TO (3.0%)

CURRENT TREND 
(4.4% to 9.4%) 

DECREASING TO (4.0%)

1% INCREASE 
(5.4% to 10.4%) 

DECREASING TO (5.0%)

Davis $1,044,832 $1,268,189 $1,564,296

Irvine 471,839 572,706 706,426

Los Angeles 1,119,508 1,358,829 1,676,099

San Diego 768,165 932,379 1,150,078

San Francisco 1,602,603 1,945,198 2,399,378

Total $5,006,947 $6,077,301 $7,496,277

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to estimate the net retiree health benefits liability as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 was 3.50 percent and 3.87 percent, 
respectively. The discount rate was based on the Bond Buyer 20-Bond General Obligation index since UCHRBT plan assets are not 
sufficient to make benefit payments.  

109



Sensitivity of Net Retiree Health Benefits Liability to the Discount Rate Assumption
The following presents the June 30, 2019 net retiree health benefits liability of the Medical Center calculated using the June 30, 2019 
discount rate assumption of 3.5 percent, as well as what the net retiree health benefits liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate different than the current assumption:

(in thousands of dollars)

1% DECREASE 
(2.5%)

CURRENT DISCOUNT 
(3.5%)

1% INCREASE 
(4.5%)

Davis $1,518,521 $1,268,189 $1,071,399

Irvine 685,754 572,706 483,837

Los Angeles 1,627,053 1,358,829 1,147,974

San Diego 1,116,424 932,379 787,698

San Francisco 2,329,167 1,945,198 1,643,354

Total $7,276,919 $6,077,301 $5,134,262

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources for retiree health benefits are related to the following sources as of 
the years ended June 30:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location's contributions and proportionate share  
   of contributions

$19,042 $1,989 $59,296 $112,612 $262,776 $455,715

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 246,684 111,401 264,315 181,363 378,374 1,182,137

Net difference between projected and  
   actual earnings on plan investments

212 96 228 156 326 1,018

Difference between expected and actual experience 4,252 1,920 4,556 3,126 6,522 20,376

Total $270,190 $115,406 $328,395 $297,257 $647,998 $1,659,246

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location's contributions and proportionate share 
   of contributions

$12,250 $32,699 $113,127 $158,076

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 183,143 82,706 196,233 $134,648 $280,912 877,642

Difference between expected and actual experience 195,676 88,366 209,662 143,862 300,136 937,702

Total $391,069 $203,771 $519,022 $278,510 $581,048 $1,973,420
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(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2018

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location’s contributions and proportionate share  
   of contributions

$22,265 $2,364 $68,842 $112,121 $243,289 $448,881

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 222,471 100,394 257,083 158,827 327,577 1,066,352

Net difference between projected and  
   actual earnings on plan investments

254 115 294 181 374 1,218

Difference between expected and actual experience 4,979 2,247 5,754 3,555 7,331 23,866

Total $249,969 $105,120 $331,973 $274,684 $578,571 $1,540,317

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

Changes in proportion and differences between 
   location’s contributions and proportionate share 
   of contributions

$31,952 $31,952

Changes of assumptions or other inputs $214,481 96,789 $247,850 $153,123 $315,812 1,028,055

Difference between expected and actual experience 151,763 68,486 175,375 108,347 223,463 727,434

Total $366,244 $197,227 $423,225 $261,470 $539,275 $1,787,441

The net amount of deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to retiree health benefits that will be 
recognized in retiree health benefit expense during the years ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2020 ($13,375) ($11,468) ($22,128) $7,118 $19,400 ($20,453)

2021 (13,398) (11,478) (22,152) 7,102 19,365 (20,561)

2022 (13,425) (11,490) (22,181) 7,082 19,323 (20,691)

2023 (13,451) (11,502) (22,209) 7,063 19,285 (20,814)

2024 (21,251) (15,024) (30,567) 1,328 7,319 (58,195)

Thereafter (45,979) (27,403) (71,390) (10,946) (17,742) (173,460)

Total ($120,879) ($88,365) ($190,627) $18,747 $66,950 ($314,174)

14. SELF-INSURANCE

The Medical Centers are insured through the University’s and its captive’s malpractice, general liability, workers’ compensation, and health 
and welfare programs. All operating departments of the University are charged premiums to finance the workers’ compensation and 
health and welfare programs. The University’s Medical Centers are charged premiums to finance the malpractice insurance. All claims 
and related expenses are paid from the University’s self-insurance funds or the University’s wholly owned captive insurance company. 
Such risks are subject to various per claim and aggregate limits, with excess liability coverage provided by independent insurers. 

Malpractice and general liability premiums are recorded as insurance and other expense in the statements of revenues, expenses and 
changes in net position. Workers’ compensation premiums, net of refunds, are included as other employee benefits in the statements 
of revenues, expenses and changes in net position.
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CHRCO’s liabilities for medical malpractice, workers’ compensation and health care claims changed as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

MEDICAL  
MALPRACTICE

WORKERS'  
COMPENSATION

EMPLOYEE  
HEALTH CARE TOTAL

2019

Liabilities at June 30, 2018 $5,050 $11,678 $1,685 $18,413

Claims incurred and changes in estimates (204) 3,245 9,998 13,039

Claim payments 463 (2,822) (10,039) (12,398)

Liabilities at June 30, 2019 $5,309 $12,101 $1,644 $19,054

Discount rate Undiscounted 5.0% Undiscounted

2018

Liabilities at June 30, 2017 $4,563 $12,221 $1,675 $18,459

Claims incurred and changes in estimates (1,943) 2,411 10,104 10,572

Claim payments 2,430 (2,954) (10,094) (10,618)

Liabilities at June 30, 2018 $5,050 $11,678 $1,685 $18,413

Discount rate Undiscounted 5.0% Undiscounted

2017

Liabilities at June 30, 2016 $4,425 $12,540 $1,864 $18,829

Claims incurred and changes in estimates 730 2,469 7,965 11,164

Claim payments (592) (2,788) (8,154) (11,534)

Liabilities at June 30, 2017 $4,563 $12,221 $1,675 $18,459

Discount rate Undiscounted 5.0% Undiscounted

CHRCO has three irrevocable letters of credit with a bank totaling $13.8 million as of June 30, 2019, which is mostly security for the 
workers’ compensation large dollar insurance deductible. No amounts were drawn on the letter of credit as of June 30, 2019.
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15. TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER UNIVERSITY ENTITIES
Services purchased from the University include office and medical supplies, building maintenance, repairs and maintenance, 
administrative, treasury, medical services and insurance. Services provided to the University include physician office rentals, 
pharmaceuticals, billing services, medical supplies and cafeteria services. Such amounts are netted and reported as operating  
expenses in the statements of revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the years ended June 30 as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Other employee benefits $12,574 ($19,167) $26,376 ($1,927) $16,750 $34,606

Professional services 94,634 5,871 2,237 67,010 678,724 848,476

Other supplies and purchased services (9,716) 52,743 87,672 3,804 44,147 178,650

Insurance and other 16,584 8,132 9,915 11,957 12,261 58,849

Interest expenses (income), net (19,774) (9,059) (30,449) (7,506) (23,262) (90,050)

Total $94,302 $38,520 $95,751 $73,338 $728,620 $1,030,531

2018

Other employee benefits $10,012 $6,052 $22,963 $11,417 $18,456 $68,900

Professional services 89,524 4,463 2,079 59,812 601,395 757,273

Other supplies and purchased services (6,784) 42,983 83,616 12,444 39,073 171,332

Insurance and other 13,526 6,639 7,179 11,197 11,322 49,863

Interest expenses (income), net (11,888) (5,573) (21,720) (4,866) (15,498) (59,545)

Total $94,390 $54,564 $94,117 $90,004 $654,748 $987,823

Additionally, the Medical Centers make payments to the Schools of Medicine. Services purchased from the Schools of Medicine include 
physician services that benefit the Medical Centers, such as emergency room coverage, physicians providing medical direction to the 
Medical Centers and the Medical Centers’ allocation of malpractice insurance. Such expenses are reported as operating expenses in 
the statements of revenue, expenses and changes in net position. Health system support includes amounts paid to the Schools of 
Medicine by the Medical Centers to fund the operating activities, clinical research and faculty practice plans, as well as other payments 
made to support various programs. 

The payments made by the Medical Centers for the years ended June 30 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

DAVIS IRVINE LOS ANGELES SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO TOTAL

2019

Reported as operating expenses $94,302 $38,520 $95,751 $73,338 $728,620 $1,030,531

Reported as health system support 29,033 85,051 218,228 127,684 146,232 606,228

Total payments to the University $123,335 $123,571 $313,979 $201,022 $874,852 $1,636,759

2018

Reported as operating expenses $94,390 $54,564 $94,117 $90,004 $654,748 $987,823

Reported as health system support 30,285 48,173 212,827 124,055 116,286 531,626

Total payments to the University $124,675 $102,737 $306,944 $214,059 $771,034 $1,519,449
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16. COMPONENT UNIT INFORMATION
Condensed financial statement information related to CHRCO for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Current assets $328,387 $311,603

Capital assets, net 330,502 325,396

Other assets 296,882 269,174

Total assets 955,771 906,173

Total deferred outflows of resources 20,256 21,551

Current liabilities 197,066 193,228

Long-term debt 101,980 102,518

Other noncurrent liabilities 41,911 53,506

Total liabilities 340,957 349,252

Total deferred inflows of resources 24,994 15,942

Net investment in capital assets 227,984 222,341

Restricted 83,004 66,759

Unrestricted 299,088 273,430

Total net position $610,076 $562,530

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Net patient service revenue $586,930 $525,401

Grants and contracts 43,134 43,766

Other operating revenue 23,611 22,441

Operating expenses (619,035) (582,955)

Depreciation expense (35,887) (35,946)

Operating income (loss) (1,247) (27,293)

Nonoperating revenues, net 44,063 44,428

Income before other changes in net position 42,816 17,135

Other, including donated assets 4,730 2,014

Increase in net position 47,546 19,149

Net position - beginning of year 562,530 543,381

Net position - end of year $610,076 $562,530

CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Net cash provided (used) by:

Operating activities $48,781 $37,520

Noncapital financing activities 31,735 23,462

Capital and related financing activities (48,572) (56,953)

Investing activities (12,945) 18,657

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18,999 22,686

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of year 141,548 118,862

Cash and cash equivalents – end of year $160,547 $141,548
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17. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The health care industry is subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state and local governments. Compliance with these 
laws and regulations is subject to periodic governmental review, interpretation and audits, as well as regulatory actions unknown and 
unasserted at this time.

The Medical Centers are contingently liable in connection with certain claims and contracts, including those currently in litigation, 
arising out of the normal course of its activities. Management and General Counsel are of the opinion that the outcome of such matters 
will not have a material effect on the Medical Centers’ financial position.

The Medical Centers have entered into various construction contracts. The remaining costs of the Medical Center projects, excluding 
interest, as of June 30, 2019 are estimated to be approximately:

(in thousands of dollars)

Davis $24,782

Irvine 125,625

Los Angeles 17,517

San Diego 13,039

San Francisco 83,773

Total $264,736

Under an agreement with a private, non-profit hospital, UCSF Medical Center committed to provide $90.0 million in aggregate capital 
investments through a series of newly formed joint ventures with the hospital over the course of the initial 10 years of the agreement. 
As of June 30, 2019, UCSF Medical Center deposited $30.0 million to a designated bank account for this purpose with the amount 
reported as prepaid expenses and other assets. An additional service agreement was signed for UCSF Medical Center to operate certain 
outpatient clinics whose sole corporate member is the same non-profit hospital.
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Required Supplementary Information (Unaudited)

UCRP
The individual schedule of the Medical Centers’ proportionate share of UCRP’s net pension liability is presented below:

(in thousands of dollars)

AS OF 
JUNE 30

PROPORTION OF THE  
NET PENSION LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF  
THE NET PENSION LIABILITY COVERED PAYROLL

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE  
NET PENSION LIABILITY AS A  

PERCENTAGE OF ITS COVERED PAYROLL

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE 
TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY

DAVIS

2019 6.7% $1,151,862 $793,442 145.2% 79.5%

2018 6.8 643,552 791,832 81.3 87.2

2017 6.7 675,141 732,307 92.2 85.3

2016 6.6 895,967 682,784 131.2 78.2

2015 6.5 627,561 635,120 98.8 83.8

2014 6.6 468,810 603,824 77.6 87.2

2013 6.5 690,989 563,695 122.6 78.6

2012 6.3 880,516 522,988 168.4 71.9

IRVINE

2019 3.0% $519,523 $357,866 145.2% 79.5%

2018 3.0 279,015 343,303 81.3 87.2

2017 3.2 321,946 349,207 92.2 85.3

2016 3.2 438,524 334,184 131.2 78.2

2015 3.2 308,211 311,924 98.8 83.8

2014 3.3 235,813 303,726 77.6 87.2

2013 3.3 345,341 281,722 122.6 78.6

2012 3.3 466,849 277,288 168.4 71.9

LOS ANGELES

2019 7.2% $1,245,807 $858,155 145.2% 79.5%

2018 7.5 706,286 869,020 81.3 87.2

2017 7.3 741,290 804,058 92.2 85.3

2016 7.3 990,520 754,840 131.2 78.2

2015 7.2 697,260 705,659 98.8 83.8

2014 7.3 513,936 661,946 77.6 87.2

2013 7.0 739,451 603,229 122.6 78.6

2012 6.6 928,298 551,368 168.4 71.9

SAN DIEGO

2019 4.9% $844,319 $581,596 145.2% 79.5%

2018 4.9 460,577 566,698 81.3 87.2

2017 4.5 459,781 498,712 92.2 85.3

2016 4.1 564,996 430,563 131.2 78.2

2015 4.0 385,387 390,029 98.8 83.8

2014 3.9 271,458 349,636 77.6 87.2

2013 3.8 405,012 330,401 122.6 78.6

2012 4.2 587,011 348,659 168.4 71.9

SAN FRANCISCO

2019 9.6% $1,643,970 $1,132,424 145.2% 79.5%

2018 9.4 886,409 1,090,645 81.3 87.2

2017 9.1 919,943 997,838 92.2 85.3

2016 8.6 1,171,002 892,379 131.2 78.2

2015 8.1 777,948 787,319 98.8 83.8

2014 7.4 523,452 674,202 77.6 87.2

2013 7.8 822,056 670,617 122.6 78.6

2012 7.5 1,044,811 620,572 168.4 71.9
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The total schedule of the Medical Centers’ proportionate share of UCRP’s net pension liability is presented below:

(in thousands of dollars)

AS OF JUNE 30 PROPORTION OF THE 
 NET PENSION LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF  
THE NET PENSION LIABILITY COVERED PAYROLL

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE 
NET PENSION LIABILITY AS A 

PERCENTAGE OF ITS COVERED PAYROLL

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION 
AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE TOTAL 

PENSION LIABILITY

TOTAL

2019 31.4% $5,405,481 $3,723,483 145.2% 79.5%

2018 31.6 2,975,839 3,661,498 81.3 87.2

2017 30.8 3,118,101 3,382,122 92.2 85.3

2016 29.8 4,061,009 3,094,750 131.2 78.2

2015 29.0 2,796,367 2,830,051 98.8 83.8

2014 28.5 2,013,469 2,593,334 77.6 87.2

2013 28.4 3,002,849 2,449,664 122.6 78.6

2012 27.9 3,907,485 2,320,875 168.4 71.9

CHRCO PENSION PLAN
The schedule of changes in the net pension liability for the CHRCO Pension Plan for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY

As of June 30

Service cost $11,430 $11,304 $9,910 $10,410 $9,448 $9,274

Interest on the total pension liability 34,165 31,854 29,672 27,782 24,683 22,453

Changes of benefit terms 92 33 24 40 142

Difference between expected and actual experience 5,214 3,609 2,442 (3,690) 762 2,487

Changes of assumptions or other inputs (9,540) 3,613 33,105

Benefits paid, including refunds of employee contributions (15,143) (12,802) (11,767) (9,509) (8,082) (6,994)

Net change in total pension liability 26,126 34,057 30,290 28,630 59,956 27,362

Total pension liability - beginning of year 484,209 450,152 419,862 391,232 331,276 303,914

Total pension liability - end of year 510,335 484,209 450,152 419,862 391,232 331,276

PLAN NET POSITION

Contributions - employer 31,200 33,600 28,800 24,000 18,000 14,500

Net investment income 25,203 33,269 41,256 214 11,797 48,704

Benefits paid, including refunds of employee contributions (15,143) (12,802) (11,767) (9,509) (8,082) (6,994)

Administrative expense (2,711) (3,014) (2,727) (1,816) (1,222) (718)

Net change in plan net position 38,549 51,053 55,562 12,889 20,493 55,492

Total plan net position - beginning of year 460,061 409,008 353,446 340,557 320,064 264,572

Total plan net position - end of year 498,610 460,061 409,008 353,446 340,557 320,064

Net pension liability - end of year $11,725 $24,148 $41,144 $66,416 $50,675 $11,212
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The schedule of net pension liability for the CHRCO Pension Plan as of June 30 is:

 (in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Total pension liability $510,335 $484,209 $450,152 $419,862 $391,232 $331,276

Plan net position 498,610 460,061 409,008 353,446 340,557 320,064

Net pension liability $11,725 $24,148 $41,144 $66,416 $50,675 $11,212

Ratio of plan net position to total pension liability 97.7% 95.0% 90.9% 84.2% 87.0% 96.6%

Covered payroll $190,599 $187,639 $184,083 $165,672 $177,986 $175,189

Net pension liability as a percentage of covered payroll 6.2% 12.9% 22.4% 40.1% 28.5% 6.4%

The schedule of employer contributions for the CHRCO Pension Plan for the years ended June 30 is:

 (in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially calculated employer contributions $17,870 $7,710 $5,642 $7,823 $12,239 $21,282

Contributions in relation to the actuarially calculated 
employer contribution

31,200 33,600 28,800 24,000 18,000 14,500

Annual contribution (excess) deficiency ($13,330) ($25,890) ($23,158) ($16,177) ($5,761) $6,782

Covered payroll $190,599 $187,639 $184,083 $165,672 $177,986 $175,189

Actual contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 16.4% 17.9% 15.6% 14.5% 10.1% 8.3%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Valuation date Actuarially calculated contributions are calculated as of January 1 of the end of the fiscal year in which contributions  
are reported.

Actuarially determined contribution The Plan is subject to funding requirements under ERISA. The contribution shown is the IRC Section 430 minimum 
contribution prior to offset by credit balances prorated for the number of months in the fiscal year. For the period 
January 1, 2014 to June 30, 2014, the amount shown does not reflect changes in the Highway and Transportation 
Funding Act of 2014 (HATFA). The contribution for July 1, 2014 and thereafter includes HATFA.            

Contributions in relation to the actuarially 
determined contribution

The amount shown is equal to the contributions contributed to the Plan during the fiscal year shown.          

Actuarial cost method Unit Credit Actuarial Cost Method.

Amortization method Level dollar, closed amortization.

Remaining amortization period 7 years for changes in unfunded liabilities that occur each valuation date.

Asset valuation method The actuarial value of assets is equal to the two-year average of Plan asset values as of the valuation date. The two-year 
average is the average of the two prior years' adjusted market value of assets and the current year's market value of 
assets. For this purpose, the prior years' market value of assets is adjusted to reflect benefit payments, administrative 
expenses, contributions and expected returns for the prior years. The resulting actuarial value of assets is adjusted to be 
within 10% of the market value of assets at the valuation date, as required by IRC Section 430.

Inflation 3.0%.

Investment rate of return 7.0%, net of pension plan investment expenses, including inflation.

Projected salary increases 5.0%, including inflation through 2017, 4.0% afterward.

Cost-of-living adjustments N/A.

Mortality Adjusted RP-2014 Mortality Table for males or females with back up base table to 2006, as appropriate,  
with generational adjustments for mortality improvements based on Scale MP-2017.

OCERS
The schedule of Irvine’s proportionate share of OCERS’ net pension liability is presented below:

(in thousands of dollars)

AS OF JUNE 
30

PROPORTION OF THE  
NET PENSION LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF  
THE NET PENSION LIABILITY COVERED PAYROLL

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE  
NET PENSION LIABILITY AS A  

PERCENTAGE OF ITS COVERED PAYROLL

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION  
AS A PERCENTAGE OF THE  
TOTAL PENSION LIABILITY

2019 0.3% $17,404 34.0%

2018 0.3 13,822 $15 92,146.7% 37.6

2017 0.3 18,057 44 41,038.6 34.5

2016 0.3 18,092 285 6,347.5 34.8

118



RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS
The schedule of the Medical Centers’ proportionate share of UCRHBT’s net retiree health benefits liability is presented below:

(in thousands of dollars)

AS OF 
JUNE 30

PROPORTION OF  
THE NET RETIREE  

HEALTH BENEFITS LIABILITY

PROPORTIONATE SHARE  
OF THE NET RETIREE 

HEALTH BENEFITS LIABILITY
COVERED PAYROLL

PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE  
NET RETIREE HEALTH BENEFITS  

LIABILITY AS A PERCENTAGE  
OF ITS COVERED PAYROLL

PLAN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION  
AS A PERCENTAGE  

OF THE TOTAL RETIREE  
HEALTH BENEFITS LIABILITY

DAVIS

2019 6.6% $1,268,189 $816,000 155.4% 0.8%

2018 6.6 1,215,567 804,821 151.0 0.7

2017 6.6 1,227,803 735,904 166.8 0.6

2016 6.6 1,385,392 682,784 202.9 0.3

2015 6.5 1,174,370 635,120 184.9 0.3

IRVINE

2019 3.0% $572,706 $368,444 155.4% 0.8%

2018 3.0 548,548 363,214 151.0 0.7

2017 3.1 574,394 344,334 166.8 0.6

2016 3.2 678,034 334,184 202.9 0.3

2015 3.2 576,719 311,924 184.9 0.3

LOS ANGELES

2019 7.1% $1,358,829 $874,296 155.4% 0.8%

2018 7.7 1,404,685 930,071 151.0 0.7

2017 7.6 1,422,069 852,389 166.8 0.6

2016 7.3 1,531,589 754,840 202.9 0.3

2015 7.2 1,304,836 705,659 184.9 0.3

SAN DIEGO

2019 4.8% $932,379 $599,852 155.4% 0.8%

2018 4.8 867,819 574,571 151.0 0.7

2017 4.5 835,720 500,922 166.8 0.6

2016 4.1 873,597 430,563 202.9 0.3

2015 4.0 721,260 390,029 184.9 0.3

SAN FRANCISCO

2019 10.1% $1,945,198 $1,251,556 155.4% 0.8%

2018 9.8 1,789,855 1,185,071 151.0 0.7

2017 9.5 1,777,540 1,065,427 166.8 0.6

2016 8.6 1,810,693 892,379 202.9 0.3

2015 8.1 1,455,873 787,319 184.9 0.3

TOTAL

2019 31.6% $6,077,301 $3,910,148 155.4% 0.8%

2018 31.9 5,826,474 3,857,748 151.0 0.7

2017 31.3 5,837,526 3,498,976 166.8 0.6

2016 29.8 6,279,305 3,094,750 202.9 0.3

2015 29.0 5,233,058 2,830,051 184.9 0.3
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
UCSF Health Consolidating Schedule of Net Position 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

 

(in thousands of dollars) 

       

UCSF West 
Bay  
2019 

UCSF East 
Bay  
2019 Elimination 

UCSF Health 
Consolidated 

2019 
Assets         
Current assets      
 Cash     $  786,031,290  $  160,548,650  $                      -    $  946,579,940  

 Patient accounts receivable:      
  Patient accounts receivable, gross  660,492,477  84,108,185  -    744,600,662  

  Allowance on uncollectible accounts   (50,542,869)  (11,499,756) -     (62,042,625) 

   Net patient accounts receivable  609,949,608  72,608,429  -    682,558,037  

 Other receivables  25,647,388  69,694,438    (6,949,382) 88,392,444  

 Third-party payor settlements, net  10,431,534  -    -    10,431,534  

 Inventory  49,431,739  7,489,572  -    56,921,311  

 Prepaid expenses and other assets  93,682,578  18,046,269  -    111,728,847  

     Total current assets  1,575,174,137  328,387,358   (6,949,382) 1,896,612,113  
Restricted assets:      
 Donor funds  14,353,676  85,806,636  -    00,160,312  
Capital assets, net  2,097,393,587  330,501,570  -    2,427,895,157  
Investments in joint ventures  22,806,787  -    -    22,806,787  
Investments   -    195,593,963  -    195,593,963  
Other assets   10,292  15,481,865  -    15,492,157  

     Total assets  3,709,738,479  955,771,392   (6,949,382) 4,658,560,489             
Deferred Outflows of Resources      
Deferred outflows from pensions  675,306,757  20,256,327  -    695,563,084  
Deferred outflows from OPEB  647,998,000  -    -    647,998,000  
Deferred outflows from deferred financing costs  553,337  -    -    553,337  
Deferred outflows from interest rate swap agreements  8,319,383  -    -    8,319,383  

 Total deferred outflows of resources  1,332,177,477  20,256,327  -    1,352,433,804             
Liabilities       
Current liabilities      
 Accounts payable and accrued expenses 

Accrued salaries and benefits 
 227,650,035  36,598,864   (6,949,382) 257,299,517  

  115,569,612  40,351,763  -    155,921,375  

 Third-party payor settlements, net  147,627,688  29,950,340  -    177,578,028  

 
Current portion of long-term debt and capital 
leases  5,032,832  537,336  -    5,570,168  

 Other liabilities  22,873,112  89,628,129  -    112,501,241  

     Total current liabilities  518,753,279  197,066,432   (6,949,382) 708,870,329             
Long-term debt and capital leases, net of current 
portion  815,115,453  101,980,358  -    917,095,811  
Obligation to UCRP & Pension  1,643,970,695  11,724,872  -    1,655,695,567  
Payable to University  431,107,457  -    -    431,107,457  
OPEB Liability    1,945,198,003  -    -    1,945,198,003  
Interest rate swap agreements  8,319,383  -    -    8,319,383  
Self insurance    -    19,054,681  -    19,054,681  
Other non-current liabilities  -    11,130,864  -    11,130,864  

     Total liabilities  5,362,464,270  340,957,207    (6,949,382) 5,696,472,095             
Deferred Inflows from Pensions  592,402,555  24,993,580  -    617,396,135             
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
UCSF Health Consolidating Schedule of Net Position 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

 
(in thousands of dollars) 

 
  

UCSF West 
Bay  
2019 

UCSF East 
Bay  
2019 Elimination 

UCSF Health 
Consolidated 

2019 
Net Assets      
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt  1,277,245,302  227,983,876  -    1,505,229,178  
Restricted:        
 Nonexpendable:      
  Endowments  -    29,149,558  -    29,149,558  

 Expendable:      
  Capital projects  79,878  2,279,396  -    2,359,274  

  Other  14,298,376  51,575,668  -    65,874,044  
Unrestricted   (2,204,574,425) 299,088,435  -      (1,905,485,990) 

     Total net assets 
 

$  (912,950,869) $  610,076,933  $                      -    $     (302,873,936) 
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
UCSF Health Consolidating Schedule of Statements of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

 

(in thousands of dollars) 

 
UCSF West Bay  

2019 

UCSF East 
Bay  

2019 Elimination 

UCSF Health 
Consolidated 

2019 
Patient service revenue:     

Net patient service revenue $  4,004,159,272  $  592,989,089  $  (21,036,812) $  4,576,111,549  
Provision for doubtful accounts             (39,720,447)  (6,058,596)                            -      (45,779,043) 

Net patient service revenue         3,964,438,825  586,930,493         (21,036,812)         4,530,332,506  
Other operating revenue:     

Grants and contracts                                -              43,133,661                             -                 43,133,661  
Other            222,135,751            23,611,176                             -               245,746,927  

            222,135,751  66,744,837                             -               288,880,588  
Total operating revenue         4,186,574,576  653,675,330         (21,036,812)         4,819,213,094       

Operating expenses:     
Salaries and wages         1,433,987,830  284,926,478                             -            1,718,914,308  
Other employee benefits            239,340,360            71,943,161                             -               311,283,521  
UCRP pension benefits            463,320,032            27,145,429                             -               490,465,461  
Retiree health benefits            171,511,229                              -                               -               171,511,229  
Professional services            764,334,406            62,197,566                             -               826,531,972  
Medical supplies            626,585,999            63,532,199                             -               690,118,198  
Other supplies and purchased services            346,937,226  62,630,987                             -               409,568,213  
Depreciation and amortization            176,334,633  35,886,784                             -               212,221,417  
Insurance              12,260,545  4,000,624                             -                 16,261,169  
Other              68,865,148  42,658,538                             -               111,523,686  

Total operating expenses         4,303,477,408  654,921,766                             -            4,958,399,174  
Income from operations          (116,902,832)  (1,246,436)        (21,036,812)          (139,186,080)      

Non-operating revenues (expenses):     
Hospital fee program grants                 8,627,768                              -                               -                    8,627,768  
Interest income              23,262,375  3,010,895                             -                 26,273,270  
Build America bonds federal interest 

subsidies              15,172,365                              -                               -                 15,172,365  
Private gifts, net                                -              31,734,741                             -                 31,734,741  
Net appreciation (depreciation) in fair value 

of investments                                -                9,414,250                             -                    9,414,250  
Interest expense             (35,374,859)  (388,186)                            -                (35,763,045) 
Other             (11,187,370) 308,736                             -                (10,878,634) 
Loss on disposal of capital assets                   (391,729)  (17,033)                            -                      (408,762) 

Total net non-operating 
revenues (expenses)                    108,550  44,063,403                             -                 44,171,953  

Income before other changes in 
net assets          (116,794,282) 42,816,967    (21,036,812)             (95,014,127) 

     
Other changes in net assets:     

Donated assets            122,767,929  4,730,024                             -               127,497,953  
Changes in pension payable to UCOP             (14,359,001)                             -                               -                (14,359,001) 
Health system support          (167,268,650)                             -             21,036,812           (146,231,838) 

Total other changes in net assets             (58,859,722) 4,730,024           21,036,812              (33,092,886) 
Increase in net assets          (175,654,004)           47,546,991                             -             (128,107,013) 

Net assets – beginning of year          (737,296,865) 562,529,944                             -             (174,766,921) 
Net assets – end of year $  (912,950,869) $  610,076,935  $                       -    $  (302,873,934)      

 

126



Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
UCSF Health Consolidating Schedule of Statements of Cash Flows 

     
 

 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements 

Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 
(in thousands of dollars) 

 
UCSF West Bay  

2019 
UCSF East Bay  

2019 Elimination 

UCSF Health 
Consolidated 

2019 
Operating (Direct)      

 Receipts from patients and third-party payors  $     3,922,149,713  $      597,891,448  $  (21,036,812) $   4,499,004,349  
 Payments to employees    (1,445,738,279)   (287,045,256) -      (1,732,783,535) 
 Payments to suppliers   (1,771,245,670)  (185,754,057) 244,137   (1,956,755,590) 
 Payments for benefits   (669,584,253)  (96,129,560) -     (765,713,813) 
 Other receipts, net  368,438,142  19,818,832   (244,137) 388,012,837  

 Total Operating (Direct Method)  404,019,653  48,781,407   (21,036,812) 431,764,248       
 Operating (Indirect)      

 Income   (116,902,832)  (1,246,437)  (21,036,812)  (139,186,081) 
 Depreciation  176,334,633  35,886,784  -    212,221,417  
 Provision for doubtful accounts  39,720,447  6,058,596  -    45,779,043  

 Accounts receivable   (129,210,392)  (4,679,303) -     (133,889,695) 
 Other receivables   (2,160,099) 935,224   (244,137)  (1,469,012) 
 Inventory   (1,378,093)  (481,899) -     (1,859,992) 
 Prepaid expenses and other assets   (49,663,843)  (1,647,865) -     (51,311,708) 
 Other assets (noncurrent)  12,169,183  -    -    12,169,183  
 A/P and accrued expenses  13,615,917   (2,615,777) 244,137  11,244,277  
 Accrued salaries and benefits  1,209,918  2,917,233  -    4,127,151  
 Third-party payor settlements  47,200,834  9,581,663  -    56,782,497  
 Retiree health & other employee benefits   (15,938,000) -    -     (15,938,000) 
 Pension Benefits  424,984,000   (2,076,981) -    422,907,019  
 Other liabilities  4,037,980  6,150,170  -    10,188,150  

 Total Operating (Indirect Method)  404,019,653  48,781,408   (21,036,812) 431,764,249       
 Non-capital Financing      

 Health system support   (167,268,650) -    21,036,812   (146,231,838) 
 Hospital Provider Fee  8,627,769  -    -    8,627,769  
 Gifts received for other than capital  -    31,734,741  -    31,734,741  

 Total Non-capital Financing   (158,640,881) 31,734,741    21,036,812   (105,869,328)      
 Capital Financing      

 Build America bonds subsidy  15,172,365  -    -    15,172,365  
 Purchases of capital assets   (212,304,666)  (49,333,490) -     (261,638,156) 
 Principal paid on LTD  (4,355,000) -    -     (4,355,000) 
 Interest paid on LTD   (49,701,198)  (3,968,698) -     (53,669,896) 
 Donated funds  122,767,929  4,730,024  -    127,497,953  
 Other  252,560  -    -    252,560  

 Total Capital Financing   (128,168,010)  (48,572,164) -     (176,740,174)      
 Investing      

 Interest income received  23,262,376  3,010,895  -    26,273,271  
 Distributions from joint ventures   (21,249,007) -    -     (21,249,007) 
 Proceeds from sales and maturities of investments  -    2,405,691  -    2,405,691  
 Purchase of investments  -     (1,708,969) -     (1,708,969) 
 Change in restricted cash   (3,867,642)  (18,183,833) -     (22,051,475) 
 Other non-operating revenues, net   (11,187,370) 1,531,605  -     (9,655,765) 

 Total Investing   (13,041,643)  (12,944,611) -     (25,986,254)      
 Net Change in Cash  104,169,119  18,999,374  -    123,168,493  
 June 30, 2018  681,862,171  141,549,276  -    823,411,447  
 June 30, 2019  $  786,031,290  $  160,548,650  $                       -    $  946,579,940       

     
 Non-cash Items      

 Payables for property and equipment  $     17,253,262  $          266,906  $                       -    $    17,520,168  
 Amortization of bond premium  167,832  537,336  -    705,168  
 Change in FV of interest rate swap agreement   (1,884,883) -    -     (1,884,883) 
 Beneficial interests in irrevocable split-interest 

agreements  -      14,793,061  -    14,793,061  
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ 
Program or Cluster Title Program Name 

 
Grant Number/ 
Agency or Pass 

Through 
Number 

Federal 
CFDA 

Number 
Federal 

Expenditures 

Passed to 
Sub-

Recipients 
Research and Development Cluster 

 
    

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: 
 

    
  National Institutes of Health 

 
    

 

    
Assessment of outcomes and cost-effectiveness in early orthodontic 
treatment K23DE023824 93 .121  $117,376  $                  -    

 
    

Impact of self-association on structure and function of apolipoprotein A-I R01HL113059 93.837 -73,237 -    

 
    

The Role of Phosphatidylinositides in Lipid Metabolism R01HL139902 93.837 779,857 -    

 
    

Bay Area CHORI/UCSF Summer Research Program R25HL125451 93.837 125,254 -    

 
    

Functional Dissection of the 19p13.11 Haplotype R56HL132088 93.837  (134,255 ) -    

 

    
SC-Links - Linking the Sickle Cell Community, Providers and Systems to 
Improve Sickle Cell Disease Care U01HL134007 93.839 739,276 19,463 

 

    
Displace: Dissemination and Implementation of Stroke Prevention Looking 
at the Care Environment R01HL133896 93.839 11,564                             

-    

 
    

The pregnancy transcriptome in rheumatoid arthritis R01AR073111 93.846 465,393 38,693 

 

    
Endogenous and Dietary Sphingolipids as Modulator of inflammatory Bowel 
Disease R01DK115669 93.847 319,008                             

-    

 

    
Multigenerational epigenetic programming induced by paternal obesity and 
prediabetes R01DK111035 93.847 854,246                             

-    

 

    

Meningococcal serogroup B vaccine to prevent invasive disease and carriage R01AI046464 93.855 553,165                             
-    

 

    
Multiplex diagnostic for biotreat c. psittaci & non-threat respiratory 
pathogens R01AI098843 93.855 385,835 3,008 

 
    

Mechanisms mediating HCMV genome maintenance during  latency R01AI099372 93.855 148,608 -    

 

    
The Effect of binding of fH to meningococcal fHbp vaccine on antibody 
protection R01AI114701 93.855 856,960 387,457 

 

    
Cytomegalovirus tropisms for oral cells: key to a vaccine to prevent maternal 
infection R01AI128912 93.855 453,220 107,398 

 

    
Improved protein-based meningococcal serogroup B vaccines Meningococcal 
B Vaccines R01AI134868 93.855 374,183                             

-    

 
    

The impact of concurrent food insecurity and obesity in children K23HD075852 93.865 38,197 -    

 

    
Integrated Exchange & Storage of Current and Future-Generation 
Immunogenomic Data R01GM109030 93.859 -3,875                             

-    

 
    

Pharmacogenomics of Statin Therapy P50GM115318 93.859 3,451,794 1,579,989 
        Subtotal National Institutes of Health      9,462,567  2,136,007  

 
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Characterizing the Complications Associated with Therapeutic Blood 

Transfusions for hemoglobinopathies NU58DD006093 
         

93.184  
                  

66,470  
                            

-    
      Subtotal U.S. Department of Health and Human Services      9,529,038  2,136,007  
U.S. Department of Justice Validation of a Probe Capture Next-Generation Sequencing Assay for Whole 

Mitochondrial Genome Analysis 
2015-DN-BX-
K053  16.560  

                
189,809  

                            
-    

    Subtotal direct programs         9,718,847    2,136,007  
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ 
Program or Cluster Title Program Name 

 
Grant Number/ 
Agency or Pass 

Through 
Number 

Federal 
CFDA 

Number 
Federal 

Expenditures 

Passed to 
Sub-

Recipients 
Pass-through programs from:  
The Regents of the University of California, San Francisco     
 IMPLEmenting Measures NeTwork for Child Health (IMPLEMENT for Child 

Health) U18HS025297 93.226 $     46,608 $                   -   

 Drug Use and HIV/STI Risk Trajectories in Court-Involved, Non-
Incarcerated Youth R01DA034538 93.279 94,720 - 

 Integrated Exchange and Storage of Current and Future-Generation 
Immunogenomic Data R01AI128775 93.855 212,523 - 

 Antenatal Corticosteroids, Maternal Depression and Preterm Infant Stress 
Response R01HD081188 93.865 4,204 - 

     Subtotal The Regents of the University of California, San Francisco     
Seattle Children's Hospital Accelerate cellular immunotherapy development for treatment of life-

threatening childhood disorders U01TR002487 
        

93.350  
                   

47,425  
                            

-    
Bay Area Tumor Institute NCORP Consortium Agreement  UG1CA189817 93.399        101,419                    -    
Propagenix HLS-Applying EpiXTM technology to enable ex vivo theratyping using nasal 

brushing samples from CF patients 1R43HL144177 
        

93.837  
                     

1,283   
University of Arizona CORE-ORBEX: Primary Prevention of Asthma and Wheezing in Children U01HL130045 93.838  14,034  -    
University of South Florida The Environmental Determinants of Diabetes in the Young (TEDDY) Study UC4DK112243 93.847  40,912  -    
Nascent Devices, LLC Biomagnetic Liver Susceptometry based on Piezoelectric Magnetic Sensors R43DK111244 93.847  8,820  -    
Los Angeles Biomedical Research Institute Longitudinal Study of Bone and Endocrine Disease in Children with MPS I, 

II and IV U54NS065768 
        

93.853  
                 

(17,674) 
                            

-    
Diassess Inc. Low-Cost Instrument-fee Point-of-Care Diagnostic for Neisseria 

gonorrhoeae R44AI129031  93.855  119,256  -    
 Low-cost instrument-free point-of-care platform for multiplexed chlamydia 

diagnostics R44AI114068 93.855  188,338  -    
      Subtotal Diassess Inc.    307,594         

Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center Hematopoietic Stem Cell and Cord Blood Transplantation U01AI69197 93.855  8,774  -    
Omvax, Inc.   A Universal Vaccine for the prevention of menigococal menigitis in Africa R41AI124759 93.855   (1,441) -    
The Regents of the University of California, Davis Validation of decision rules for CT use in children with abdominal or head 

trauma R01HD084674 
        

93.865  
                 

162,713  
                            

-    
    Subtotal pass-through programs       1,031,912  -    
  Total Research and Development Cluster        10,750,759  2,136,007  
Maternal and Child Health Federal Consolidated Programs     
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: 

 
    

 
Health Resources and Services 
Administration 

Thalassemia 
U1AMC28548 93.110  191,294  5  

Pass-through programs from: 
 

    
The Center for Comprehensive Care & Diagnosis 
of Inherited Blood Disorders  

Hemophilia Treatment Centers (SPRANS) 
H30MC24045  93.110  $        179,331  $                  -    

  Total Maternal and Child Health Federal Consolidated Programs      370,625  5  
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 
 

 

 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor/ 
Program or Cluster Title Program Name 

 
Grant Number/ 
Agency or Pass 

Through 
Number 

Federal 
CFDA 

Number 
Federal 

Expenditures 

Passed to 
Sub-

Recipients 
Health Center Program Cluster 
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: 

 
    

 
Health Resources and Services 
Administration  

Health Center Program Cluster 
H80CS00052 93.224    1,422,387                   -    

  Total Health Center Program Cluster      1,422,387  -    
Other Federal Programs 

 
    

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services: 
 

    
 Health Resources and Services Administration     

 

    
Ryan White Title IV, Infants, Children, Youth and affected Family Members 
AIDS Healthcare H12HA24777 

         
93.153  

              
1,074,171    757,430  

 
    

Primary Care Training and Enhancement T0BHP29990 93.884  331,581  -    
        Subtotal Health Resources and Services Administration      1,405,752  757,430  
      Subtotal U.S. Department of Health and Human Services      1,405,752  757,430  
    Subtotal Direct Programs       1,405,752  757,430  
Pass-through programs from: 

 
    

Alameda County 
 

    
 

    
HIV Emergency relief Project Grants - Mental Health Therapy/Counseling PHG08HA60200 93.914  197,104  -    

        Subtotal Alameda County       197,104  -    
State of California – CalOES Child Abuse Treatment Program AT16021500 16.575  331,650  -    
The Center for Comprehensive Care & Diagnosis of Inherited Blood Disorders     
 

    
Community Counts: Public Health Surveillance for Bleeding Disorders U27DD001155  93.080  11,758  -    

 
    

Sickle Cell Treatment Demonstration Program U1EMC27862  93.365  42,539  -    
        Subtotal Center for Comprehensive Care & Diagnosis of Inherited Blood Disorders     54,297  -    
    Subtotal pass-through programs       583,051  -    
  Total Other Federal Programs       1,988,803  757,430  
Total Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards       $  14,532,575  $  2,893,442  
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards and Consolidating 
Financial Statements of CHRCO and UCSF Medical Center 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 

 
1. Basis of Presentation 

 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the Schedule) has been prepared 
on the accrual basis of accounting and the schedule includes the federal grant activity of Children’s 
Hospital & Research Center Oakland (CHRCO) under programs of the federal government for the 
year ended June 30, 2019. The schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the 
Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Uniform Guidance. 

 
The accompanying Consolidating Financial Statements of CHRCO and UCSF Medical Center have 
been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. The accounting policies used in preparation of 
the consolidating financial statements are the same as those described beginning on page 68. 
Within the consolidating financial statements, CHRCO represents the balances of CHRCO and 
UCSF West Bay represents the University of San Francisco Medical Center (UCSF Medical Center) 
less the blended component of CHRCO. The eliminations column represents adjustments that are 
necessary to remove the impact of any transactions between UCSF Medical Center and CHRCO in 
order for the consolidated balances and transactions to be appropriately reflected. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
Expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in 2 CFR Part 230 , Cost 
Principles for Non-profit Organizations, and Title 45 Appendix IX to Part 75, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for HHS Awards, or 
Uniform Guidance, as applicable, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are 
limited as to reimbursement. Pass-through entity identifying numbers are presented where 
available. 
 

3. Indirect Costs 
 
CHRCO has an indirect cost rate agreement on grants and contracts with the Federal Government 
(DHHS Cost Allocation Services, 12/6/17). Therefore, the 10% de minimis rate per §200.414 of the 
Uniform Guidance does not apply. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Three Embarcadero Center #20, San Francisco, CA  94111 
T: (415) 498-5000, F: (415) 498-7100, www.pwc.com/us 
 

 
Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 

 
 
To the Regents of the University of California 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,  
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the University of 
California, San Francisco Medical Center (“UCSF Medical Center”), which comprise the statement of net 
position as of June 30, 2019, and the related individual statements of revenues, expenses and changes in 
net position and of cash flows for the year then ended, which comprise the basic financial statements of 
each of UCSF Medical Center, and have issued our report thereon dated October 8, 2019, which included 
an emphasis of matter paragraph pertaining to changes in accounting for certain asset retirement 
obligations in 2019, as discussed in Note 1.  
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered UCSF Medical Center's 
internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of UCSF Medical Center's internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of UCSF Medical Center's internal 
control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the entity's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 
significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe 
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may 
exist that have not been identified. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify a certain 
deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
as item 2019-001 that we consider to be a significant deficiency. 
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Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether UCSF Medical Center's financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material 
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance 
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an 
opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are 
required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.   
 
UCSF Medical Center's Response to Findings 
 
UCSF Medical Center's response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying 
Corrective Action Plan. UCSF Medical Center's response was not subjected to the auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
 
 
 
 
San Francisco, California 
October 8, 2019 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Three Embarcadero Center #20, San Francisco, CA  94111 
T: (415) 498-5000, F: (415) 498-7100, www.pwc.com/us 
 

Report of Independent Auditors on Compliance with Requirements 
That Could Have a Direct and Material Effect on Each Major Program and on Internal 

Control Over Compliance in Accordance with the Uniform Guidance 
 
 
To the Regents of the University of California 
 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
We have audited Children’s Hospital & Research Center at Oakland’s ( the “Organization”) compliance 
with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement that could have 
a direct and material effect on each of the Organization’s major federal programs for the year ended June 
30, 2019. The Organization’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor's results 
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  
 
Management’s Responsibility 
 
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and the terms and conditions 
of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.   
 
Auditors’ Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of the Organization’s major federal 
programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our 
audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance 
with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on 
a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about the 
Organization’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances.   
 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal 
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the Organization’s compliance. 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 
In our opinion, the Organization complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal 
programs for the year ended June 30, 2019.  
 
Other Matters 
 
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance, which is required to be  
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reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which is described in the accompanying schedule 
of findings and questioned costs as item 2019-002. Our opinion on each major federal program is not 
modified with respect to these matters.   
 
The Organization’s response to the noncompliance finding identified in our audit is described in the 
accompanying corrective action plan.  The Organization’s response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
Management of the Organization is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control 
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing 
our audit of compliance, we considered the Organization’s internal control over compliance with the types 
of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine 
the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance 
in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organization’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a 
federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in 
internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material 
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged 
with governance.    
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first 
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over 
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, 
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing 
of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
San Francisco, CA 
February 14, 2020 
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 

 
Part III Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

 
 

Part I- Summary of Auditor’s Results 

Financial Statements 

Type of auditor’s report issued ..............................................................................Unmodified opinion 
 

Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material    weakness    identified?................................................................................................................... No 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not considered 
to be material weaknesses? ......................................................................................................................Yes 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?............................................................................... No 
 

Federal Awards 
 

Internal control over major programs: 

Material weakness(es) identified? ........................................................................................................... No 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified not 
considered to be material weaknesses? ................................................................................ None reported 

Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs: ............................................. Unmodified 

opinion 

Any Audit findings required to be reported under 
Uniform Guidance 200.516(a)? ..................................................................................................................... Yes 

 
Identification of Major Programs: 

 
CFDA Number Program Name 

Various Research and Development Cluster 
93.914 HIV Emergency relief Project Grants – Mental 

Health Therapy and Counseling 
 

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between 
Type A and Type B programs:.............................................................................................................. $750,000 

 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?............................................................................................................. No 
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 

 
Part II Financial Statement Findings 
 
Finding 2019-001: IT General Controls for Retirement System (Significant Deficiency) 
 
Criteria: 
As part of our audit, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit, 
which includes the end to end process around key financial reporting cycles and evidence the 
implementation of relevant controls and the related IT dependencies.  (AU-C section 315)  
 
Condition: 
In March 2019, a new retirement system was implemented that replaced the legacy system. The University 
outsources to a third-party vendor the following IT responsibilities over the new retirement system:  
- Provisioning/revoking database level access including database administrator privileged access; 
- Developing changes, testing changes and migrating changes into production as well as ensuring 
separation of duties between developers and migrators, and  
- Restricting access to the job scheduler used to run the new retirement system jobs. 
 
The vendor does not have an AICPA Systems & Organization Controls report over the design and operating 
effectiveness of internal controls (SOC 1 Type 2 report). The vendor also does not have any 
formalized/written policies and procedures related to the aforementioned IT controls. The result is the 
absence of key IT controls in Change Management, Access to Programs & Data, and Computer Operations 
at the University.  
 
The retirement system related to this finding does not cover any employees within Children’s Hospital & 
Research Center at Oakland (the “Hospital”).  However, the University of California Medical Center 
Financial Statements are included within this report, in which the retirement system did relate to.  Given 
the retirement system and Hospital employees are not integrated, there is no impact to the Federal awards 
related to the Hospital. 
 
Cause: 
While the University has in place processes over those IT activities within its control, the University relies 
on the outsourced vendor for the aforementioned execution of key IT general controls, and did not do any 
monitoring of the controls.  They did not realize additional monitoring was required given the nature of the 
relationship, including inquiring about the availability of a SOC1. 
 
Effect: 
The absence of key IT controls over the making and migrating changes, granting/revoking database level 
access, and restricting access to the job scheduler results in no IT controls over on the ongoing validity, 
completeness, or accuracy of the data processed in the retirement system or in the reports generated from 
the retirement system.  
 
Additionally, as this does not impact any employees within the Hospital, this does not have any effect on 
the Federal awards related to the Hospital.  
 
Recommendation: 
The University should undertake actions to have the aforementioned missing IT general controls related to 
the retirement system designed and implemented during the 2020 fiscal year. 
 
Management’s Views and Corrective Action Plan: 
Management’s response is reported in “Corrective Action Plans” included at the end of this report. 

137



Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

 

 
Part III Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 

 
2019-002 Eligibility 
Program: HIV Emergency Relief Project Grants 
CFDA Title: HIV Emergency Relief Project Grants  
CFDA Number: 93.914 
Sponsoring Agency: Department of Health and Human Services 
Award Year: 2018 - 2019  
 
Condition:  
 
In testing the Organization’s conformity with the compliance requirements around individual eligibility of 
patients to receive HIV healthcare under the award, we found 2 of our 6 selections out of a population of 40 
did not have proper document retention for the period in order to validate the patients were appropriately 
eligible to receive treatment.   
 
Citation:  
 
2 CFR 200.333 
 
Criteria:  
 
Financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, and all other non-Federal entity records 
pertinent to a Federal award must be retained for a period of three years from the date of submission of the 
final expenditure report or, for Federal awards that are renewed quarterly or annually, from the date of the 
submission of the quarterly or annual financial report, respectively, as reported to the Federal awarding 
agency or pass-through entity in the case of a subrecipient. 
 
Questioned Costs: None 
 
Cause:  
Approximately every six months, the clinic which obtains the eligibility documents and treats patients has a 
site visit by the Alameda County Public Health Office for eligibility.  Once the clinic has passed this 
inspection, they purge all documents in which were viewed, regardless of how long the patient has been 
under care, causing some patient information to not be retained for our audit period.   
 
Effect:  
The Organization was unable to provide all required documentation to validate the patients should be 
receiving treatment.  
 
Recommendation:  
Management should implement a procedure in each affected clinic to ensure compliance with the 
institutional policy which requires all programs associated with Federal awards retain all required 
documentation for a minimum of three years from the time period required as noted above. 
 
Management’s Views and Corrective Action Plan:  
Management’s response is reported in “Corrective Action Plans” included at the end of this report. 
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Summary Schedule of Status of Prior Audit Findings 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

Prior Audit Findings 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Number Description Status 

 
2018-001 

 
Federal Program – Hemophilia Treatment Centers and Health 
Center Program Cluster – CFDA 93.110 and 93.224 

 
Federal Agency - U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 

 
Pass-Through Entity - – Not applicable  

Federal Award Years- Various 

Procurement  

Condition: PwC selected a sample of 7 procurements in excess of 
the micro-purchase threshold of $10,000: 6 from CFDA 93.110, and 
1 from CFDA 93.224. All 7 transactions did not evidence of 
documentation of a sole source procurement, nor any evidence of 
review for suspension and debarment. 

Management’s 
Response and 
Corrective Action 
Plan is included at 
the end of this 
report after the 
Summary Schedule 
of Status of Prior 
Audit Findings. 

 
2018-002 

 
Federal Program – Health Center Program Cluster, Special 
Start Program – Medi-Cal Targeted Case Management and CHO 
Development Center DDC HRIF - – CFDA 93.224 and 93.778 

 
Federal Agency - U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 

 
Pass-Through Entity - Not applicable  

Federal Award Years- Various 

Reporting  

Condition: PwC selected a sample of 2 financial reports for 
testing: one from each CFDA 93.224 and 93.778. Of the 2 reports 
tested, the reports contained the expenditures reported were 
understated.  

Management’s 
Response and 
Corrective Action 
Plan is included at 
the end of this 
report after the 
Summary Schedule 
of Status of Prior 
Audit Findings. 

 
2018-003 

 
Federal Program – All Awards 

 
Federal Agency - Various 

 
Pass-Through Entity - Various 

 
Federal Award Years- Various 

 
Uniform Guidance Report Submission  

 
Condition: The audit was not completed and the data collection 
form and report package submitted within nine months after the 
end of the audit period. 
 

Management’s 
Response and 
Corrective Action 
Plan is included at 
the end of this 
report after the 
Summary Schedule 
of Status of Prior 
Audit Findings. 
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UCSF Benioff  
Children's Hospital-SF 
1975 4th Street, Box 4017   
San Francisco, CA 94143 
 
UCSF Benioff  
Children's Hospital-Oakland 
747 52nd Street 
Oakland, CA  94609 
 

 

February 14, 2020 

Status of Corrective Action Plan Related to Findings 
in PWC Audit Under OMB Guidance of UCSF Benioff 

Children’s Hospital Oakland for Year Ended June 30, 
2019 

This letter describes the corrective action plans 
by Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
(CHRCO) related to two findings issued by PwC in 
connection with its FY19 audit of CHRCO. The audit 
focused on CHRCO's compliance with the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance for the year ended June 30, 2019. 
The audit identified the following deficiencies: 2019-
001 - IT General Controls for Retirement System 
(Significant Deficiency), and 2019-002 – Eligibility. 
We describe the status of the planned corrective 
actions with respect to each deficiency, in turn, 
below. 

2019-001 – IT General Controls for Retirement System 
(Significant Deficiency) 

The University was aware of these issues and 
brought them to the attention of the external 
auditors. Additionally, activities to correct the 
finding above are already underway as follows: 

Description of Corrective Actions:  

1) Access to the system is approved by the 
University, and changes to the system follow 
the software development life cycle with 
involvement and approvals by the University 
before a change is made to the production 
system. The vendor has agreed to obtain a SOC 1 
Type 2 report during the current fiscal year. 
As a compensating control for the period 
outside of the SOC 1 Type 2 report period, the 
University will perform periodic access reviews 
and periodic release reviews. These periodic 
reviews will include checking changes made by 
users having production write access for data 
fixes and for code changes to verify that the 
changes released to production were approved by 
University. 
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February 14, 2020 
Corrective Action Plan Related to Findings in PWC Audit in Accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance of Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland for the Year 
Ended June 30, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 
 

2) Responsible Executive: Joao Pires, University of 
California, Office of the President, Director, Costing 
Policy and Analysis, 510-987-9844, joao.pires@ucop.edu 

3) Timeline for Completion. All activities will be concluded 
by July 31, 2020.  

2019-002 Eligibility 

CHRCO plans to strengthen the effectiveness of its controls 
in accordance with PWC’s recommendations through the following 
corrective action: 

1) Description of Corrective Actions:  CHRCO will identify 
all clinics with eligibility requirements and work with 
the clinic department heads to develop a clinic procedure 
to implement SAAM Policies 30.01 – 30.04 related to 
document retention. Once the procedure is developed, the 
clinic department head will train all clinic staff to 
ensure compliance with the retention policy.  

2) Responsible Executive: MC Gaisbauer, Business and 
Integration Manager 

3) Timeline for Completion. All activities will be concluded 
by June 2020.  

 

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

Mary Catherine “MC” Gaisbauer Raju Iyer 

Business and Integration Manager Chief Financial Officer 
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UCSF Benioff  
Children's Hospital-SF 
1975 4th Street, Box 4017   
San Francisco, CA 94143 
 
UCSF Benioff  
Children's Hospital-Oakland 
747 52nd Street 
Oakland, CA  94609 
 

 

January 8, 2020 

Status of Corrective Action Plan Related to Findings 
in PWC Audit Under OMB Guidance of UCSF Benioff 

Children’s Hospital Oakland for Year Ended June 30, 
2018 

This letter describes the corrective action plans 
by Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
(CHRCO) related to three findings issued by PwC in 
connection with its FY18 audit of CHRCO. The audit 
focused on CHRCO's compliance with the requirements of 
the Uniform Guidance for the year ended June 30, 2018. 
The audit identified the following deficiencies: 2018-
001 -Procurement, 2018-002 – Reporting, and 2018- 003 
– Uniform Guidance Report Submission. We describe the 
status of the planned corrective actions with respect 
to each deficiency, in turn, below. 

#2018-001 - Procurement 

This is a repeat of finding 2017-005. 

CHRCO plans to strengthen the effectiveness of its 
controls in accordance with PWC’s recommendations 
through the following corrective action: 

1) Description of Corrective Actions: Our previous 
corrective action plan trained the Procurement 
staff and specific departments on a cases-by-
case basis and had not yet completed training 
all departments which is why this is a repeat 
finding. We will continue the training program 
to ensure all departments conducting research 
are trained on the CHRCO SAAM policy #150 
series to ensure compliance. 

2) Responsible Executive: MC Gaisbauer, Business 
and Integration Manager, 510-450-7602, 
mc.gaisbauer@ucsf.edu 

3) Timeline for Completion. All activities were 
concluded in September 2019.  
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January 8, 2020 
Corrective Action Plan Related to Findings in PWC Audit in Accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance of Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland for the Year 
Ended June 30, 2018 
Page 2 of 3 
 
#2018-002 - Reporting 

CHRCO plans to strengthen the effectiveness of its controls 
in accordance with PWC’s recommendations through the following 
corrective actions: 

1) Description of Corrective Actions: Management resolved 
the payroll system’s cost allocation process in June 2018. 
Management made manual corrections to the internal 
financial report and SEFA by December 2018 to ensure 
accurate internal financial monitoring and SEFA reporting. 
Management will be reopening FY2018 to record these 
manual adjustments in its financial system prior to the 
June 2019 close. Management is in the process of refiling 
all affected financial reports. Management has 
strengthened its processes to ensure the financial 
signatory on the financial reports is accountable for 
accurate reporting. In addition, CHRCO will be conducting 
training for its award management staff to reemphasize 
the importance of accurate and timely financial reporting, 
including the escalation of potential incorrect reporting. 
All refiles will be made by July 2019.  

2) 2) Responsible Executive: MC Gaisbauer, Business and 
Integration Manager, 510-450-7602, mc.gaisbauer@ucsf.edu 

3) 3) Timeline for Completion. All activities were concluded 
in August 2019.  

#2018-003 - Uniform Guidance Report Submission  

CHRCO plans to strengthen controls, policies and procedures 
in accordance with PWC’s recommendations through the following 
corrective actions: 

4) Description of Corrective Actions: Management resolved 
the payroll system’s cost allocation process in June 2018 
and additional remediation as detailed in #2018-002 above. 
By June 2019, management will finalize a checklist to 
ensure fiscal year close activities are appropriately 
planned and scheduled to ensure accurate and timely 
financial records that is compliant with the 
consolidating financial reporting entity closing schedule 
for the fiscal year. Management is evaluating the 
necessary staffing and processes to support a timely 
audit. Staff are being reassigned and/or hired to ensure 
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January 8, 2020 
Corrective Action Plan Related to Findings in PWC Audit in Accordance with the 
Uniform Guidance of Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland for the Year 
Ended June 30, 2018 
Page 3 of 3 
 

the audit is adequately supported by skilled and 
available staff. Clear lines of responsibility and 
oversight will established with the team and the CGA 
Assistant Controller, and the CGA Assistant Controller 
and senior leadership. Management is in discussions with 
the auditors to build a responsible but practical audit 
plan based on the availability of all parties. Management 
will ensure the fiscal year 2019 audit will be filed 
timely.  

5) Responsible Executive: Robert Fries, Chief Financial 
Officer, 510-428-3093, robert.fries@ucsf.edu 

6) Timeline for Completion. All activities will be concluded 
as planned and the current year report will be filed 
timely in February 2020.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

 

 

Mary Catherine “MC” Gaisbauer Raju Iyer 

Business and Integration Manager Chief Financial Officer 
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Children’s Hospital & Research Center Oakland 
Schedule of Expenses for County of Alameda FY 18/19- Master 
Contract 900159- Procurement Contract 16472- EPSDT 
Year Ended June 30, 2019 

 

Program Name  BERT   CVC  
 

McClymonds  
 

Castlemont   DOP   CARE ECMH  
 Psychol 

Svcs   DBP   ADMIN   Total  

Contract Number  RU# 0151  
 RU# 01JV1-3,  

01N91   RU# 01JT1   RU# 01JU1   RU# 01N81   RU# 01CH1   RU# 01CG1   RU# 01N52    N/A   

Exhibit Number  B-1   B-1   B-1   B-1   B-1   B-1   B-1   B-1    N/A   

Contract Period  07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to   07/01/18 to  

  06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19   06/30/19  

Contract Amount  $      641,336          3,022,236              414,570           818,570        2,282,287             2,159,661          1,912,106                    -                     -     $ 11,250,766  

           

Direct Expenses 
for the 12-
month period  
July 1, 2018 to 
June 30, 2019  $      435,398          2,017,885              221,340           544,674           779,330             1,281,785          1,048,841                  324         411,443   $   6,741,020  

Fringe benefits          174,763             775,151                82,793           191,697           292,381                490,487             396,792                    -           154,296        2,558,360  
Contractual 
services            18,480                    315                  9,758             (3,881)          289,903                    4,816                    567         (175,202)            6,686           151,442  

Rent, utilities, 
maintenance              4,213               11,121                        -                       -               29,489                  58,978               14,155                    -                     -             117,956  
Telephone, 
postage                    -                   6,263                        -                       -                      -                            -                         -                      -                     -                 6,263  

Supplies                  844                 1,794                  1,692               1,560               4,942                    2,881                 3,779                    -                  (76)            17,416  

Travel                 138               66,467                     486                  627                    76                  27,830                 9,269                    -                     -             104,893  

Minor equipment                    -                        -                          -                       -                 2,609                          -                         -                      -                     -                 2,609  

Shared Direct 
Expenses            32,626             153,747                21,091             41,642           116,105                109,866               97,272                    -         (572,349)                    -    
Total Direct 
Expenses  $      666,462          3,032,743              337,160           776,319        1,514,835             1,976,643          1,570,675         (174,878)                  -     $   9,699,959  
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